M 2B S BRERAT

CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED

Stock Code BRA1RER : 978

2022
ANNUAL REPORT

FEHRSE



CONTENTS B %

12

24

53

61

81

109

292

CORPORATE INFORMATION

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
117  Consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income
118 Consolidated statement of financial position
120 Consolidated statement of changes in equity
122 Consolidated statement of cash flows
125 Notes to the consolidated financial statements

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

REEH

B
EENEREEAEREE
EEENWR DT
REBRRKRER
EEgWRE

REREEMBERE

GEABERHEMEE

3 %
mERBRRE
GABR2BR
HERSRBR
REMEREME

FEPBERE



CORPORATE INFORMATION
2~ E &

DIRECTORS

Non-executive Directors

Mr. XU Yongjun (Chairman)

Mr. HUANG Junlong

Ms. LIU Ning (resigned on 3 Feb 2023)

Mr. YU Zhiliang (re-designated on 3 Feb 2023)

Executive Directors

Dr. SO Shu Fai
Mr. WONG King Yuen
Ms. CHEN Yan (appointed on 3 Feb 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert
Ms. CHEN Yanping

Dr. SHI Xinping

Mr. HE Qi

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman)
Mr. YU Zhiliang (re-designated on 3 Feb 2023)
Dr. SHI Xinping

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. XU Yongjun (Chairman)
Ms. CHEN Yanping
Dr. SHI Xinping

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Ms. CHEN Yanping (Chairman)
Mr. HUANG Junlong
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Ng Ho

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

REGISTERED OFFICE

P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman,

KY1-1104,

Cayman Islands

2 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2022

£

FEHITES

HFKBRE(EE)

EHBR &L

2242+ (FA20234%2 A3B BHE)
FER A (R2023F2 A3E HEET)

HITES

RIS L

ERIRLE

PR R 20+ (7A20234E2 A3 EE ()

BYFMITES
EoxiEB L
BRECE L L
SLHEFE L
A4

EREER

ToxEEE(EE)

FER A (R2023F2 A3 EET)
SHFEL

REZES
HKE (LR
S 3
LHFHL

FNEES
RS R (ER)
ks
TS

NEME

g « BAEIR GHANTT
MR 25 B RS R BLED

AMREE

P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman,

KY1-1104,

Cayman Islands



HEAD OFFICE AND
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

Room 2603 to 2606, 26/F

China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre
Nos. 168-200 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of China Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
China Construction Bank Corporation

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd.

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

DBS Bank Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.

Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRARS AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Suntera (Cayman) Limited
Suite 3204, Unit 2A, Block 3,
Building D, P.O. Box 1586,
Gardenia Court, Camana Bay,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1100,
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Tengis Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

SOLICITORS
Jun He Law Offices

WEBSITE
http://ir.cmland.hk

STOCK CODE
978

BMEERTES MR

BB

T8 H 168-2005%
EEPLHEERAE
261£2603-2606%

EERIERIT
PEEERITRODAR AR
PEISRTT(FE)BR AR
RERTTIRDBER R A
ZBIRTTIRM AR AR
BRI AR AR %%%ﬁ
PEZRRITROERA
PEER fEﬂ(EE/)H)Hx{ﬁﬁﬁE
PEOERRITRMOERA
BERITRND AR AR
ERRITERAF

B TERT (SN BR AR
TETERITRNERAF

B RITRM AR AR
EEBERERRITRNDABERAF

TERDBFRERTRRE

Suntera (Cayman) Limited
Suite 3204, Unit 2A, Block 3,
Building D, P.O. Box 1586,
Gardenia Court, Camana Bay,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1100,
Cayman Islands

BERDBERETTE

BEEERARAR
a5

BRIE 165
RES A OTIE
£
BEAEMMEBAT

4 4t
http://ir.cmland.hk
PRAD L SR

978

“ECFER BEREMARAR



COMMITTED TO CREATING BETTER LIFE
EiF £ R EE A




Each city is full of energy and ali
growing, buzzing with activity like a hive.

La dolce vita, we shall be thy source,

and nourish industry with bountiful resource. LA B 3R 3

Our diversified products reduce everyday strife, NZTERBNDELG

our innovative services boost quality of life. LA Bl 37 AR 7% BR &) 15 %2 -

When we achieve infinite fusion of people and city, B gh A B2 Uk TR oA & PR AT R -
then drink we all from the fountain of joy and prosperity. HE-—REE  -FEFEHRER -




CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
TREBE

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the annual results of China Merchants
Land Limited (“we”, "our” or the “"Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 2022.

RESULTS OVERVIEW

In 2022, the Group reported operating revenue of RMB29,871
million, profit attributable to owners of the Company approximately
RMB330 million and profit attributable to shareholders of RMB0.067
per share. The Board of Directors of the Company resolved to
declare a final dividend of HK$0.03 per share with a payout ratio of
approximately 40%, which is in line with previous years.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2022, China’'s economy faced triple pressure of demand
contraction, supply shock and weakening expectations, but
achieved steady progress with a balanced balance of epidemic
prevention and control and economic and social development. The
annual gross domestic product (GDP) reached RMB 121 trillion, up
3.0% year-on-year, demonstrating strong resilience.

Continuing the downward trend since the second half of 2021,
China’s real estate market in 2022 showed a continued favorable
policy but sluggish market. In 2022, the sales of commercial
properties nationwide amounted to RMB13.33 trillion and the
sales area of commercial properties reached 1.358 billion square
meters, down 26.7% and 24.3% respectively year-on-year. Overall,
homebuyers’ wait-and-see sentiment remains strong, and the
market still needs time to recover.

In the unprecedented winter of the industry, we have been striving

hard to drive the Group to seek new and steady progress amidst
changes.
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DEVELOPMENT BUSINESS

In recent years, the Group has maintained its strategic stability
and focused on investments to stabilize the fundamentals of its
development business. In 2022, the Group together with its joint
venture companies achieved sales amount of RMB47.86 billion and
sales area of 1.93 million square meters. Thanks to the strategy of
regional focus and deep city cultivation, the Group’s market share
in Nanjing remained stable at over 6% and its market share in Xi'an
exceeded 6% for the first time, with the sales amount of a single
city in both cities exceeding RMB10 billion. The Group continued
to improve product quality and enhance service quality. During the
year, by creating a high-quality product program, strengthening
refined construction management and implementing lean
delivery management, the quality of products and services was
greatly enhanced and customer satisfaction reached benchmark
levels, thus building a solid foundation for the construction of the
Company’s brand of excellence. The Group's project Xi'an Xu
was selected as one of the top ten high-end works of the year by

CRIC (52 ).

In 2022, the Group acquired two new pieces of land over which
it has significant control, with a total capacity of approximately
420,000 square meters and an equity area of approximately 410,000
square meters, at a total land premium of approximately RMB4.3
billion. The Group made new breakthroughs in Hong Kong,
participating in consortia that won two projects in Hong Kong,
namely To Kwa Wan URA and Pak Shing Kok, Tseung Kwan O,
respectively during the year, while Villa Garda, Phase 11 of LOHAS
Park, which the Group participated in the development of, was hot
selling in the city, laying a solid foundation for our future business
development in Hong Kong.

ASSET MANAGEMENT AND OPERATION

In 2022, the Group’'s CM+ condominium hotels operated in
Hong Kong continued to perform brilliantly, with rental unit
prices approximately 94% higher than the territory-wide average
and RevPAR (average room revenue), an important indicator for
integrated occupancy and unit price consideration, approximately
58% higher than the market average. In addition to the economic
indicators, CM+ hotels have also taken up the social responsibility
and taken the initiative to undertake the task of quarantine hotels,
and have been awarded the first to seventh consecutive rounds of
designated quarantine hotel status by the Hong Kong government.
It was also awarded the “2022 Customer Review Award"” by Agoda,
one of the world’s largest booking platforms. The CM+ hotels was
recognized for both its prevention and operation.

BEE 3]

REBMERFFBEE S BERE  RBEMEE
BEAE - —T-—F AEEFEBESEARER
HEDRA786ET BRHEEMBI1BEFTK - 5
BRREFE  HHAMER  AEEEBROTE
KIBEAORAL » EAOLNTERBERREO%
MES MR BRI E SRR A E - N E T H e
EmEE  BARBEE  FRBBITEERTE
A TER - HITREXNER - AR
HTERERBOGRE  FEMEEERFENKE
RARRAEUmEHEREFER - AREHEAR
FAERMREE T AFERHERA R —H -

TECCF AEEMEHEEIEENEZ LW
ROMGAHBEHNRETK EmEEELNEF
K BIWEHARBIET - REBEEEEHEBE
BHRY - FADRSEVEHTEEELNETER
MEERABANEER - MASE2ERAENA D
BRI ESAEE 2 2WMAN - REMRKETED
EBBRITTREEM -

EEES

TECCF AEBEERBELHCM+ABAE
B EBHEBRY  HeEBEERDBTHKIEL
94% » FE NEX R EEEZ BHEZIEFRevPARCFE
HEERE) BN W5 FHKFEL58% o f£LHEIER
SN  CM+BEEEBBHE@EME - TEHREREDN
ERER  BEERNE —E2EtHETRENE
Bi% - HERGEBREBHKIBREBEERE
BHKQAA) B [FHHENERIBRE |ER  WESE
HK&EREIEF & 2 —#AgodafE " 2022 Customer
Review Award” B & M 4L & /M 75 EHIDESF B TE ©

T FFR BEREMBRAR 7



The listed REIT managed by the Group successfully completed
the acquisition of a Grade A commercial building in Beijing for
the first time since the listing of the REIT during the year, bringing
the management territory sprang out of the Greater Bay Area
Shenzhen and set foot in the capital city Beijing, with total assets
under management exceeding RMB10 billion and contributing
RMB30.457 million in annual asset management revenue, an
increase of 61% year-on-year.

FUNDING AND FINANCE

In 2022, through strict cost control, three main expenses (selling
expenses, administrative expenses and financing costs) decreased
by 4% against the trend of 15% growth in sales revenue. The
decrease in financing costs was mainly due to seizing of favourable
opportunities to replace bank borrowings between domestic and
overseas. The consolidated financing cost of bank and financial
institution borrowings for the year was 3.94%, down 0.68% from
the previous year, further highlighting the advantages of financing.
The Group's net debt ratio stood at 70% at the end of 2022, with
the “three red lines” remaining in the green bracket, and its sound
capital structure helped the Company to resist economic cycles.

PROSPECTS

At present, the world’s change of the century is accelerating,
geopolitical risks are fluctuating, and the spillover effects of
the rapid tightening of global monetary policy are persistently
emerging; China’s economic development is still under objective
pressure. The PRC government work report in 2023 set a GDP
growth target of around 5%, which is both pragmatic and prudent
and is expected to lead China’s economy to recover as soon
as possible. The report also specifies that the government will
continue to promote a new type of urbanization with people at the
core, develop city clusters and metropolitan areas in an orderly
manner, adopt city-specific policies, support rigid and improved
housing needs of new citizens and young people, and promote
the stable and healthy development of the real estate industry. It
is believed that with the continued strength of the industry relief
policy, the credit of real estate enterprises and real estate sales are
expected to improve, and the probability of rebound in real estate
sales will increase, which will drive the stabilization of real estate
investment and usher in considerable credit expansion.
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The Group will seize development opportunities, strengthen
deep urban cultivation and achieve excellence from the ground
up. Firstly, we will cut costs and strive to keep the level of three
main expenses (i.e. selling expenses, administrative expenses
and financing costs) below the industry benchmark, and strive for
management bonus. Secondly, the “people-oriented” concept
of operation, adhering to the origin of customer value, adhering
to quality development, promoting the spirit of craftsmanship,
and effectively improving the quality of products and services;
strengthening staff talent training, strengthening the foundation
of innovative talent, and creating growth opportunities for
outstanding employees. The third is to enhance digital application
empowerment, use digital innovation to assist online marketing,
public construction speed, etc., take multiple measures to
resolutely sell inventory, improve asset quality, ensure long-
term cash flow within the safe boundary, and seek to achieve
endogenous growth and high-quality healthy development.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Finally, on behalf of the Board of Directors of the Company, | would
like to express my most sincere gratitude to our shareholders,
customers and partners for their trust and support, and to all of our
employees for their hard work and dedication!

Xu Yongjun
Chairman
15 March 2023
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EENGREEAEBERERE

As at the date of this annual report, the Directors’ updated
information is set out below, save as disclosed below, there is no
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship
among the Directors. The change of directors’ information pursuant
to Rule 13.51B of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)
since the Company’s last published interim report is set out in the
section “Change of Information relating to Directors”:

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. XU Yongjun, aged 59, non-executive director of the Company,
the chairman of the Board and the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company appointed on 18 March 2016.

Mr. XU joined China Merchants Logistics Holdings Co., Ltd." since
May 2001 and held various positions as chief marketing director,
deputy general manager, executive deputy general manager
and general manager until January 2016. On 30 December 2015,
he was appointed as the director and general manager of China
Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. ("CMSK"),
an intermediate controlling shareholder of the Company, and is
currently being the chairman of the Board of CMSK.

From December 2019 to March 2021, he served as a director and
the chairman of the board of director of China Merchants Property
Operation & Service Co., Ltd.* (B BIEERE FE S RSN GIR
A7), a subsidiary of CMSK, the shares of which are listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1914.52).

Mr. XU graduated from Fuyang Normal University” in Anhui
province in July 1984. He graduated from Applied Chemistry
Department of Northwest Institute of Light Industry” (currently
renamed as Shaanxi University of Science & Technology’) with a
Master’s Degree in Engineering in November 1987.

Mr. HUANG Junlong, aged 57, non-executive director of the
Company and a member of the remuneration committee of the
Company appointed on 18 March 2016.

Mr. HUANG is currently the chief financial officer of CMSK.
He joined China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone" as deputy
supervisor of the finance department in 1988 and holds various
positions as deputy in charge of finance department of China
Merchants Group”’, chief financial officer of China Merchants
Logistics Group Co., Ltd.", chief financial officer of China Merchants
Port Service Co., Ltd", chief financial officer of Shenzhen China
Merchants Petrochemical Co., Ltd.” and the financial controller of
finance department of China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone™.

*  For identification purpose only
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He was appointed as a non-executive director and the chairman of
the Board of the REIT Manager of the China Merchants Commercial
Real Estate Investment Trust (“CMC REIT") (Stock Code: 1503),
which is listed on the Stock Exchange, since 11 July 2019.

In July 1988, Mr. HUANG graduated from Changsha Institute
of Communications” with a Bachelor’s Degree in Finance and
Accounting Profession. He graduated from China Europe
International Business School” with a Master of Business
Administration Degree in September 2008.

Mr. YU Zhiliang, aged 44, joined the Company as an executive
Director since 2 June 2012 and was re-designated as non-executive
Director on 3 February 2023. He served as a general manager of the
Company from the period of 18 August 2016 to 3 February 2023. He
was the Company’s Chief Financial Officer during the period from
29 June 2012 to 17 August 2016. Mr. YU has served as a director
of Champion Apex Limited since January 2013 and a director of
Harvest Allied Investments Limited since April 2013.

Mr. YU has served as the chief financial officer of China Merchants
Property (Xiamen) Co. Ltd." (B B ZE (EFI) B R 2 7)) and
Fujian Zhong Lian Sheng Estate Development Ltd.” (82 B %
B EFZEEGR Q1] since 2010. Mr. YU is a director of certain
major subsidiaries of the Company. He has been appointed
as a non-executive Director of the REIT Manager of the China
Merchants Commercial Real Estate Investment Trust (Stock
Code: 1503), which is listed on the Stock Exchange, since 11 July
2019. He currently serves as the Board Secretary of China Merchants
Shekou Industrial Zone Holdings Co., Ltd.* (BE Bt 0 TR
&R BBRAR]) (“CMSK") since 16 January 2023. Mr. Yu is also
a director of China Merchants Property Operation & Service Co.,
Ltd., the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 001914.S7).

He obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Accounting from Xiamen
University” (EP9KE) and a MBA Degree with a concentration in
finance from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. YU is an
accountant of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

*  For identification purpose only
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. SO Shu Fai, aged 71, executive Director and chairman of the
executive committee appointed on 11 December 2010 and was
elected chairman of the Company on 31 December 2010. Dr.
SO resigned from his position as the chairman of the Board and
his board committee position on 23 June 2012 and remains an
executive Director.

Dr. SO is the vice-chairman, an executive director and CEO of SUM
Holdings Limited (Stock Code:880), which is listed on the Stock
Exchange. He is a director of Estoril-Sol, SGPS, S.A. which is listed
on Euronext Lisbon and the chairman of the board of directors of
MACAUPORT - Sociedade de Administragdo de Portos, S.A.

Dr. SO was a member of the 9th, 10th, 11th and 12th National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference ("CPPCC"). He is presently the honorary consul of the
Republic of Portugal in the Hong Kong SAR and a consultant of the
Economic Development Council of the Macau SAR Government.
Dr. SO is the president of Clube Militar de Macau, a member of the
board of directors of The University of Hong Kong Foundation for
Educational Development and Research, as well as a member of the
10th National Committee of China Federation of Literary and Arts
Circles.

Dr. SO was awarded the Honorary University Fellowship by The
University of Hong Kong in 2005, the Medal of Merit — Culture
by the Macau SAR Government in 2009 and the Doctor of Social
Sciences honoris causa by the University of Macau in 2012. He was
conferred as Commendador Order of Merit by the Portuguese
Government in 2014.

Dr. SO is a Chartered Secretary, Chartered Governance
Professional and a Fellow member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute.
He is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
He graduated with a Bachelor of Science Degree from The
University of Hong Kong in 1973, and received a Doctoral Degree in
Management Studies from IMC/Southern Cross University in 2001.

Dr. SO has been appointed as an executive director and the
chairman of the board of directors of DOMAINE POWER
HOLDINGS LIMITED (the shares of which are listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange with Stock Code: 442) since 1 December
2021.
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Mr. WONG King Yuen, aged 55, executive director of the
Company appointed on 18 March 2016 and further appointed as a
General Manager of the Company on 2 February 2023.

Mr. WONG has over 20 years of experience in real estate industry.
He served as assistant property manager in property agency
department in China Merchants Properties Development Limited
in February 1995 and subsequently he was promoted as deputy
manager, manager, deputy general manager and the current
position of director and general manager. From January 1999, he
acted as general manager assistant in China Merchants Property
Agency Limited and later he was promoted to the position of
deputy general manager and the current position of director
and general manager. From September 2001 to December 2002,
he served as director and general manager in China Merchants
Property Management (Hong Kong) Limited and from September
2017, he also acted as director and general manager in China
Merchants Property Management (Overseas) Limited.

Mr. WONG graduated from Hong Kong Baptist University with a
Bachelor's Degree of Business Administration (Honours) majoring
in finance in November 1990. He obtained a Master’'s Degree
of Science in real estate from the University of Hong Kong in
December 2006. Mr. Wong holds an Estate Agent's Licence from
the Estate Agents Authority of Hong Kong and a PMP (Tier 1)
Licence from the Property Management Services Authority of Hong
Kong. In 2010, he was awarded the membership of Hong Kong
Institute of Real Estate Administrators.

Ms. Chen Yan, aged 45, is currently an executive Director and
the chief financial officer of the Company. She had held various
positions in CMSK, the controlling shareholder of the Company.
She joined CMSK in October 2009 as a senior manager of the
finance department until July 2016. She was also appointed as the
senior financial controller of the finance department of CMSK from
July 2016 to May 2017. From May 2017 to January 2018, she was the
deputy chief financial officer of the Company. She has also been
the internal auditor of REIT manager of CMC REIT since December
2019.

Ms. CHEN Yan was graduated from School of Management of
Sun Yat-Sen University with a Master’'s Degree in Accounting and
Business Studies in 2002. She was qualified as a Certified Public
Accountant in the PRC in 2002.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert, aged 71, joined the Company
as an independent non-executive Director on 2 June 2012. Dr.

WONG is the chairman of the audit committee and a member of

the remuneration committee of the Company. Dr. WONG currently

holds the following positions in other listed companies:

independent non-executive director of APAC Resources
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
1104);

independent non-executive director of Solargiga Energy
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 757);

independent non-executive director of China Wan Tong Yuan
(Holdings) Limited, (its shares have transferred of listing from
GEM to main board with stock code 6966 since 17 December
2019);

independent non-executive director of Dexin Services Group
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 2215);

independent non-executive director of China Medical &
HealthCare Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 383); and

independent non-executive director of Dexin China Holdings
Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 2019).

Other listed companies in which Dr. WONG has served as an

independent non-executive director in the past three years include

the following:

16

China VAST Industrial Urban Development Company Limited
(Stock Exchange listing number: 6166 before delisting)

Capital Finance Holdings Limited (Stock Exchange listing
number: 8239)
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In addition, Dr. WONG served as the managing director of Charise
Financial Planning Limited, a private professional consulting firm
in Hong Kong since October 2005 to 2 January 2014 and served
as Principal Consultant of KND & Co., CPA Limited, a private
professional auditing firm in Hong Kong since 2 January 2014 to
2017. Dr. WONG was appointed as the Principal Consultant by KND
Associates CPA Limited, Hong Kong on 2 January 2018. Dr. WONG
was elected or admitted:

e afellow of The Chartered Governance Institute in September
2002;

e  afellow of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute in
February 2002;

e afellow of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong in January
1999;

e amember of The Hong Kong Securities and Investment
Institute in November 2012;

. a fellow member of Association of International Accountants in
September 2005;

° a fellow member of The Institute of Certified Public
Accountants in Ireland in August 2000;

° a member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in May 2002,
and

e 3 Certified Tax Adviser of Hong Kong for the year 2013 by the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Dr. WONG received a Doctoral Degree in Business Administration
from Bulacan State University, Republic of the Philippines in
December 2010 and a Bachelor's Degree in commerce from a
joint program held by Shenzhen University and Clayton University,
Missouri, USA in May 1990. He also received a Bachelor's Degree
and a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from Nottingham
Trent University, UK in December 2005 and December 2007,
respectively.
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Ms. CHEN Yanping, aged 64, joined the Company as an
independent non-executive Director on 2 June 2012.

Ms. CHEN had attended a “China Management Training Program”
in University of California, Los Angeles from November 2003 to
November 2004. Ms. CHEN received a Bachelor's Degree and a
Master's Degree in urban planning profession from the Faculty of
Architecture of Tongji University in January 1982 and November
1984, respectively. Ms. CHEN was qualified as a senior engineer in
December 1993 and subsequently qualified as a registered planner
of the PRC in October 2000.

Ms. CHEN had been an independent director of CMPD from
October 2007 to November 2011. Ms. CHEN is the chairlady of
the remuneration committee and a member of the nomination
committee of the Company. Ms. CHEN is a professor of
Architecture and Urban Planning School in Shenzhen University
from December 2000.

Dr. SHI Xinping, aged 64, joined the Company as an independent
non-executive Director on 2 June 2012. Dr. SHI had been an
independent director of CMPD from July 2001 to October 2007.
Dr. SHI is a member of the audit committee and a member of the
nomination committee of the Company.

Dr. SHI was an associate professor of the Department of Finance
and Decision Sciences in Hong Kong Baptist University before
retirement. He is also an independent non-executive director of
Renewable Energy Trade Board Corporation (formerly known as
“China Technology Development Group Corporation”), a company
listed on Nasdag.

Dr. SHI received a Bachelor's Degree from North-western
Polytechnic University in July 1982, an MBA Degree from Lancaster
University, UK in December 1990 and a PhD Degree from Middlesex
University, UK in July 1995.
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Mr. HE Qi, aged 67, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 1 November 2013. Mr.
HE currently is an independent non-executive director of China
Evergrande Group, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 3333) since 14 October 2009. Since 10 September 2014, Mr.
HE has been serving as the independent non-executive director of
ORIENT VICTORY SMART URBAN SERVICES HOLDING LIMITED, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 265), and also
the secretary of the Distribution Services and Leasing Committee
of the China Real Estate Association. Mr. He had been serving as
the deputy secretary of the China Real Estate Association until June
2016. He was an executive of the Development Centre of the China
Real Estate Association from 1995 to 1999.

CHANGE OF INFORMATION RELATING TO
DIRECTORS

Changes in directors’ information required to be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, are set out below:

Name of director

ESHSR

Details of change

BEFE
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Dr. WONG Wing Kuen Albert

Dr. WONG has resigned as an independent non-executive director of China VAST
Industrial Urban Development Company Limited, a company listed on the Stock

Exchange (Stock Code: 6166), with effect from 6 December 2022.

ITHTE T+ _ANAEBETEERZEERTEREGR AR (—HRE

AT E

Mr. YU resigned as the general manager of the Company and was re-designated as
a non-executive Director and appointed as a member of the Audit Committee, all

with effect from 3 February 2023. During the year ended 31 December 2022, Mr. YU

received annual emoluments of approximately RMB2,461,800 which were determined
by reference to his experience and responsibilities, the Company’s performance and
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2,461,8007C - BRMENELER 2EBEBE - ARBZRBARFMBEEIARRITH

Ms. LIU resigned as a non-executive Director and ceased to be a member of the
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Ms. CHEN was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 3 February
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Mr. YU Zhiliang
REREE
remuneration policy and the prevailing market conditions.
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M EETE
Ms. LIU Ning
BEL L Audit Committee, with effect from 3 February 2023.
Ms. CHEN Yan
R 2 £ 2023.
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Mr. WONG King Yuen

=HREE from 3 February 2023.

Mr. WONG was appointed as the general manager of the Company with effect
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Upon specific enquiry by the Company and confirmations from
Directors, save as otherwise set out in this Report, there are no
other changes in the directors’ information required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since the Company’s
last published interim report.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

Mr. Zhang Tao, aged 54, is responsible for managing real estate
development projects.

Mr. Zhang joined Operation and Management Center of CMPD
in December 2012 as deputy general manager, and subsequently
served as general manager of Dalian Company in March 2013,
general manager of Qingdao Company in January 2015, general
manager of Southern Jiangsu Company in March 2016, and deputy
general manager (presiding over the work) of Jiangnan Region
adjunct to general manager of Southern Jiangsu Company and
Nanjing Company from 2019 to present.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Changchun Institute of Technology in
July 1990 and Peking University in July 2000 with a master’s degree
in political economics.

Mr. Zhang Bin, aged 47, is responsible for managing real estate
development projects.

Mr. Zhang started his career in August 1998 and joined CMSK in
April 2014, where he served as Deputy General Manager of Nanjing
Company, General Manager of Hangzhou Company, Executive
Deputy General Manager of East China Region, General Manager
of Shanghai Company, General Manager of Ningbo Company. He
is currently served as the General Manager of South China Region
and General Manager of Guangzhou Company since January 2020.

Mr. Zhang graduated from the School of Construction and
Engineering of China University of Mining and Technology in 1998,
majoring in architecture.

*  For Identification Purpose Only
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Mr. Wang Zhuoran, aged 46, is the general manager of the
Group’s Chongging Company and is mainly responsible for the
development and operation of the Chongging Company.

Mr. Wang graduated from Nanchang University in 1999 with
a bachelor’s degree in architecture from the Department of
Architecture.

Mr. Wang joined CMSK in July 2009 and became the deputy
general manager of the product management center of CMSK
in February 2012. In June 2016, he was promoted to the general
manager of the product management center. He has been the
general manager of Chongqging Company of the Group since
August 2022.

Ms. Li Danyi, aged 40, is the general manager (acting) of our Xi‘an
Company and is responsible for the operation, development and
management of our Xi'an Company.

Ms. Li joined the Group as the manager of the marketing
management department of Xi'an Company in 2018 and was
promoted to the position of deputy director in 2019. In June 2020,
she became the assistant general manager of Xi'an Company and
started to act as the general manager in January 2023.

Ms. Li has been rooted in the Xi'an real estate market for a long
time. Prior to joining the Group, she worked for Shaanxi Poly Real
Estate Development Company Limited and Xi'an China Resources
Land Development Company Limited.

Mr. NG Ho, aged 34, appointed as Company Secretary of the
Company since 31 May 2019. Mr. Ng holds a Master of Business
degree from Monash University in Australia and is a fellow of
both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The
Chartered Governance Institute. He has over 8 years of experience
in compliance and listed company secretarial practice.

*  For Identification Purpose Only
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“RUDDER” CULTURE
NE 2 e B &

The “Rudder” is the icon of the maritime heritage of China Merchants Group.
It rallys strength and guides us to achieve our goals.
It is the guarantee of achieving the goals and the spirit of mustering the power.
Adherence to “China Merchants family and Shekou gene”,

We strive for advancement and excellence as we march forward.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEEEN®WE DN

MARKET REVIEW

In 2022, affected by the recurring epidemic and the impact of
the Russia-Ukraine war, China implemented the requirements of
"preventing the epidemic, stabilising the economy and ensuring
safety in development”, launched a package of macro-control
policies and focused on stabilising growth, annual economic
growth was reported to be around 3%. At the same time, external
risk challenges have increased significantly, the contradictions
of insufficient domestic demand have come to the fore, market
players’ expectations have turned weaker and fiscal and financial
risks have been exposed.

In 2022, real estate investment declined by 10% year-on-year
due to a slowdown in land sales (the value of land sales fell by
48% year-on-year in 2022) and a reduction in construction activity
(a 39% year-on-year decline in construction floor area commenced).
Developers were very cautious about expansion in 2022, with
some not even acquiring any land for reserve in 2022. With the
implementation of a series of policies such as the “three arrows
policy” in the fourth quarter of 2022, the rate of decline in real
estate related indicators narrowed in December, with the rate of
decline in real estate development investment narrowing by 7.7
percentage points in the same month of December compared to
November, and the rate of decline in the sales area of commercial
properties, sales, capital in place and new housing construction also
narrowed to varying degrees.

In the midst of the long winter in the industry, the Group's
strategy of “quality first, customer first” has resulted in significant
improvements in product advantages, housing quality, delivery
quality and timing. With the orientation of “maintaining a stable
customer base”, the market share of the cities in which the Group
is located has increased against the market, with Nanjing's market
share stabilizing at over 6% and Xi‘an’s market share exceeding 6%
for the first time.

As a pillar industry of the national economy, the policy environment
of the industry has improved with the country’s orderly return to
normal, and it will remain a large market of 10 trillion dollars in the
future. The industry is expected to experience a “Matthew effect”.
The Group should be prudent in its deployment of resources and
take advantage of the China Merchants Group to continue to invest
intensively in cities where it has established roots.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year of 2022, profit amounted to RMB1,730,026,000
(2021: RMB1,582,866,000), representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 9.3%. The profit attributable to the owners
of the Company was RMB329,659,000 (2021: RMB560,569,000),
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 41.2%.
Basic earnings per share was RMB4.72 cents (2021: RMB11.43
cents), representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately
41.2%.

Equity attributable to owners of the Company was
RMB9,862,815,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB9,738,462,000), representing a increase of approximately 1.3%
as compared with that of the end of last year.

Turnover

In 2022, the Group recorded turnover of RMB29,871,347,000
(2021: RMB25,921,416,000), representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 15.2%. In 2022, projects in Foshan, Guangzhou,
Chongging, Nanjing and Jurong, Xi'an and Hong Kong accounted
for approximately 4.8%, 4.9%, 16.8%, 47.4%, 25.9% and 0.2%,
respectively, of the total revenue of the Group.

Gross Profit

Gross profit amounted to RMB4,003,533,000 (2021:
RMB4,791,751,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 16.4%. This was mainly due to the relatively high
proportion of items with lower gross profit margin in the carried
forward income and written-down of properties amounting
to RMB206,773,000 in 2022. The gross profit margin was
approximately 13.4% (2021: approximately 18.5%), which was
decreased by 5 percentage points as compared to the last year.

Share of Profits of Associates

Share of profits of associates was RMB143,788,000 (2021:
RMB330,551,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 56.5%, which was mainly attributable to the
completion of the projects by Guangzhou Kuangrong Real Estate
Development Co. Ltd. (BNIEXEHEMZEBRAR]) and Nanjing
Shansheng Property Development Limited (5 & 5% 5 Ho 2 %
BRAF]) in 2021 and the carry-forward of income, contributing
share of profits amounted to approximately RMB189,719,000 and
RMB96,571,000 respectively.

In 2022, the share of profits generated from the projects by Ruian
Jiamao Zhiye Co., Ltd. (T FEEXEBEE AR A7) amounted to
approximately RMB168,602,000.
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Share of Profits of Joint Ventures

Share of profits of joint ventures was RMB120,148,000 (2021:
RMB83,237,000),

approximately 43.1%, which was mainly due to the completion of

representing a year-on-year increase of

the projects by Nanjing Sheng Xiang Yuan Property Development
Limited (A REEEFEMERZEHBR AT in this year and the carry-
forward of income, contributing share of profits amounted to
approximately RMB163,198,000.

FINANCIAL AND TREASURY MANAGEMENT
PRINCIPLES

As at 31 December 2022, the net assets attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to RMB9,862,815,000 (2021:
RMB9,738,462,000).

As at 31 December 2022, bank balances and cash was
RMB12,343,547,000 (2021: RMB14,423,276,000). In terms of
currency denomination, bank balances and cash can be divided
into RMB11,574,694,000 in Renminbi, RMB153,911,000 in US$ and
RMB614,942,000 in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$").

As at 31 December 2022, total interest-bearing debt of the
Group was RMB35,245,097,000 (2021: RMB36,536,844,000). In
terms of maturity, the outstanding total interest-bearing debt
can be divided into RMB2,010,146,000 repayable within one year,
RMB22,218,302,000 repayable after one year but within two years,
RMB10,052,105,000 repayable after two years but within five years
and RMB964,544,000 repayable after five years.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s net interest-bearing debt
(total interest-bearing debt minus bank balances and cash) to
equity (including non-controlling interests) ratio (the “Net Gearing
Ratio”) was 70% (2021: 65%). The Group further utilizes the flexibility
of its capital structure and resources in a rational manner according
to project needs. The capital cost of the Group still remained at
industry-low level. As at 31 December 2022, the weighted average
finance costs of the interest-bearing debt is 4.31%, of which the
average finance costs of bank and financial institution borrowings
was 3.94%.

The monetary assets and liabilities and business transactions of the
Group are mainly carried and conducted in RMB, US$ and HK$.
The Group maintains a prudent strategy in its foreign exchange
risk management, where foreign exchange risks are minimised via

balancing the monetary assets versus monetary liabilities.
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FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

The Group has contingent liabilities amounted to RMB7,908,240,000
as at 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB6,561,657,000).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, land included in properties for sale
and located in Chongqging, Foshan, Nanjing and Jurong with
carrying values of approximately RMB3,777,371,000 (2021:
RMB2,043,820,000) and investment properties with carrying values
of approximately RMB1,724,601,000 (2021: RMB1,207,206,000)
have been pledged to secure bank borrowings amounting to
RMB2,594,112,000 (2021: RMB1,802,451,000) granted to the Group.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings of the Group are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Contracted sales

The Group, together with its associates and joint ventures,
achieved aggregate contracted sales of RMB47,861,000,000
(2021: RMB55,196,000,000), representing a year-on-year decrease
of approximately 13.29%. Aggregate contracted sales area was
1,931,711 sq.m. (2021: 2,392,049 sq.m.), representing a year-on-year
decrease of approximately 19.24%. The average selling price was
approximately RMB24,777 per sq.m. (2021: RMB23,075 per sq.m.),
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 7.4%.

Contracted sales amount by region in 2022 (RMB million)
R oA REESR(ARBEST)

BMBRERER

R_T-_—_F+_A=+—8 AEBEXARE
BEAR¥7,908240000 (T =-—F : AR¥
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)2 T (BEHREEDE) REAENAARE
1,724,601,0007T( — & = —4F : AR#1,207,206,000
TIZREYE  URBETALEZHRITEEARE
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Contracted sales area by region in 2022 (sgq.m.)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's portfolio of property
development projects consisted of 45 projects in Guangzhou,

Foshan, Chongging, Xi’an, Nanjing and Jurong, with a primary

focus on the development of residential properties, as well as

residential and commercial complex properties, types of products

include apartments, villas, offices and retail shops, etc.

A breakdown of land bank by cities and a map showing the
geographical locations and the land bank of the projects of the
Group in the PRC are set out below. The saleable gross floor area of

properties which had not been sold or presold as at 31 December

2022 ("Land Bank”) was 4,600,787 sg.m..

¥ O )

B Hh AE B B 2 7

R-oT——&+-—A=+—0 KEEEEM - 6
L EF % BRRAOAEESEERERSE
BE FEETHBEAEMEUAREERALEAY
¥ ERENGEAE BE BRABRTEES
%0

TESRERTE D2 TR ERARAEEIEE T
FEZMBMNERIWHEE R =_F+=A
=t+—H RKEIREEZYWHEIEBR 2 EREEE
([ LibfEE 1) 54,600,787 F 75K -

Land Bank by cities
BT 2 TR

Chongging
BE
53%
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

R E)
P ER X% (#)
A map showing the geographical location and land bank
of the projects of the Group in the PRC as at 31 December 2022
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Note: The following table shows the address, existing use, and actual or expected
earliest full or phased completion date of the Group's property development

¥ O )

P54 EE A 3 S 75 (

Wit TREAAEER T —F+-A=+—-RAZHEZRER
Zipit - REMERERAGFNREZE2HKOHEKA

&)

=

projects as at 31 December 2022. -
Actual/expected
completion date
(Year/Month)
Y4
Project Existing usage Y%A H
=gz Address 3" BERAE (£/R)
Foshan {11
China Merchants Xi'an South Jititang Road in the east to Foshan, R Residential and  January 2019
B = 1st Ring in the west, from Tanzhou Water Channel in 5 & #11TH commercial ZZE—NF—A
the south to Fochen Road B R A SR EEREHE
in the north, © 48 B
Southern side of South Jinchang Road, REEEEME -
Chencun Town, Shunde District, AEHL—R -
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, BN KIE -
The PRC Bl S
China Merchants Yuefu Nan Jin Village Committee Lot, 2] Residential and  October 2019
A Sha Long Road, BERAFLT commercial  —ZE—A&E+A
Jiujiang Town, [E2)E] FEREHE
Nanhai District, JUTHR
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, DEER
The PRC MENEEE
China Merchants Yueyuan Plot 1, the western side of Jianshe Yilu, s Residential and  January 2020
B E Xinan Street, ERALUT commercial ZEZEZTF—A
Sanshui District, =K@ FEREE
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, marfnE
The PRC H TR —
Time Merchants Tianxi Taiping Industrial District Lot, s Residential and  November 2020
RRBEAE Taiping Avenue, ERAHLT commercial ZZEZZTF+—A
Dali Town, Eapi=]A FEREE
Nanhai District, RIEH
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, KEKRE
The PRC ARFTLE R
China Merchants Tianpufu Shuitou Industrial District Lot, e Residential and ~ July 2021
B REN Dali Town, BERA ML commercial Z—ZTZ—%+A
Nanhai District, 8 FEREE
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, AESE
The PRC KT REIER
China Merchants Anzhitinglan ~ The northern side of Jiangwan 2nd Road, A Residential and  June 2020
EEEIETE and western side of Wugang Road, ERAHLT commercial  ZEZEFXA
Chancheng District, = TEREE
Foshan City, Guangdong Province, T — R4l -
The PRC e il
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

¥ O

Property Development Business (continued) P b EE B3 1% (&)
Actual/expected
completion date
(Year/Month)
B fEEt
Project Existing usage &M HH
HE Address hut REAZ (#/R)
Xi‘an (AZ)
Zhenguanfu Northeast of the junction between AREHE Residential and March 2022
BT Tiangu 1st Road and Yunshui 1st Road, KA—EM commercial —ZT- &=
Gaoxin Zone, Xi'an, ER—BE+FRILA FEREHE
China Merchants South of freight line and east of Fiilzgei] oy Residential and December 2021
Main Urban Site west Gangwu Road, EiERARE commercial ZEZ—F+=
M ES Xi'an International Port District ISR AR FERME
Xi'an Merchants Silk Road South of freight line and east of AR %R Commercial August 2022
Center west Gangwu Road, BiEG AR % e AN
(Rt EE el Xi'an International Port District BB AR
Chang'an Xi South of Hangteng Road, east of Hangxin FRERRPEE AL Residential and June 2023
RLHE Road, north of Hangfei Road and west of T8 2 i R B b S 8 B A commercial Z—ZE-Z=FXA
planning road, Xi'an Space Base, A AETEE AR FEREX
Xi'an City, Shaanxi Province, The PRC FRAREE LALL - AR EIEEPATE
Weiyang Xi South of Qiyuan Yi Road and west of Guangyuntan ~ # EIpRFE & Residential and  September 2022
RRE Avenue, Xi'an City, P T RUR — & DARS - commercial “Z-"FHA
Shaanxi Province, The PRC BEBERBIUIAR EEREE
Zhen Jing Northeast of the intersection of A Residential June 2023
=34 Wei Er Shi Liu Road and Xitai Road, PRAEALT =R = ZEZ=FRA
Hi-tech Zone, Xi'an City, Shaanxi Province, Fe iy N3 = bicy =3
The PRC RERRIEA
Xi'an Xu East of Guangyuntan Avenue, west of Xingtai North & Residential December 2023
Fick-dsd Road, south of Eurasian Road 5 and north of PR AT mERERR —E-=%F+—-H
Shangshui Road, Chanba Ecological Zone, Xi'an EEFEREAR -
City, Shaanxi Province, China BRI PEIATY -
BRI R BEIAR -
KB LA AL
Yonglanwan East of Zhengyang 5th Road, south of Lanchi 2nd AR Residential March 2024 to
R Road, west of Zhengyang 6th Road and north of kYl F= March 2025
Lanshang Road in Weibei Area, Qinhan New Town, ZE#HHUEIL A& —ToE=A% i
Xi'an City, Shaanxi Province, China ERSREEIAER —E-RFE=
Bt — RS AR
IR 7SBE LA »
R ) B LA 4L
Guangzhou BEM
China Merchants Yongjing Wan The northern side of No. KS3-2 Gui Hua Road A Residential and July 2019
BEESE and eastern side of the northern extension R RN A commercial —hE+A
lane of No. KS4-4 Road, Sino-Singapore REAEKS3-25R AR B EEREE
Guangzhou Knowledge City Southern LAJE - KS4-45% %4k
Start-up Area, The PRC ERIAR
Guangzhou Tianju Huang Shi West Road, Baiyun New Town, FE Residential December 2021
BINREE Guangzhou City, Guangdong Province, E?é Z M F= —E-—%+-R8
The PRC S EAE
EXCELLENCE China North of Huangpu East Road and East of E Residential December 2023
Merchants Zhenlongfu Longtou Road, BRAEMT F= —EZ=F+=A
R R Huangpu District, EHEEEIHERK
Guangzhou City, LAJE - BEEERR AR
Guangdong Province,
China
Nansha Qingsheng Project North of Shagongbao Chung, east of FEBEREEMT Residential July 2024 to
Y EXIEE Longitudinal Road 3, south of Heng Yi Road, mYyEAAEEILE - F=E January 2025
west of Longitudinal Road 4, Nanchang District, AE=REERA - BB “ENFLARE
Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, China ez U sy —ZE-RF—A
Bao Sui Tian Yu Court No. 2437, Xingang East Road, Residential December 2023 to
RIERHR Haizhu District, Guangzhou City, BERAEEMT = March 2024
Guangdong Province, BIREITBRE —E-_=F+ZAF
China 243755 —E-WF=A
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

¥ O )

Property Development Business (continued) P ih ZE B3 K15 (&)
Actual/expected
completion date
(Year/Month)
BB E
Project Existing usage &F{ H
HE Address st REAR (#/R)
Chongqing EE
LANDMARK RIVERSIDE Danzishi Nan'an District, H Residential and  August 2021
RERE Chongging City, BEM commercial —ZE=—F)\A
The PRC MEEETA FEEREE
Evian River Bay Eastern side of Babin Road R Residential and  July 2021
RET & and northern side of Neihuan Expressway, EE™ commercial —ZE=—%F+A
Banan District, EEE FERMEE
Chonggjing City, BB SR A £
The PRC MIRBREIL A
Central Avenue Standard Sub-zone F, R Residential and  August 2024
NERE Lianglu Zone, EEM commercial Z—ZZPUFNA
Yubei District, ipla FERMEE
Chonggjing City, 7 % 48
The PRC FIREDE
Yongjingcheng Sub-zone J, F Residential and  March 2020
ZEIRI Lianglu Zone, Liangjiang New District, HE™M commercial ZEZTF=H
Chonggjing City, M LETER s A8 EEREE
The PRC Jo &
Yundi Xiao Qu Nanping Business Centre, R Residential and September 2020
ERR/NE Nan‘an District, EEM commercial Z—ZZZEHA
Chongging City, R EEREE
The PRC T
Main Urban Site Guanyin Bridge Business Centre, s Residential and December 2020
e Jiang Bei District, HEM commercial —ZETFE+_-A
Chonggjing City, it FEREE
The PRC BERHE
Ideal City Xiyong Area, il Residential and September 2021
ABH Shapingba District, EEM commercial ZZEZ—%7A
Chonggjing City, DITHE EEREHE
The PRC KA
Park Uptown Shuitu Town, El Residential and  June 2020
Nl Beibei District, BEM commercial —E-TFXA
Chongging City, Bi = EEREE
The PRC KSR
Shiguangdao No.26 Huajin Road, H Residential May 2023
i iE Huayan Town, BEM (G —EZ=FHA
Jiulongpo District, JLEER =
Chonggqing, IR
China FERPE2658
Yutianfu Parcel AH20, etc., Xiyong, R Residential June 2023
SR Wenxian Road, BEDITERE = ZZZ=FRA
Shapingba District, X E Bk to &
Chonggqing, AH20% b 38 July 2026
China ZEZRFEAR
Yutianfu AHO9 Plot AHO9, etc., Xiyong, Wenxian Road, Fh Residential September 2024
RITAHO? Shapingba District, BEMITERE = —TmEAA
Chongging, X E Bk to &
China AHO9% b 158 March 2027
—E-+F=A
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

¥ O

Property Development Business (continued) P b EE B3 1% (&)
Actual/expected
completion date
(Year/Month)
B fEEt
Project Existing usage &F{ H i
HE Address hut RERR (£/8)
Nanjing and Jurong R R AR
China Merchants Eastern side of Baosi Road, A Commercial and September 2018
International E City southern side of Jingjiu Road, IEE QAT residential E—N\FNA
AR BIRER Baohua Town, BEABNRRA EEREE
Jurong City, Jiangsu Province, wAEEA
The PRC
Evian Huafu Western side of Jing 5th Road in phrase 2 i Residential and November 2019
IRE R Maigaogjiao Street, TERAmRT commercial Z—ZE—hE+—A
Qixia District, EEE EEREE
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, BREBUBL
The PRC T3E — HA7a
The Orchid Ravine East of Xing Huo Bei Lu i Residential and  September 2018
REEAER and south of Yong Xin Lu, IERAEmRT commercial ZZE—N\FNA
Pukou Gaoxin Zone, B O =R FEREX
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, B NIEREAR
The PRC IKETHE AR
Dongwangfu Junction between Hedong Road A Residential and  August 2021
HEfF and Siwang Road, IERAEmRT commercial —ZE=—% /A
Qilin Street Jiuxiang, Jiangning District, L@ B E N FERBE
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, TR R B P B A2
The PRC
Xijiang Ruifu Xiangxian Road in the east to Yuanten Road in 3l Residential and  March 2022
POIERAT the south to a planning road in the west to TEEmRmEOE commercial —ZE--F=H1
Zi Chuang Road in the north, IDBENEBERIAR - EEREE
02 Land Parcel, north of Zi Chuang Road LAIEE AR 021 158
and east of Jiangpu Street and Puyun Road, REREBEK  @E
Pukou District, Nanjing City, B - R E
Jiangsu Province, B b E AR
The PRC
Ninglong Mingzhu a piece of land, FE Residential June 2021
BIERE east of Rungi Road and south of Tianhuan Road, IEEmRmEER F= —ZT=—%<A
Dongshan Street, Jiangning District, LERR|EE
Gulou District, Nanjing City, TABLRE LA - RIREE
Jiangsu Province, LA b 358
The PRC
Nanjing Shuimu Yongrongfu  a piece of land, h l Residential May 2022
M RIKRELRT eastern side of Bisheng Road, B R T F=E —ET--%FHA
Xijiang Street, Qixia District, 7@ ERAEETE
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, B EER Al
The PRC
Yongningfu Yushan Xi Road in the east to Jianshe Road Gl Residential October 2021
i 5'_,5}1%‘ in the south to an existing in the west to TTERA AT =] —E-—%1A
Guangdian Road in the north, ORI TBHEE
Pujiang Street, Pukou District, REMLPEE -
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, PO R - R

The PRC

ik - EEEER
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

£ AEI-CIE))

Property Development Business (continued) EHEREER(E)
Actual/expected
completion date
(Year/Month)
BB E
Project Existing usage &F{ H
HE Address st RERAR (£/8)
Yonglanyuefu East of Xinpu Road and south of FE Residential December 2021
BRI Xinglong Road, Jiangbei New District, STEHEERT F= -+
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, JTAbFTIR TR AR
The PRC BB IAT
Zijin Inte|||9ence Valley East to Tianma Road, South to Benma Road, HFE Residential December 2021
L5 West to Xianlin Avenue, and TTERE F= —E-—F+=
North to the current industrial park, R MEEE
Qixia District, Nanjing City, REXRFHEK
Jiangsu Province, BERSE
The PRC PEEAIAAE
LERREXE
China Merchants Centre - a piece of land, north of Danxia Road ey Residential and March 2025
Zhenjin and east of Hengjia Road, TEE commercial Z—ZEZAF=A
?Eﬁ%’g"b o B Hongshan Street, FRT FEREX
Xuanwu District, ZRE
Nanjing City, ATILEE
Jiangsu Province, FHERE LA -
The PRC 15 52 BE A SR b 38
Jiangxinyin Intersection of Meizizhou Road and Wentai Street, & ./Iﬁé R EHET Residential December 2023
TN Jiangxinzhou Street, Jianye District, Nanjing, DINEHEFINBREX R ZEZ=F+=A
Jiangsu Province, China HRIER
ShanyUJ|ngfu No.1 Qiaoxin Road, Qixia District, Nanjing City, FET#HE M RMEERES Residential December 2021
ERIER Jiangsu Province, China R B 155 = R —FF
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)

Newly Acquired Land Bank

The newly acquired lands over which the Group has a majority
control for the year ended 31 December 2022 are as follows:

E SEI -1 )

5 Hh EE R B 575 (48)

48+t B4R
BE-_T-—&+-A=+—AL4&F AEEHK
BEBATEREE T T

Average
Total land
Total land Total permissible premium per
Projects HH consideration site area area permissible area
P EER
TiEE BIEHER BIARER 1h{E
(RMB million) (sq.m.) (sq.m.) (RMB/sq.m.)
(AREBT/
(AR¥BET) (F7K) (F7%) FHK)
K01-1-1/09, K01-1-2/09, K01-1-3/09, ERNERRABOAE
K05-1/07, Sub-area K, Dayangshi Group, K73 [&K01-1-1/09 «
Jiulongpo District, Chongging K01-1-2/09
K01-1-3/09 ~ K05-1/07 2,574 115,535 357,539 7,200
NO2022G51 Plot, Nanjing BRNO2022G5141 5% 1,750 25,607 66,579 26,300
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)
Foshan

In 2022, contracted sales amount in Foshan was approximately
RMB3,158 million and contracted sales area was 239,754 sq.m. As
at 31 December 2022, total GFA of the Group's projects in Foshan
reached 1,388,800 sg.m. and the saleable GFA in the future will
amount to 336,724 sq.m..

In 2022, contracted sales projects of the Group (together with
its associates and joint ventures) in Foshan mainly comprised of
Foshan Dongyue Bay Project (f# LLIZR & f7):

Introduction of Foshan Dongyue Bay Project

Dongyue Bay is located at the east of Lishui Avenue, across the river
is Jinshazhou, in the “pan-Jinshazhou area”. From the project, a
30-minute drive to Guangzhou, Foshan core areas, enjoy the same
city of Guangzhou and Foshan 30-minute living circle, the location
is very obvious advantages. With the project as the centre, there are
three major business districts (Jinshazhou business district, Huanggi
business district and Lishui business district) within a 5-10-minute
drive. There are four provincial and municipal schools within five
kilometres of the project.

The project has a total site area of 74,000 square metres and a total

gross floor area of approximately 180,000 square metres, covering
residences, flats, commercial and car parking spaces.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)
Guangzhou

In 2022, contracted sales amount in Guangzhou was approximately
RMB8,659 million and contracted sales area was 231,263 sg.m..
As of 31 December 2022, total GFA of the Group’s projects in
Guangzhou reached 892,339 sgq.m. and the saleable GFA in the
future will amount to 313,848 sq.m..

In 2022, contracted sales projects of the Group (together with its
associates and joint ventures) in Guangzhou mainly comprised of
Guangzhou Haizhu Tianjun (BN G ZEKIE):

Introduction of Guangzhou Haizhu Tianjun (B /5 XE)

The project is located in the Pazhou area of Haizhu District, an
important part of Guangzhou’s CBD, adjacent to the Guangzhou
International Convention and Exhibition Center and looking
towards the north bank of the Pearl River. The project is only one
river away from Guangzhou International Finance City. The project
covers an area of 17,382 square meters, with a total construction
area of 91,131 square meters, floor area ratio of about 5.9, planning
to build, among other things, four high-rise residential buildings
and one high-end apartments.

Project for the extension of Guangzhou Metro Line 8 Fengpu Park
Station, close to the planned Pazhou terminal traffic hub, through
the Newport West Road, Dongpu Bridge, under construction
Pazhou-Yuzhu Pier tunnel and other convenient connections to
the Pazhou e-commerce headquarters area, Tianhe Zhujiang
New Town and the International Finance City CBD. In terms of
living facilities, the area within 3 km of the direct line includes a
comprehensive shopping center, primary and secondary schools,
international schools, and tertiary hospitals. At the same time, it
enjoys 1,100 hectares of Haizhu National Wetland Park, Huangpu
Ancient Port Site Recreation Area and Pearl River Ecological
Landscape Resources. The comprehensive supporting conditions
are outstanding.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)
Chongqing

In 2022, contracted sales amount in Chongging was approximately
RMB3,994 million and contracted sales area was 304,640 sq.m..
As of 31 December 2022, total GFA of the Group’s projects in
Chongging reached 5,777,932 sg.m. and the saleable GFA in the
future will amount to 2,425,311 sg.m..

In 2022, contracted sales projects of the Group (together with
its associates and joint ventures) in Chongging comprised of
LANDMARK RIVERSIDE (K3 €):

Introduction of LANDMARK RIVERSIDE (= 52 (%)

Located on Taichang Road in Nan'an District, Chongging, China,
with a total gross floor area of approximately 1.5 million square
metres, LANDMARK RIVERSIDE is an integrated urban living
project comprising residential and commercial properties.

The “Two Rivers Peak” series, with a gross floor area of
approximately 400-460 square metres and a 174 square metre
high-rise, occupies a more central position along the river, with a
panoramic view of the landmarks of Chaotianmen, Jiangbeizui and
Nanbin Road as well as the landmark where the Jialing and Yangtze
rivers meet. The project is well-equipped with a wide range of
transport, medical, education, financial and living facilities.

The commercial properties of the project are located in the
golden triangle of Chongging’s CBD, with famous facilities such as
LANDMARK RIVERSIDE Shopping Park, Danzishi Old Street and
Danzishi Square, among which LANDMARK RIVERSIDE Shopping
Park gathers global fashion trends and Danzishi Old Street is
listed as a national 4A tourist scenic area. The Danzishi Square is
a broader view of the confluence of the two rivers and is known as
the “best place to take photographs of the confluence of the two

rivers”.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Property Development Business (continued)
Nanjing and Jurong of Zhenjiang

In 2022, contracted sales amount in Nanjing and Jurong of
Zhenjiang was approximately RMB 16,885 million and contracted
sales area was 475,838 sgq.m.. As of 31 December 2022, total GFA
of the Group's projects in Nanjing and Jurong reached 3,632,137
sg.m. and the saleable GFA in the future will amount to 653,733
sg.m..

In 2022, contracted sales projects of the Group (together with its
associates and joint ventures) in Nanjing and Jurong of Zhenjiang
comprised of Nanjing China Merchants CentreeZhenjing (B R85
B BRER):

Project of Nanjing China Merchants CentreeZhenjing (.7 5% /5
B

Located in Nanjing's Xuanwu District, Nanjing China Merchants
CentreeZhenjing occupies the core of the new Xuanwu area
in the heart of Nanjing's main city, close to Nanjing Station
and Zhongshan Scenic Park. The project covers an area of
approximately 174,000 square metres with a total gross floor area
of approximately 750,000 square metres, incorporating a variety of
commercial and high-end residential developments, and is directly
connected to the metro to form a large-scale TOD project, bringing
China Merchants’ unique “Sea World” world-class lifestyle to

Nanjing.

The project is extremely conveniently located on Nanjing's Line 6
and Line 9 metro, with three other metro lines within 2km — Line 1,
3 and 7. There are 9 bus routes within Tkm of the site. Hongshan
Road, Hengjia Road, Beiyuan East Road, Jingwu Road, Daimagnan
Road, Lingzhi Road and Hongshan South Road form a four vertical
and three horizontal road networks, which connects directly to
Nanjing's city inner ring via Xinzhuang Junction, providing quick
access to the whole city.

Within the new Xuanwu area, there are 5 primary schools, 2 junior
high schools and 12 kindergartens, all of which are among the top
10 schools in the city. The project features 118, 134, 143 and 181
square metres, covering 3- and 4-bedroom units.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development Business (continued)
Xi'an

In 2022, contracted sales amount in Xi'an was approximately
RMB10,691 million and contracted sales area was 644,840 sg.m..
As at 31 December 2022, total GFA of the Group's projects in Xi'an
reached 2,965,144 sgq.m. and the saleable GFA in the future will
amount to 871,171 sg.m..

In 2022, contracted sales projects of the Group (together with
its associates and joint ventures) in Xi'an comprised of Xi'an
International Trade & Logistics Park Project 7% BB AR IE B :

Introduction of Xi‘an International Trade & Logistics Park Project 7§
LEIE R RIE

The project is located in the delta of the Ba river and Wei river in
the northeast of the main city of Xi'an. It covers a total area of more
than 580 mu and is located in the area around the Olympic Sports
Center project in the International Port Area, and is a large-scale
urban integrated development project integrating offices, hotels,
commercial districts, apartments and residential properties.

Among them, residential and other businesses occupy an area
of 500 mu, which will create an ecological and comfortable high-
quality living community. The buildings include cover high-rise
and small high-rise, stores and parking spaces, with 2-4 rooms as
the main household type. The commercial sector covers an area of
about 80 mu and will build a landmark high-rise building, which will
be integrated with the Olympic Sports Center project to create a
new image of a free and fashionable, ecologically vibrant regional
gateway. The buildings include apartments, office buildings, hotels
and businesses.

46 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2022

XKERE )

B EMEER(E)

AR

ZECF  ARMNARBEEEOASARK10,691
BBEIL MAREEMEEGLLBI0FETK R Z
TFF+ZA=+—H AEBEEATHNIEE BEE
52,965,144 F F K - MAR A EZEmMBEL A
871,171F 5k

—E - F o AEBEREBEARRAEDERA
TETNALEEERAEALHEEKRER ¢

=

P 2 BB B 5 1% R B I

T8 B AL P % YR SR AL BRI R B = A o b
HE B B580M - I BB IR RS OIR B E
BRE - RERN EE  BEER A8 FEZ
ERER BRI MARSMIEIER -

Hrep - (EEFEREM500M - FBITEERE - £FE0
SmEEELR - BEMRERE /2B - mEN
B - R2-4ZEBEITPI - BEAIEEAIS0M
FERREREEEE  BREPLEBREN
fE - HRBEB MR - EREHINREM ST
R BEVMRELE - PAE  BEEREE -



':.'li:t.;-larl W T

""'.'."I.'{lll

T FFR BEREMBRAR 47



BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Asset Management Business

Upon the listing of the China Merchants Commercial Real Estate
Investment Trust (“CMC REIT"”) on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 10 December 2019, the
Company has commenced its REIT management business through
China Merchants Land Asset Management Co., Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and the REIT manager of the
CMC REIT. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recorded asset management services income of approximately
RMB30,457,000 (2021: RMB18,934,000).

PROSPECTS AND OUTLOOK

The future development of the real estate market has a number
of favorable conditions, one is that China is still in the stage
of continuous development of urbanisation. Last year, the
urbanisation rate of the resident population increased by 0.5
percentage points from the previous year to 65.22%, but it is still not
high compared to the level of about 80% in developed countries.
The number of new urban population in China in 2022 was huge and
these are the space for future development. Second, reasonable
demand in the real estate market will be gradually released. Many
measures have been introduced in various places to support rigid
and improved housing demand, which will help increase home
buyers” willingness to purchase homes.

The Group believes that the industry policy has improved and the
real estate market will remain a large market of 10 trillion dollar
in the future. With the “three arrows” of the real estate policy in
November last year and the introduction of relief policies such as
the "16 Articles of Finance”, the credit of real estate enterprises
and real estate sales are expected to improve. The probability
of a rebound in property sales in 2023 will increase, leading to
a stabilisation of property investment and considerable credit
expansion.
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PROSPECTS AND OUTLOOK (continued)

The Group will strive to improve its performance in several areas.
Firstly, we will strive to increase revenue and reduce expenses and
keep the level of three expenses (i.e. sales expenses, administrative
expenses and financing expenses) below the industry benchmark
and strive for management bonus. The second is to operate
with a “people-oriented” philosophy, adhere to the origin of
customer value, insist on quality development, promote the spirit of
craftsmanship, and practically improve the quality of products and
services; strengthen the cultivation of staff talent, strengthen the
foundation of innovative talents, and create growth opportunities
for outstanding employees. Thirdly, we will strengthen the
application of digital empowerment, use digital innovation to assist
online marketing, speed up public construction and the “Flame
Gathering Plan” (marketing with all), and other measures to sell
inventory, improve asset quality and keep cash flow within safe
boundaries in the long run.

NON-COMPETITION DEED

To minimise actual and potential competition, the Group and China
Merchants Property Development Co., Ltd.* (FAfE @i EEA% A%
MABRAT) ("CMPD") (a company later merged with CMSK (as
defined below) in December 2015) entered into a non-competition
deed on 19 June 2013 as amended and supplemented on 4
October 2013 (the “Non-Competition Deed”). On 30 December
2015, the Company, CMPD and China Merchants Shekou Industrial
Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. (BB A IXERZERRKRHERA
A)) ("CMSK") Note 1 had entered into a deed of amendment and
novation, pursuant to which all the obligations, undertakings,
interests and benefits of CMPD under the Non-Competition Deed
were novated to and undertaken by CMSK in replacement of CMPD
as if CMSK has been a party to the Non-Competition Deed in
substitution of CMPD with effective from 30 December 2015. Other
than that, all the other terms of the Non-Competition Deed shall
remain unchanged N2 On 17 December 2018, the Company and
CMSK entered into an amended and restated non-competition
deed which supersede and replace in its entirety the Non-
Competition Deed (the “Amended and Restated Non-Competition
Deed”), and subsequently entered into a re-amended and restated
non-competition deed (the “Re-Amended and Restated Non-
Competition Deed”) on 21 October 2019, which supersede and
replace in its entirely the Amended and Restated Non-Competition
Deed.

Notes:

1. According to the announcements published by CMSK and CMPD on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, on 30 December 2015, CMSK and CMPD had completed the
major asset restructuring and integration exercise pursuant to which, among
other things, all assets, liabilities, businesses, employees, contracts and all others
rights and obligations of CMPD have been taken up and assumed by CMSK in
replacement of CMPD, CMPD was delisted from the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
and the shares of CMSK became listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, all with
effect from 30 December 2015.

2. In the above paragraph under the heading of “Non-competition Deed”, for the
avoidance of doubt, references to CMSK should be construed as referring to
CMPD in the context of any time before 30 December 2015.
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NON-COMPETITION DEED (continued)

Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Non-Competition Deed, (i)
CMSK and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) (“CMSK Group”)
will not compete with the Group in the cities of Foshan, Guangzhou,
Nanjing, and Jurong (the “Four CML Cities”) except for certain
operation transitional assets (“Operation Transitional Assets”)
located in Foshan which would be retained by CMSK Group but
managed by the Group under certain operation agreement entered
into between the Group and CMSK; (i) with respect to Chongging
and Xi'an, the Company is considering to cease to conduct Property
Business (other than participating in property-related investments
on a minority basis across the PRC (the "Non-Controlling
Investment Arrangement”)) in and exit from such two cities in due
course, depending on the results of an annual review process;
(iii) CMSK Group will not compete with the Group in the cities of
Chongging and Xi’an unless the Group ceases to conduct Property
Business (other than the Non-Controlling Investment Arrangement)
in such city; (iv) the Group will not compete with CMSK in 46
other cities in the PRC ("CMSK Cities”) except the Group will
have the rights to participate in the Non-Controlling Investment
Arrangement across the PRC (including the CMSK Cities); (v) the
Group will also be entitled to conduct the Asset Management
Business for office premises in Beijing and Shanghai exclusively,
subject to the duly transfer of all equity interest of CMSK Group
in Asset Management Business for office premises in Beijing and
Shanghai to the Group (the “Proposed Transfer 1”); and (vi) the
Company will no longer have the perpetual right of first refusal to
conduct Property Business (the “Right of First Refusal”) for other
cities in the PRC in which neither the Group nor the CMSK Group
has an Property Business as at the date of the Non-Competition
Deed ("Unoccupied Cities”).
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NON-COMPETITION DEED (continued)

Pursuant to the Re-Amended and Restated Non-Competition
Deed, the Group will have the rights to participate in the REIT
Management Business for REITs with underlying properties
permitted to be situated in or come from all over the PRC on an
exclusive basis. In return, the Company (by itself or through its
subsidiaries) are entitled to receive cash and/or units in the REITs.
Other than the inclusion of the REIT Management Business and
the updates to the terms with respect to the Asset Management
Business for Office Premises in Beijing and Shanghai in order to
reflect the situation at the time of the completion of the Proposed
Transfer |, the other terms with respect to the (a) Non-Controlling
Investment Arrangement; (b) Asset Management Business for
Office Premises in Four CML Cities, Xi'an and Chonggiing plus
Beijing and Shanghai; and (c) Property Business of the Re-Amended
and Restated Non-Competition Deed remain unchanged
compared to the Amended and Restated Non-Competition Deed.

For details of the Non-Competition Deed and Operation
Transitional Assets, please refer to the section headed
“Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders” in the circular of
the Company dated 10 October 2013.

For details of the Amended and Restated Non-Competition
Deed, the Four CML Cities, Property Business, Non-Controlling
Investment Arrangement, the CMSK Cities, Asset Management
Business, the Proposed Transfer |, the Right of First Refusal and
the Unoccupied Cities, please refer to the circular of the Company
dated 10 January 2019.

For the details of the Re-Amended and Restated Non-Competition
Deed, REIT Management Business and REITs, please refer to the
circular of the Company dated 21 October 2019.
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NON-COMPETITION DEED (continued)

The independent board committee comprising all the independent
non-executive Directors of the Company, had (i) reviewed the
reports prepared by the Company’s management containing
latest information on the respective property projects portfolios
of CMSK Group and the Group; (ii) carried out a review on the
implementation of and compliance with Re-Amended and Restated
Non-Competition Deed by CMSK Group and the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2022; and (iii) confirmed that the terms of
the Re-Amended and Restated Non-Competition Deed had been
complied with by CMSK Group and the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

The Group will continue to operate its traditional property
development business in Guangzhou, Foshan, Nanjing, Jurong,
Chongging and Xi'an. Upon the annual review of the portfolio of the
Group's Property Business for the year ended 31 December 2022,
taking into account the financial resources available to the Group
at the relevant time and the relevant market conditions, the Group
decides to continue its Property Business in Chongging and Xi‘an
for the time being.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group had no plans authorised by the Board for material
investments or additions of capital assets as at the date of this
Report.

EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION AND
RELATIONS

The Group remunerates the employees by reference to their
qualifications, experience, responsibilities, profitability of the
Group and current market conditions.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 799 (2021: 962) employees
in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group determines its staff remuneration based on various
factors such as qualifications, length of service, market conditions
and performance of the individual employees. For the year ended
31 December 2022, the Company had no share option scheme in
effect.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

REBRERKKXE

This report covers the environmental policies and performance
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2022. The
Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance Report prepared
in accordance with Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”) will be published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange in due course.

GREEN CONSTRUCTION

We have combined the community and environment requirements
into the construction process and conducted investigations in
depth with our cooperative partners to improve construction
management and innovate construction technology. We would
consider using materials available from the neighborhood as much
as possible and to reduce the consumption of materials, energy
and water in the course of construction for creating a clear, clean,
comfortable and safe construction environment. Besides, we also
launched a “Harmonious Neighborhood Scheme” to extensively
collect the opinions from the residents who live nearby with an aim
to doing our best to reduce the effects of construction works on the
surrounding natural, cultural and social environments.

GREEN OFFICE

We have formulated the “Green action guide for employee” to
strengthen the daily management of energy saving and emission
reduction and carry out the education in every corner and to every
employee, making the idea of green development deeply rooted in
their mind to develop the habits of saving energy, water, papers, oil
and gas.

CO-OPERATION WITH INTERNATIONAL
ORGANISATIONS

We build up close ties and co-operative connections with
international organisations like UNEP, UNEP-SBCI, UNEP GI-REC,
WWEF to combine each other’s edges to promote the sustainable
development.
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SAFE AND CIVILISED CONSTRUCTION

The Company has set up a Safety Management Committee.
Each project has established its own safety management team to
proactively promote the standardised management of safe and
civilised construction so as to protect the health and safety of
every front line construction workers and back office staff with best
efforts.

REINFORCEMENT OF SAFE AND CIVILISED
CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT

We have strengthened the measures to achieve a safe and
standardised construction. We have organised and updated
management requirements and practices for safe and civilised
construction with a precise goal of safe and civilised construction
management. We have strengthened the investigation standard
for hidden dangers on-site. We carry out regular safety check
and introduce the assessment system for subcontractors in order
to ensure the worry-free construction. No fire accident, major
equipment safety and casualty accidents occurred during the year.

PURSUIT OF “ZERO” ENERGY WASTAGE IN
CONSTRUCTION

Following the consolidation process and with many years of
experience, we have gradually forged an ecological and high
efficient green technology system. The development model for
green construction was also upgraded into a comprehensive model
with combination of “Green Planning”, “
and “Energy Saving through Action” from the traditional technique

application. As early as in 2015, the Company built up a green

Technique Application”

research and development and application system named "“Green
Life+"” and issued the "Green Ranking Guide” and "Energy
Efficiency Management Guide” in order to continuously promote
the innovation and breakthrough of the green technology.

PROTECTING THE BIO-DIVERSITY

We have implemented the idea of protecting the bio-diversity
throughout the core process of our development and operation
and pay attention to protecting the original natural vegetation
and the habitats in the development zone during the process
of planning and project construction. Through these efforts, we
systematically repair the eco-system which is degenerated or
damaged by project development. In addition, by building the
landscape water system and seedling transplantation according
to location and situations, we can reduce the effects of project
development on local environment.
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EQUAL EMPLOYMENT AND DIVERSITY

Our recruitment principles are on the basis of fairness, justice and
transparency. We provide every employee an equal employment
opportunity. No employee will face differential treatment for their
gender, age, ethnicity or cultural background. We try our best effort
to provide an ideal career environment for their development.

Information on the gender representation of all employees
(including senior management), any plans or measurable targets
set by the Group to achieve gender diversity, and any factors
and circumstances that make achieving gender diversity more
challenging or less relevant for all employees (including senior
management) can be found in the Company’s Environmental,
Social and Governance Report. The Group currently employs at
least 30% of each gender. In order to maintain gender diversity,
the Group is committed to applying similar considerations in the
recruitment and sourcing of key management personnel and other
candidates in the Group's operations. In 2022, we maintained a
70:30 ratio of men to women (excluding directors) in our work
environment. Nevertheless, due to the nature of the work, gender
diversity is not very relevant to the Group's real estate development
business.

RIGHT PROTECTION OF CONSTRUCTION
WORKERS

The Company is highly concerned about the right protection of
the front line construction workers. It has incorporated a system to
evaluate the performance of potential suppliers in safeguarding
construction worker’s rights. In selecting partners, we have taken
into account the protective measures with our standard evaluation
system. We conduct regular checks and monitor contractors to
ensure they have complied with protective measures and have
adequately implemented the policies, with a view to safeguard the
rights of construction workers.

Wages Guarantee
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Safety Guarantee
ZERE

Require the general contractor to open a specialised
account for depositing of workers’ wages and deposit
the wages in advance
EXRTREADEARIATIERESE,  AFLE
RE®

Implement real-name system management for
workers, establish an alert mechanism for worker’s
wage and inspect regularly on the payment of worker’s
wage by the construction cooperation units

B IABRGIERE BUYIATEREHT - FH
BESERIEMNTATEERER

Deploy facilities for safety production and industrial
diseases protection pursuant to the requirements and
provide compliant protective equipment for workers
BRAERELEEMBERDERE AT AR
S EXRNLBERM

Construction unit must execute their works according
to construction practice guidelines on site, and simple
medical facility must be equipped on site
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Wages Guarantee

TERE

Safety Guarantee
ZE2RE

Require the general contractor to pay the wages
of its own workers in priority and consider this as
a compulsory check item in the annual review of
qualified suppliers
EXMIAABHELIMNMBEIALER  UAHESE
REEARETIELER

Strictly implement the Company’s three-tier safety
education system and prevent the occurrence of
workers attending for work without receiving the
three-tier safety education
BRATARAN=ZRELZEHEHNE  HBRE=&
REHEREE LHOBER

BUILDING UP RESPONSIBLE SUPPLY CHAIN

As the Company regards supply chain competitiveness as one of
the core corporate competitiveness, we have maintained supply
chain management strategy of balancing between quality and
efficiency. Through the standardised and specialised suppliers’
closed-loop management system and open communication sharing
mechanism between suppliers, we strived to build up a responsible
supply chain, to facilitate and strengthen for mutual interests with
the enterprises in the supply chain.

SAFEGUARD THE INTERESTS OF
SUPPLIERS

We have maintained a concept of purchasing under a transparent
and open regime, and hence we have strengthened tendering
process and enhanced the standardisation and specialisation of
tendering. We have strived to explore new paths for purchasing
information and have stringently complied with the contracts, and
have safeguarded the basic rights of suppliers with fairness, justice
and openness.

ASSESSMENT AND REVIEW OF SUPPLIERS

We highly recognised a long-term cooperation relationship
with our suppliers and has built up a positive cycle of general
purchasing, annual cooperation and strategic purchasing. We have
enhanced the comprehensiveness and closed-loop management
for certification, selection, examination and assessment towards
suppliers from different levels and types. We have identified and
fostered possible strategic relation with our suppliers through the
ERP Purchasing Management Platform.
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UPGRADE OF SUPPLIERS’ CAPABILITIES

The stable operation of the Company and long-term development
are supported by the high-quality supply chain, which also favors
the core concept of our corporation and implementation of our
social responsibilities. We will help the suppliers to enhance their
competitiveness, achieve a mutual development with suppliers and
create a continuous win-win approach and development through
various measures and activities. From unilateral examination to
bilateral examination, we invite professional consultant agency
to conduct satisfaction research to suppliers from engineering,
marketing, design and properties and put their feedback into the
evaluation of the project management. We also build a monthly
report system for key suppliers and have senior management
conducting on-site visit for key suppliers and regularly invite
outstanding partners to share their sophisticated experience in
order to mutually improve the ability to perform both parties’
duties. Meanwhile, we endeavor to cultivate strategic suppliers
with high quality for long-term cooperation. For those suppliers
with high quality, they will be registered in our selected unit
automatically and entitled to higher percentage of payments upon
goods delivered and awarded with public recognition. For existing
issues, we will sort out corresponding solutions one by one.

REMUNERATION BENEFITS

While ensuring the market competitiveness of our employees’
remunerations, we implement the remuneration system closely
linked with performance to further create an environment where
the interests of the Company and employees are aligned. Under
the principles of complying with the requirements of the laws and
regulations and providing our employees with assurance, we build
a comprehensive benefit system with multiple levels to ensure a
stable growth and development for our employees.
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DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

We embrace the core values of the Company to build an
appropriate talent development strategy and talent promotion
path, comprehensively promote a multi-level employees training
system, strive to provide a broad platform for employee’s
development and achieve the goal of enterprise development on
the basis of employee’s development.

EMPLOYEES’ DEVELOPMENT PATH

We emphasise the professional and occupational growth of
the employees, and we provide the employees with two major
development paths of managerial talent and professional technical
talent. Employees can choose the development path according
to their own career development direction incorporated with
the position requirement of the Company to realise a win-win
situation on both the Company's development and the employee’s
development.

STAFF TRAINING

We have been maximising the inputs on staff training and
accelerating the optimisation of staff training system. After years of
fulfillment, optimisation and innovation, we have developed a staff
training system with three main elements, which are leadership,
professional capability and general performance, in order to
provide a favorable platform for staff's development.

COMMUNICATION WITH EMPLOYEES

With a view to enhance communication between the staff and
the management, the Group requires every project company to
organise different types of face-to-face communication seminar
regularly throughout the year. Our staff can share their ideas and
needs to the management directly while they can get an instant
responses. Furthermore, it was a brilliant time for the management
to point out their objective and vision to their staff. These seminars
can strengthen both parties’ mutual understandings and break any
barriers between them.
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OPERATION IN COMPLIANCE WITH LAW

The Company strictly complies with the national laws and
regulations, international practices and business ethics, and fulfills
the theme of the central government and China Merchants Group
— “Three-Strictness and Three-Solidness (=& = &)" to strengthen
the practice of building and establishing the implementation of
responsibility and promote the culture of corruption-free and
prevention and punishment system comprehensively. We will
consciously accept the supervision from relevant authorities and
strive to become a good example of operating in compliance with
the law and with honesty and integrity.

The Company is concerned about the establishment of a corporate
legal advising system and has strengthened the legal culture
and research development. The Company has promoted the
compliance works and integration of operation management, so
as to enable the operation of the Company to be in compliance
with the applicable law requirements and contemporary corporate
governance requirements and interests from relevant parties.

We have introduced specific training programmes that meet with
industry’s requirement, with a view to enhance the legal awareness
of our employees, in particular the frontline staff.

We will introduce two-rounds of on-site inspections and promote
the legal risk awareness while building up the precaution
mechanism of legal disputes and achieving an efficient and in
advance control of legal risks.
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The Group has formulated policies such as “Compliance
Management Regulations”, “Anti-Money Laundering and

|u

Compliance Manual” and “Code of Conduct for Employees”,
and signed “Employee Integrity Performance Pledge” with
all employees and external suppliers to fully implement the
accountability and supervision mechanism for integrity building.
In addition, the Group has also established the “Code of Conduct
for Reporting Complaints”, which encourages employees to report
misconduct and violations of laws and regulations through the
compliance hotline and the compliance reporting mailbox, and
ensures that the information of the reporting party is handled
confidentially. In order to enhance the legal awareness of all staff,
especially frontline staff, the Group conducts thematic training
in line with the requirements of the industry and promotes in-
depth integrity education, including topics such as prohibition of
commercial bribery, anti-competitive practices, commercial secrets
and information security, in order to strengthen the awareness of
responsibility and anti-corruption of all staff.

The Group strictly complies with the laws and regulations in
Mainland China and Hong Kong that prevent bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering from having a significant impact on
the Group, and complies with international practices. During the
reporting period, the Group did not have any corruption cases filed
or concluded against the Group or the Group's employees.

STRENGTHENING RISK CONTROL

With a view to achieve strategic targets, we have developed a
risk management system on the basis of forward-looking and
systematised comprehensiveness, which can also serve as a
platform connecting to the risk management system of the
professional departments covering operating level and business
level. Meanwhile, we will gradually incorporate the non-financial
risks management systems, including environmental protection and
anti-corruption, into the comprehensive risk management system
and these can further reduce the potential risks in the operation
processes of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEHRSE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China
Merchants Land Limited (the “"Company”, and together with
its subsidiaries, the "Group”) are pleased to present to the
shareholders their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for year ended 31 December 2022
(the “Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES OF THE GROUP

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding,
together with the subsidiaries, are principally engaged in the
following activities:

()  development, sale, lease, investment and management of
properties;

(i)  assets management; and
(iii) investment holding.

Details of the Company's subsidiaries are set out in note 43 to the
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In accordance with Schedule 5 of the Companies Ordinance, a fair
review of the Group's business, the principal risks and uncertainties
to which the Group may be exposed, details of significant events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the
financial year and insights into the likely future development of
the Group's business (including, to the extent necessary for an
understanding of the development, performance or position of
the Group's business, an analysis of financial key performance
indicators) are set out in the “CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT"” and
“MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS” in this annual
report.

The Group's financial risk management objectives and policies are
set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

A discussion of the Group's environmental policies and
performance, the Group’s compliance with relevant legislation
and regulations that significantly affect the Group, and details
of the discussion of the Group’s key relationships with, among
others, employees, customers and suppliers and others who
have a significant impact on the Group and on whom the Group
depends for its success, are set out in the "ENVIRONMENTAL
POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE" section of this annual report,
the Company's separately published “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report”, and this “Directors’ Report”.

Information on compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group is set out in this Directors’
Report. The review forms part of this statement.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT
LAWS AND REGULATIONS THAT HAVE A
SIGNIFICANT IMPACT ON THE COMPANY

Throughout the Year, to the best of their knowledge, information
and belief, the Directors were not aware of any non-compliance
by the Company with any relevant laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group's five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of total purchases.

Aggregate sales attributable to the Group's five largest customers
were less than 30% of total turnover.

As far as the Directors are aware of, neither the Directors, their
close associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Listing Rules")), nor any shareholders which, to the knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company'’s issued share
capital, had any interest in the Group's five largest customers or
suppliers.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Group's profit for the Year and the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group as at that date are set out in the
financial statements on page 117.

The board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK$0.03 (equivalent to approximately RMB0.027) per share in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2022, representing a
total payment of approximately HK$147,158,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB132,442,000). The proposed final dividend is
subject to the approval of the relevant resolution at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the company to be held, the final
dividend is expected to be paid on or about 30 June 2023 to
shareholders.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

The Directors consider that the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to RMB1,413,573,000 (2021:
RMB1,260,771,000). Under the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium of the Company is available for paying
distributions or dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions
of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and provided that
immediately following the distribution of dividend the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
financial statements and restated as appropriate, is set out on
page 292. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company'’s share capital during the
Year are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

A 2 IR
ARARAEERERN 2 GBS D F RN A B
BHE -

/|

EERAE ARAHSERTHREZEHAA
R#1,413573000 c (BB —% : AR
1,260,771,0007T) - IRIBFSEBHESRRE - ARAElZ
BHaEARREENIEADIRSME - HEETHE
HEHMEEANELRMBZETE - BARBEREREIRN
SRR BEINERENENER —REBKBIEP 2 H
2B .

M - BENRE
e DEN- T L St
B BEMIE14 o

HEHENGZE

REYE
REFEIKEMERFAN 2 FEFBENEGZRES P BRE
MEE16 ©

LEMBENBE
AEENBEREMEFE 2 ETREERAERS
WHEE (A CBRMBHRE  YEBEBRTE
51) MR HE292E - RMBELIFEERM B RR A
s -

EEEN
ARTRARFNZ BB ERRNGRA M REM
30

T FFR HBEREMBRAR 63



BONDS AND DEBENTURES

During the Year, the Group has no outstanding bonds and did not
issue any debentures.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Year.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement scheme of the Group are set out in note 35
to the consolidated financial statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company's securities.

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group had not made any donation.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of
this report were:

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. XU Yongjun (Chairman)

Mr. HUANG Junlong

Ms. LIU Ning (resigned on 3 February 2023)

Mr. YU Zhiliang (re-designated on 3 February 2023)

Executive Directors:

Dr. SO Shu Fai
Mr. WONG King Yuen
Ms. CHEN Yan (appointed on 3 February 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert
Ms. CHEN Yanping

Dr. SHI Xinping

Mr. HE Qi

In accordance with Article 116 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. YU Zhiliang, Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert,
Ms. CHEN Yan and Dr. SHI Xinping shall retire at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting ("AGM"). All the above retiring Directors,
being eligible, shall offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from each of the independent non- executive Directors pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Insurance cover in respect of liability against the Directors arising
from their offices and execution of their powers, duties and
responsibilities has been arranged and in force during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other
than normal statutory obligations.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of each
Director and chief executives of the Company in the shares or
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Future Ordinance (Chapter 571) of the Laws of Hong Kong (the
"SFO")) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions in which he was deemed or taken to
have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
maintained by the Company referred to therein, or which were
required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:
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Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company KAEEBR TR
Percentage of
the Company'’s
Number of issued
ordinary share capital
Name of director Nature of interest shares held EERATE
EENE ERME L BEREE BITRAB DL
SO Shu Fai Through controlled corporations (Note) 32,054,066 0.65%

FaRiapd =R /NI P SR )

Note: These shares were directly held by Skill China Limited (“Skill China”), which is
owned as to 90% by Dr. SO Shu Fai, an executive Director of the Company, and
10% by Mr. SO Man Cho, the son of Dr. SO Shu Fai. By virtue of Part XV of the
SFO, Dr. SO Shu Fai is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Skill China.
Skill China is a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (continued)

Long positions in underlying shares of associated
corporation

BERSRITHRAERA R TR E K
EERG - HEROREFEERER
KB )

MBS EB AR RGN < A

Approximately

Number of percentage (%)

underlying in the

Shares associated

involved™et corporation

Name of director Nature of interest &l AREEE 2

HEnR EatE IRt 88 BAE D (%)

XU Yongjun Beneficial owner 359,466* 0.00%
FFKE BEmAAEA

HUANG Junlong Beneficial owner 124,000* 0.00%
s EmfEB A

LIU Ning Beneficial owner 148,601* 0.00%
2z BEmAAEA

YU Zhiliang Beneficial owner 11,653* 0.00%
RER EmfEB A

Note*: These are interests in associated corporation, CMSK, an indirect controlling
shareholder.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had any interest or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including the interests and short positions in
which they were deemed or taken to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or which are required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register maintained by the Company referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained
in the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS
TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Apart from the information as disclosed under the heading
"DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS", at no time during the Year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any of the Directors or
their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; nor was the Company, its holding company, or
any of its subsidiary corporations or fellow subsidiary corporations a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or their respective
spouses or minor children to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, the following interests of 5% or more
of the issued share capital of the Company were recorded in the
register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO:

RHESREROREZ 225

R IEFEREMITBRABNARRKERREE 2K
o~ BB REFZBERAR IBREZEMI
FREMSEREREMNEETRER B ZABHRK
FFARHERBEARBARNAEFESFN D 2%
A WERBETEEMAREEN  AAR - HiER
A E TP B A B 3k R F B8 A B I R RT S 3K
FEELEE B ZRBRARKF F LR EMEM LR F
EEESHRBEN ZEMTHE -

TERREEMALTRART RO K
RO 2 ERERAR

RZEBE-—_F+_A=+—H ' THRARFDET
FEA 5% e A FRE S B R SR IR IR 5 55 M HA 1K)
FIBEARFIBEFEZ EELMA -

Percentage of
the Company'’s

Number of ordinary shares held issued share

Capacity and nature FEEERYE capital
Name of interest Long position Short position  {hARATE BT
£ BORERME wE RE [N
China Merchants Group Ltd. ("CMG") Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
BRREEARAR([RERER]) B AV/NCIEE =]
China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone ~ Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
Holdings Co., Ltd. (“CMSK")
BB TERZERBRNOER AT HXEHAREE
(MMBawn))
Eureka Investment Company Limited Through controlled corporations 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%
("Eureka”)
hRRAEEERAR([HE]) BMXEHAREE
Success Well Investments Limited Beneficial interest 3,646,889,329 - 74.35%

("Success Well")

RERBBRAR([HE])
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

As at 31 December 2022, approximately 74.35% of the issued share
capital of the Company is directly held by Success Well. Success
Well is 20% and 80% owned by Good Ease Holdings Limited
("Good Ease”) and Eureka respectively. Good Ease was wholly-
owned by Eureka, which was in turn wholly-owned by CMSK. CMG
directly or indirectly owned more than 63% of the issued share
capital of CMSK, and CMG is owned and controlled by the SASAC
of the PRC.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, no person other
than the Directors and chief executives of the Company whose
interests are set out in the section "INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS OF THE DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS” above, had
registered an interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS AND
DIRECTORS’ CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

During the Year, no transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance in relation to the Group's business to which the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiary corporations
was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director has
received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of
a contract made by the Company or a related company with
the Director or with a firm of which he is a shareholder or with a
company in which he has a substantial financial interest.
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CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed "CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS" (except for connected transactions at the
subsidiary level), “"CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS”
and "NON-COMPETITION DEED" (each if applicable) in this
annual report, there were no contract of significance between any
member of the Group and the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
contract of significance for the provision of services to any member
of the Group by a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
subsisted as at the end of the Year or during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year, all Directors declared that they do not have
interests in the businesses, which compete or are likely to compete,
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group pursuant to
the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Group determines its staff remuneration based on various
factors such as qualifications, length of service, market conditions
and performance of the individual employees. For the year ended
31 December 2022, the Company had no share option scheme in
effect.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

M

Reference is made to and as disclosed in the Offering
Circular of the CMC REIT dated 28 November 2019 that
(i) CMC REIT was constituted by the Trust Deed entered
into on 15 November 2019 between China Merchants Land
Asset Management Co., Limited (the “"CMLAM") (as the
REIT Manager), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and the Trustee, and (i) following the completion
of the global offering of the units of CMC REIT, Eureka
Investment Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CMSK, being a controlling shareholder of the Company,
would become a holder of the units of CMC REIT holding
more than 30% of the issued units of CMC REIT. CMLAM
has been providing the REIT Management Services to CMC
REIT pursuant to the terms of the Trust Deed. Since CMSK
is a connected person of the Company by virtue of being a
controlling shareholder of the Company, CMC REIT is deemed
as an associate of CMSK under the Listing Rules, the REIT
Management Services provided by CMLAM to CMC REIT
under the Trust Deed constitutes a continuing connected
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The annual cap for the transaction under the Trust Deed set for
the year of 2022 was RMB56.2 million.

More details, including the annual caps, are disclosed
in the Announcement dated 28 November 2019 and the
supplemental announcement dated 25 March 2020 of the
Company. On 21 December 2021, the Company made an
announcement to provide details of the new annual caps for
the REIT Management Transaction under the Trust Deed for
each of the three financial years ending 31 December 2024.

OPERATION AGREEMENT 2022

On 31 December 2021, the Company entered into the
Operation Agreement 2022 with CMSK pursuant to which
the Group will provide project operational support services
to CMSK, including but not limited to taking charge of land
acquisition, project development and sales, commencing from
1 January 2022 up to 31 December 2024 (both days inclusive).
CMSK is the controlling shareholder of the Company
holding approximately 74.35% of the issued share capital of
the Company, and therefore is a connected person of the
Company pursuant to Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules.

The annual cap for the transaction under the Operation
Agreement 2022 was set at RMB 60 million for the year of 2022.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 31 December 2021.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

3)

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT MASTER AGREEMENT 2022

On 31 December 2021, the Company also entered into
the Property Management Master Agreement 2022 with
Merchants Property Management Co., Ltd.* (BERWEE
AR AF]) (“Merchants Property Management”) pursuant
to which Merchants Property Management, a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of CMSK, will provide property management
services to the Group’s PRC operating subsidiaries, from 1
January 2022 up to 31 December 2024 (both days inclusive).

The annual cap for the transaction under the Property
Management Master Agreement 2022 was set at RMB142.5
million for the year of 2022.

Merchants Property Management is a non wholly-owned
subsidiary of CMSK, the controlling shareholder of the
Company indirectly holding approximately 74.35% of the total
issued share capital of the Company. Merchants Property
Management, therefore, is an associate of CMSK and
accordingly a connected person of the Company pursuant to
Rule 14A.13(1) of the Listing Rules.

Details including the annual caps, of both Operation
Agreement 2022 and Property Management Master
Agreement 2022, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 31 December 2021.

CAR PARKING SPACES UNDERWRITING FRAMEWORK
AGREEMENT

On 6 May 2022, the Company entered into the Car Parking
Spaces Underwriting Framework Agreement with Shenzhen
China Merchants Real Estate Consulting Co., Ltd. (&I
BB EEMBABRAT) (“SZ CML Real Estate Consulting”),
pursuant to which SZ CML Real Estate Consulting (and its
subsidiaries and branches) shall exclusively manage the sale
of not more than 6,000 Car Parking Spaces owned by the
Company or its subsidiaries during 6 May 2022 to 5 May
2023 (the "Effective Period”) and upon expiry of the Effective
Period, the remaining Car Parking Spaces that have not been
sold shall be purchased by SZ CML Real Estate Consulting.

The proposed annual cap for the transactions contemplated
under the Car Parking Spaces Underwriting Framework
Agreement shall be RMB130,000,000 for the period from é May
2022 to 5 May 2023.

72 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2022

BERERS®)

(€)

(4)

MBI AR £2022

R-ZT-—4F+-A=+—H AQAAINEH
HRMEEEBRAT([BERYWEEE ]
UETEAERZR2022  FEitt - BEEONE
BB AR RAMEERFE S __F —
A—RARBEZ-_Z-_NWF+_A=+—HIL(E
EEEMA)MASENPBBIEANEL WE AT
IRHEMEEE R ©

MEERRIHZ2022BTZRHGR_F_Z
M4 L IRIE R E 5 AR5 142,500,0007T °

TPERYMEERRARAANZERBREEE A
MR EHBAR - AEREORARFEEET
MR A B R B 4)74.35% s - B - 48
BRYEEERMBELANBEA - BRE L
MARAE14AIZ(DE - REARRNEEAL -

BAEE S #2022 2 ) % E IR 42 17 202289 F
ELEREAZFHE  FL2HARFAAHA-ZT
——f+-A=t+—HzA%-

FEBEABIFERDZE

RZZFZ=—FRANHE  AQREZRIITEE
EXEMERABN(ARINBHEEEMB I
EEAPEIERRE Bt RINBEHEEE
M(REWNBARMY I RE) ER T =_—4F
RARNBE-ZE-_=4RARB(IHEMBA])
NEMEERAARSEMNBARBEENTZR
6,000BFEEMAHEESE - RENAEME -
TR E H MR EL KB R B R E R
i o

R-E-_—_FRANBE-_ZE_=FHAHH
i FEUBHEEERZEE NRETRESHN
EHFE LR A AR 130,000,0007T °



CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

@

(continued)

SZ CML Real Estate Consulting is an indirect non wholly-
owned subsidiary of CMSK, the controlling shareholder of
the Company indirectly holding approximately 74.35% of
the total issued share capital of the Company. SZ CML Real
Estate Consulting, therefore, is an associate of CMSK and
accordingly a connected person of the Company pursuant to
Rule 14A.13(1) of the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 6 May 2022 and 24 May 2022.

OFFICE PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AGREEMENTS

On 30 June 2022, Shanghai Bangxin Enterprise Management
Co. Ltd.* (LB HMEEEIEAXBABERAF) (“Shanghai
Bangxin”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the Office Property Management
Agreement A with Shanghai China Merchants Plaza Real
Estate Co. Ltd.* (EBHERESEEBR AT (“CM Plaza”)
and Office Property Management Agreement B with Shanghai
China Merchants Building Co. Ltd.* (L' 8HBEBAEARA
7)) (“CM Building"), respectively, pursuant to which Shanghai
Bangxin shall be the exclusive manager of the projects
(namely, the Shanghai China Merchants Plaza* (E/8HRERE
%) and Shanghai China Merchants Building* (/838 BAE))
providing services of, among others, business management,
leasing promotion, leasing management system authorization
and human resources respectively to CM Plaza and CM
Building during 30 June 2022 to 29 June 2025 (the "Operation
Period”).
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

©)

(continued)

The aggregated annual cap for the transactions contemplated
under the Office Property Management Agreement A and
Office Property Management Agreement B for the period
from 30 June 2022 to 31 December 2022 was set at RMB 10
million.

Each of CM Plaza and CM Building is an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of CMSK, the controlling shareholder of
the Company indirectly holding approximately 74.35% of the
total issued share capital of the Company. Both CM Plaza and
CM Building, therefore, are associates of CMSK pursuant to
Rule 14A.13(1) of the Listing Rules and accordingly connected
persons of the Company under the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 30 June 2022.

74  China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2022

R

(5)

3&% (ma)

(&)

R —FNAZ+HE_ZT-_—F+_A
=T—HHE  BAEMEERBBRARPLRE
MEEEREBE N HETRINEE LRASE
& E A ARE10,000,0007T °

BERESLAEREANES SR O MREE
FEEMBLAR  MBRMEASBEREAR
RIE#ITIRALRRLT74.35% 89 78 1~ 72 B Ak

R Wit - REEMRE14A130E - HE
RESEEBBAERBEEOZEEA  HE

SRR EHARAARAB ZBEAL

2RARRBEMR-_T__FRA=THEH
F A TERBREFE -

B g



CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

©)

OFFICE PROPERTY MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT
AND OFFICE PROPERTY LEASING AGENCY SERVICE
AGREEMENT

On 15 September 2022, Shanghai Bangxin, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the Office
Property Management Agreement with Shanghai Pujun Real
LEREFMERBERERAD
A]) (“Shanghai Pujun”), pursuant to which Shanghai Bangxin

Estate Development Co. Ltd.* (

shall be the exclusive manager of the project of Shanghai
(E/BFREIZEA) providing services of, among
others, (i) business management to Shanghai Pujun for a

Senlan Meihuan*

term commencing on 15 September 2022 and ending on 31
December 2022 and (i) leasing promotion as further stipulated
in the Office Property Leasing Agency Service Agreement.

On 15 September 2022, Shanghai Bangxin also entered into
the Office Property Leasing Agency Service Agreement with
Shanghai Pujun, pursuant to which Shanghai Bangxin agreed
to provide leasing agency services for the Project to Shanghai
Pujun for a term commencing on 15 September 2022 and
ending on 14 September 2025.

The aggregated annual cap for the Office Property
Management Agreement and the Office Property Leasing
Agency Service Agreement for the period from 15 September
2022 to 31 December 2022 was set at RMB 2.5 million.

Shanghai Pujun is beneficially held as to 60% equity interests
by CMSK, the controlling shareholder of the Company
indirectly holding approximately 74.35% of the total issued
share capital of the Company. Shanghai Pujun, therefore, is
an associate of CMSK pursuant to Rule 14A.13(3) of the Listing
Rules and accordingly a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 15 September 2022.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
transactions had been entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of the business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
and on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the Company and the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740, Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The Board has received an unqualified
letter from the auditors of the Company in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules containing the auditors’ findings and
conclusion on the above continuing connected transactions of the
Group, stating that the auditors have not noticed anything that
causes them to believe that any of these continuing connected
transactions: (a) have not been approved by the Board; (b) were
not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies
of the Group if the transactions involve the provision of goods or
services by the Group; (c) were not entered into in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing such continuing connected
transactions in all material aspects; and (d) have exceeded the
relevant annual caps for the financial year ended 31 December
2022.

Save as the aforesaid, there were no other discloseable non-
exempted connected transaction or non-exempted continuing
connected transaction under the Listing Rules during the Year.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Details of material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures made by the Company during the
year 2022 are set out in notes 31 to 34 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Save as aforesaid, none of the “Related Party Disclosures” as
disclosed in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements
for the Year constituted discloseable non-exempted connected
transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction
under the Listing Rules.

To the extent of the above “Related Party Disclosures” constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in the Listing Rules, the Company had complied with the
relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
during the Year.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Save as disclosed below, the Directors are not aware of any
circumstances which would be required to disclose herein pursuant
to the requirements under Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

e On 22 June 2021, the Company entered into a loan agreement
with a bank in relation to a term loan facility of up to
RMB1,950,000,000. The loan facility has a term of 36 months
commencing from the date of first drawdown.

e  On 8 December 2021, the Company entered into a facility
agreement with certain banks in relation to a revolving
loan facility in the principal amount of HK$1,600,000,000
(which may be subsequently increased to not more than
HK$3,600,000,000). The loan facility has a term of 36 months
commencing from the date of the facility agreement.

e On 30 May 2022, the Company entered into a facility letter
with a bank in relation to a revolving loan facility of up to
RMB1,000,000,000. The loan facility has a term of three years
from the date of acceptance of the facility letter.

e On 24 June 2022, the Company entered into a facility letter
with a bank in relation to a revolving loan facility of up to
HK$1,000,000,000. The term of the loan facility is 36 months
from the date of first utilization of the loan facility.
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS
OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER (continued)

The following events (among other things) would trigger breach of

one or more of the above mentioned loan agreements:

Vi.

Vii.

viil.

the Company ceases to be the indirect subsidiary of CMSK; or
(i) each of CMSK and the Company fails to maintain its listing
status;

The State Council of the People’s Republic of China does not
or ceases to own, directly or indirectly, at least 50% of the
beneficial shareholding in CMG;

CMG does not or ceases to: i. own, directly or indirectly, at
least 51% of the beneficial shareholding in any of CMSK free
from mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other security interest
securing any obligation of any person or any other agreement
or arrangement having a similar effect (each, a “Security”); or
ii. maintain management control over any of CMSK and the
Company;

CMSK does not or ceases to: i. own, directly or indirectly, at
least 51% of the beneficial shareholding in the Company, free
from any Security; or ii. maintain management control over the
Company;

CMG and entities acting in concert with it ceases to continue
to be the largest single shareholder of the Company;

CMSK fails to remain a listed company on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (the “SZEX") or is suspended from trading on the
SZEX for a period of more than fifteen (15) consecutive trading
days;

CMSK fails to maintain its direct or indirect shareholding in the
Company of not less than 50%; or

CMG fails to maintain its direct or indirect shareholding in
CMSK of not less than 50%.

Details of the above mentioned loan agreements made pursuant to

the requirements of Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules were disclosed in

the announcements of the Company and the subsequent interim/

annual report of the Company respectively.

As at 31 December 2022, the outstanding principal of loans

owed by the Group under the above loan agreements were
approximately RMB6,950.43 million.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the Year, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or existed.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosure in this report, the Company has not entered into
any equity-linked agreements for the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The composition and functions of the Audit Committee are set out
in the section headed "CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT” -
“"AUDIT COMMITTEE".

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Company is committed to maintaining a sound system of
internal controls. Corporate Governance Details of the corporate
governance are set out in the section headed “"Corporate
Governance Report”in this annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu audited the Group's consolidated
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2022,
31 December 2021, 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in the
auditors of the Company during the past three years.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has expressed its willingness to
accept re-appointment as independent auditor of the Company.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire and a resolution for their re-
appointment as auditor shall be proposed at the forthcoming AGM
of the Company.
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SUFFICIENT PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
with the knowledge of the Directors, the Company had maintained
sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital as at the date of this report.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
XU Yongjun
Chairman

Hong Kong
15 March 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TXRERB®SE

The Board (the “Board”) of Directors (the “Directors”) of China
Merchants Land Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group")) are pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group's annual
report for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year").

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board considers that a sound corporate governance of
the Company is the core to safeguarding the interests of the
shareholders of the Company and enhancing the performance of
the Group. The Board reviews its corporate governance practices
from time to time in order to meet the rising expectations of
shareholders and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in
corporate governance.

During the Year, the Company has adopted, for corporate
governance purposes, the principles and the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “HK CG Code") contained in the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (collectively, the
“Listing Rules”).

The Company has complied with the HK CG Code (to the extent
that such provisions are applicable) except for below deviations
from code provisions B.2.2, C.1.6 and F.2.2 of the HK CG Code
which are explained in the relevant paragraphs of this report.
The Company will continue to enhance its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of its businesses
and to review such practices from time to time to ensure that they
comply with the HK CG Code.

Code Provision B.2.2 stipulates that every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. All Directors do not
have specific terms of appointment. However, all of them are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general
meeting according to the Company’s articles of association.
The Board considers that the requirement has the same effect
of accomplishing the same objective as a specific term of
appointment.
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COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE (continued)

Code Provision C.1.6 stipulates that independent non-executive
Directors and other non-executive Directors should attend general
meetings, to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the
views of shareholders. Mr. Xu Yongjun and Ms. Liu Ning (then), both
are, the non-executive director, did not attend the annual general
meeting (the “"AGM") of the Company held on 26 May 2022 due
to other business engagement. However, there were sufficient
Directors, including executive Directors, independent non-
executive Directors and non-executive Director, present to enable
the Board to develop a balanced understanding of the views of the
Company'’s shareholders.

Code Provision F.2.2 stipulates that the chairman of the Board
should attend the annual general meeting. Mr. Xu Yongjun,
the chairman of the Board, could not attend the AGM held on
26 May 2022 due to other business engagement. However, he
had appointed Mr. Huang Junlong, a non-executive Director as
his alternate director who presided at the AGM and answered
questions for shareholders of the Company.

Corporate Strategy, Business Model and Culture

The Board of Directors of the Company pursues higher vision,
values and strategies of the Company, taking into account both
long-term and short-term corporate values, and requires the
establishment and promotion of a corporate culture of “acting
legally, ethically and responsibly”, which is reviewed and updated
on a regular or occasional basis. For more information on corporate
performance, development and future business strategies, please
refer to the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” sections of this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE (continued)

Rationale for not publishing quarterly results

The Company publishes quarterly operating data, which includes
key business information such as contracted sales amount and
area. Our reasons for not publishing quarterly results after careful
consideration are:

Quarterly reports are not meaningful to the Company'’s
shareholders;

- Quarterly reports tend to give a short term view of the
Company's business performance;

—  The Company does not operate on a three-month cycle and
therefore we should not disclose information on such a cycle to
allow investors to judge our performance; and

—  There are costs associated with the preparation of quarterly
reports, including the cost of time spent by the Board of
Directors and management in preparing quarterly reports.

THE BOARD
Composition

The composition of the Board and the categories of Directors
and the names of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“"DIRECTORS’ REPORT" - “DIRECTORS” in this annual report. The
personal particulars of each Director are set out in the “DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE” section of this annual
report, which is also available on the Company’s website.

Diversity

The current Board of Directors includes directors from various
fields with professional backgrounds including real estate, trading,
finance and accounting, etc. Meanwhile, eight of the directors
are male and two are female, aged between 43 and 71, four of
whom have doctoral or professorial degrees, and all of them have
experience as directors of listed companies, which shows that the
current Board of Directors is able to achieve diversity.

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the strategic leadership and control
of the Group to maximize returns for shareholders, while giving
due consideration to the interests of the Group's business partners
and other parties. The achievement of the Company's business
objectives and the day-to-day operations of the business are the
responsibility of the Group’s senior management.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Responsibilities (continued)

In accordance with the Memorandum and Articles of Association of
the Company and subject to the relevant laws and regulations, the
Board may exercise a number of reserved powers, including but not
limited to:

- Maintaining and promoting the culture of the company
—  Developing long-term strategies

- Approving various announcements, including financial
statements

—  Undertaking all major investment decisions

—  Authorising significant capital structure changes and material
borrowings

- lIssuing or repurchasing securities of equity companies under
the relevant general mandates

-  Developing and review significant policies, including the
board'’s diversity policy, to ensure that the board has the
appropriate skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
and views required by the company’s business

-~ Reviewing the operational and financial performance of the
business

- Reviewing the effectiveness of the group’s corporate
governance policies and disclosure, legal and regulatory
requirements, risk management and internal control systems,
and recommend to the Board of Directors

- Ensuring the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budgets for staff in the
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions of
the company

- Overseeing sustainability issues, including overseeing the
company’s materiality assessment with respect to ESG;
ensuring the proper and ongoing implementation of ESG
policies; and promoting a top-down culture of decision
making that incorporates ESG considerations into the
business.

84 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2022

EE20m)

BE (&)
READEHSIRAMRMAN R TEREEEEER
WART EERATESEREES - BEETR
A

- HBREDREXE

=3

- RERHERE  BREMBEHER

- AEREIENRERRK

- BREANEARBEGREZNER

- REEBENH - MERBRITKEBRARR]E
%

- HIEMRHIZREARREREETE S TR
R NERESSABRAAEEATHNEER
B KBREEZENBHEAAE

- RAEHLERVPBRR

- BEEEECETANERRE ARREE
A ARE R R RSB RN ARILE T
GERE S

- BERARESH  AEESRLMBERBES
HNER BITEERER URBIMES
HIEIRIERTAEEE B

- EEVUHEREREFE SREEARRBRESG
HEMEZERE - BRESGHR R EREM KT
BEN AREEHERM THBRESGEEMA
EIFHPRE L



THE BOARD (continued)
Responsibilities (continued)

The Board is in charge to promote the success of the Group by
directing and supervising its affairs in a responsible and effective
manner. Each Director has a duty to act in good faith in the best
interests of the Company. The Directors are aware of their collective
and individual responsibilities to all shareholders of the Group
for the manner in which the affairs of the Company are managed,
controlled and operated. A Director is required to keep abreast
of his responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct, business
activities and development of the Group.

The Board is also responsible for providing guidance to overall
management of the businesses and affairs of the Group. To
facilitate effective management, certain functions have been
delegated to various Board committees, namely Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee, each
of which has its own written terms of reference and whose actions
are reported to and monitored by the Board. The effectiveness of
each committee is also constantly monitored.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the HK CG Code. During the Year, the Board has reviewed the
corporate governance policy and the Company’s internal codes for
securities dealing. The Board will review, consider and determine
the appropriate policy for corporate governance of the Company
from time to time.

Non-executive Directors have the same duties of care and skill
and fiduciary duties as executive Directors. The functions of non-
executive Directors have included the functions as specified in the
code provision C.1.2 of the HK CG Code.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has delegated functions that are necessary and
incidental to carrying out the decision of the Board or to facilitate
the day-to-day operation of the Group in the ordinary course
of business to the senior management and divisional heads of
different units.

Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated by the
Board to senior management include execution of business
strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board, implementation
of adequate internal controls and risk management procedures,
and compliance with relevant statutory requirements and rules and
regulations.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Board meetings

The attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the

Board, the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the

Remuneration Committee during the Year are set out below:
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Audit Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee
E=g EREESR REZEE FMEES
Number of meeting held during the Year F£RZB{TEEZXH 4 3 1 1
Non-executive Directors HHITEE
Mr. XU Yongjun (Note 1) FKBRE (M) 1/4 - 11 -
Mr. HUANG Junlong wmHELAE 4/4 - - 11
Ms. LIU Ning AEL+ 4/4 3/3 - -
Executive Directors HITEE
Dr. SO Shu Fai HEES L 4/4 - - -
Mr. YU Zhiliang RERTE 4/4 - - -
Mr. WONG King Yuen BRI E 4/4 - - -
Independent non-executive Directors BUFHITEE
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert ToEEL 4/4 3/3 - 1/1
Ms. CHEN Yanping BR#CT AL 4/4 - 71 7
Dr. SHI Xinping LETEEL 4/4 3/3 11 -
Mr. HE Qi MEEE 4/4 - - -
Notes: Mt -
(1) Due to business affairs, Mr. XU could not attend three of Board meetings held (1) BEREKER TEEAREHERFARTHN=ZAEZEY

during the year. Mr. XU had appointed Mr. HUANG Junlong or Ms. LIU Ning to
act as his alternate to attend the Board meetings held.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Board meetings (continued)

Minutes of the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee were recorded in
sufficient details of matters considered at the meetings and
decisions reached including any concerns or dissenting views raised
by the Directors. All the minutes are kept by the company secretary
and are open for inspection at any time on reasonable notice given
by any Director.

Directors can access to the advice and services of the company
secretary to ensure that Board procedures and applicable rules and
regulations are followed.

In addition, all Directors are regularly updated on corporate
governance and regulatory matters. On a continuing basis,
Directors are encouraged to keep up to date on all matters
relevant to the Group and attend briefings and seminars as
appropriate. Guideline is available for Directors to obtain
independent professional advice at the expense of the Company
in the furtherance of their duties. The Company has also arranged
appropriate liability insurance cover in respect of legal action
against its Directors.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Mr. XU Yongjun, a non-executive Director, is the chairman of the
Board. The chairman is responsible for leading the Board to ensure
its effectiveness on all aspects of its role and set its agenda.

Mr. Yu Zhiliang, who was re-designated from an executive Director
to a non-executive Director on 3 February 2023, resigned as the
General Manager of the Company with effect from 3 February 2023.

Mr. Wong King Yuen, an executive Director, took over as the
General Manager of the Company with effect from 3 February 2023.

The General Manager of the Company is responsible for the
strategic development and operational planning of the Group, in
particular the day-to-day operation of the Company’s business, and
performs the same duties as the Chief Executive Officer. Therefore,
the Company considers that the written rules and regulations of the
Company have embodied the division of responsibilities between
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
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TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and that he/she is fully
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

The Directors are responsible for their own training needs and
report to the Company. The Company will provide suitable training
course for the Directors at the Company's expenses.

The Directors are continually updated on the legal and regulatory
developments, as well as business and market changes, to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities. During the Year, all Directors
have complied with code provision C.1.4 of the HK CG Code to
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills by attending seminars, in-house
briefings or reading materials on the following topics:
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Attending seminars/
Reading materials in 2022
SECCFSHEEHRE BEME

Non-executive Directors FHITEE
Mr. XU Yongjun KB R E
Mr. HUANG Junlong sl
Ms. LIU Ning FEL A+
Executive Directors HITEE
Dr. SO Shu Fai Lyl
Mr. YU Zhiliang RERKE
Mr. WONG King Yuen HFRREE
Independent non-executive Directors BUFBTEE
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert EoxiEEL
Ms. CHEN Yanping PRAE 22+
Dr. SHI Xinping SEFFIEL
Mr. HE Qi AL
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SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Directors are provided in a timely manner with appropriate
information in such form and of such quality as will enable them
to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities as Directors of the Company.

In respect of regular Board meetings, and so far as practicable in all
other cases, an agenda and accompanying Board papers are sent in
full to all Directors in a timely manner and at least three days before
the intended date of a Board meeting.

Management is aware that they have an obligation to supply
the Board and its committees with adequate information in a
timely manner to enable them to make informed decisions. The
information supplied must be complete and reliable. The Board
and each Director have separate and independent access to the
Company'’s senior management for making further enquires where
necessary.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprised of the following members:

Independent non-executive Director:

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman)
Dr. SHI Xinping (Member)

Non-executive Director

Ms. LIU Ning (Member) (resigned on 3 February 2023)
Mr. YU Zhiliang (Member) (appointed on 3 February 2023)

Most of them are independent non-executive Directors. Dr. WONG
Wing Kuen, Albert has the appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Board considers that Dr. SHI Xinping, Ms. LIU Ning and Mr. YU
Zhiliang have sufficient financial knowledge and experience
to discharge their responsibilities as members of the Audit
Committee. None of the members of the Audit Committee is a
former partner of the Company’s existing external auditor.

The Audit Committee adopted its revised terms of reference in
January 2019 which is applicable to the Company’s accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The Audit Committee
is responsible for reviewing the Group's corporate governance,

financial reporting, internal control and risk management.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

Its key functions include:

reviewing the audit plans and results of the external auditor
of the Company and the internal auditor’s evaluation of the
adequacy of the Company's system of internal controls, the
audit reports and management letters issued by the external
auditor and the co-operation given by the Company’s
management to the external auditor;

making recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditor and internal
auditor, and to review the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor;

reviewing the nature and extent of non-audit services provided
by the external auditor;

reviewing cost effectiveness and the independence and
objectivity of the external auditor;

reviewing the significant financial reports so as to ensure
the integrity of the financial statements of the Company and
focus in particular on the changes in accounting policies and
practices, major risk areas, significant adjustments resulting
from the audit and compliance with financial reporting
standards;

reviewing interim and annual financial statements and

announcements before submission to the Board for approval;

and

reviewing effectiveness of the Company’s material internal
controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management and reviews the findings of the
internal auditor of the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

The Audit Committee shall hold at least two regular meetings
in a year. The Audit Committee focuses not only on the impact
of the changes in accounting polices and practices but also on
the compliance with accounting standards, the Listing Rules and
relevant legal requirements.

The Audit Committee has not taken a different view from the Board
regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of
the Company'’s external auditor.

The Company'’s annual results for the year ended 31 December
2022 published on 15 March 2023 was reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held meetings thrice and has
performed the following duties:

- met with the executive Directors and management of the
Company to review the interim and annual results, the interim
report and annual report and other financial, internal control,
corporate governance and risk management matters of the
Group and made recommendations to the Board;

- considered and discussed the reports and presentations by
the senior management and the external auditor, with a view
to ensure that the Group's consolidated financial statements
are prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong;

- met with the external auditor without the presence of
management and discussed about the interim financial report
and its annual audit of the consolidated financial statements
and key audit issues;

- assisted the Board in meeting its responsibilities for
evaluating, establishing and maintaining effective systems of
internal control;

—  carried out the annual review on the continuing connected
transactions of the Group;

- reviewed the adequacy of resources qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting functions, and their training programmes and
budget; and

- reviewed and discussed significant audit findings in a meeting
with the external auditor.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

The Audit Committee also examines any other aspects of the
Company's affairs, as it deems necessary where such matters relate
to exposures or risks of regulatory or legal nature, and monitors the
Company'’s compliance with its legal, regulatory and contractual
obligations.

The Board is of the view that the members of the Audit Committee
have sufficient accounting or related financial management
expertise and experience to discharge the Audit Committee’s
function.

The Audit Committee will report to the Board on any material
issues, and makes recommendations to the Board.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprised of three members:

Non-executive Director:
Mr. XU Yongjun (Chairman)

Independent non-executive Director:

Ms. CHEN Yanping (Member)
Dr. SHI Xinping (Member)

The majority of them are independent non-executive Directors. The
Nomination Committee is regulated by a set of terms of reference.

The Group has a formal, considerate and transparent procedure
for the appointment of new Director to the Board. The Group
has adopted a nomination procedure and the Board, based on
the criteria established, evaluate and select candidates for the
directorships.

In assessing, selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship to the Board, the Nomination Committee will give due
consideration to the factors including but not limited to:

(@) reputation for character and integrity;

(b) accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries

in which the Company’s business is involved and other
professional qualifications;
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

(c)  commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

(d) diversity in all aspects including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional
or otherwise), skills, knowledge and length of service;

(e) contribution that the candidates can potentially bring to the
Board; and

() plans in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The Nomination Committee has considered the effectiveness
of the Board as a whole and its board committees in addition to
the contribution by the chairman and each individual director
to the effectiveness of the Board on an annual basis. The
performance evaluation criteria include an evaluation of the
structure, composition and size of the Board, the Board's access to
complete, adequate and timely information, Board's procedures
and accountability. The Nomination Committee has reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure that it has
a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company.

The Nomination Committee will ensure that Directors appointed
to the Board possess the relevant background, experience and
knowledge to enable balanced and well-considered decisions
to be made. The performance criteria that the Nomination
Committee will consider in relation to an individual Director
include the Director’s industry knowledge and/or expertise, time
and effort dedicated to the Group's business and affairs, work
commitments, attendance and participation at the Board and
Board committee meetings. Each member of the Nomination
Committee shall abstain from voting on any resolutions and making
recommendation and/or participating in respect of the matters in
which he is interested.

The Nomination Committee shall hold at least one regular
meeting in a year. Additional meetings shall be held as and when
required. The independence of each Director is reviewed annually.
The Nomination Committee satisfied that the independence
of the Company’s independent non-executive Directors meets
the requirements set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Nomination Committee has assessed the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and is satisfied that there are
no relationships which would deem any of the independent non-
executive Directors not to be independent. The Board is able to
exercise independent judgment on corporate affairs and provide
the management with a diverse and objective perspective on
issues.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Notwithstanding that some of the Directors have multiple board
representations, the Nomination Committee and the Board are
satisfied that sufficient time and attention are being given by the
Directors to the affairs of the Group.

The Company is committed to equality of opportunity in all aspects
of its business. The Board Diversity Policy was adopted since
September 2013.

Diversity of board members can be achieved through consideration
of a number of factors, including but not limited to professional
qualifications and experience, cultural and educational
background, race and ethnicity, gender, age and length of service.
In forming its perspective on diversity, the Company will also take
into account factors based on its own business model and specific
needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee would review
the measurable objectives under the Board Diversity Policy and the
progress of attainment, so as to ensure effective implementation.
The Nomination Committee is satisfied that the current board
composition has achieved a diversity and would enhance the quality
of performance of the Company.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting and
the committee has performed the following duties:

- reviewed the independence of independent non-executive
directors;

- recommended re-election of the retiring Directors after
assessing their contribution and performance, and has
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the board in
accordance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules; and

—  reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and made
recommendations on proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company'’s corporate strategy.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)
The term of appointment of non-executive directors

The non-executive Directors and all the independent non-
executive Directors of the Company do not have specific
terms of appointment. However, all of them are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meeting
("AGM") according to the Company’s Articles of Association.
The Board considers that the requirement has the same effect
of accomplishing the same objective as a specific term of
appointment.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure
for formulating policies on remuneration of senior management of
the Group.

The Remuneration Committee comprised of three members:

Independent non-executive Director:

Ms. CHEN Yanping (Chairman)
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Member)

Non-executive Director:
Mr. HUANG Junlong (Member)

The majority of them are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal function of the Remuneration Committee is to ensure
that a formal and transparent set of policies and procedures are
in place for determining executive remuneration and for fixing the
remuneration packages of individual Directors and that no Director
should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year,
the Remuneration Committee covers all aspects of emoluments,
including but not limited to Directors’ fees, salaries, allowances,
bonuses, options, benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment. In setting
remuneration packages, the Remuneration Committee takes into
consideration the pay and employment conditions within the
industry and in comparable companies, as well as the Group's
relative performance and their individual performance. The
Remuneration Committee will seek expert advice on remuneration
of all Directors as and when necessary.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The Remuneration Committee is regulated by a set of written terms

of reference. Its key functions include:

reviewing and recommending to the Board the Company's
policies and structure for all Directors and senior
management’s remuneration as are competitive and
appropriate to attract, retain and motivate Directors and
senior management of the required quality to run the
Company successfully and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration

policy;

reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals and
objectives;

either determining (with delegated responsibility) or making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management;

reviewing and approving compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive; and

reviewing and approving compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to
ensure that they are consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the Year

and has performed the following duties:

reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company, and the remuneration packages of the Directors;

and

reviewed the remuneration packages of all Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration of the directors and senior management of the
Company is determined on the basis of their industry expertise
and experience, the performance and profitability of the Group
and with reference to the remuneration benchmarks of other local
and international companies and the prevailing market conditions.
Executive Directors and employees also participate in bonus
arrangements based on the Group's performance and individual
performance.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION FOR 2022

Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration includes
amounts paid to them by the Company. Please refer to note 11 to
the consolidated financial statements for details of the emoluments
payable to each of the directors and senior management in 2022.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted its code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors of the Company on terms no less exacting
than the required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having made specific
enquiry to all Directors, the Company confirms that all Directors
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the Year.

SECURITIES TRANSACTION BY THE
RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

Under the Code Provision C.1.3 of the HK CG Code, the Board has
established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the
Model Code for Directors and relevant employees in respect of
their dealings in the Company'’s securities. “Relevant employee”
includes any employee of the Group or a Director or employee of a
subsidiary or holding company of the issuer, because of such office
or employment, is likely to be in possession of inside information
in relation to the Group and its securities. Having made specific
enquiry to all Relevant Employees, the Company confirms that all
Relevant Employees have complied with the written guidelines
regarding securities transactions during the Year.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the Year.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, price-
sensitive announcements and other disclosures required under
the Listing Rules and other applicable statutory and regulatory
requirements.

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities for
overseeing the preparation of the financial statements for each
financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group, and of results and cash flow for the period.
In preparing the financial statements for the Year, the Directors
have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made prudent
and reasonable judgments and estimates and have prepared the
financial statements on a going concern basis. The Directors also
warrant that the Group's financial statements will be published in a
timely manner.

In presenting the interim and annual financial statements and
announcement to shareholders, it is the aim of the Board to
provide the shareholders with a detailed analysis, explanation and
assessment of the Group's financial position and prospects. The
management currently provides the Board with monthly update on
the Group's performance, position and prospects.

The senior management of the Group has provided to the Board
such explanation and information as are necessary to enable the
Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Company's
financial statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company is set out in
the “Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages 109 to 291.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 24 January 2019,
pursuant to which in deciding whether to propose a dividend and in
determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into account
the following factors:

(@) the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company;

(b) the applicable restrictions and requirements under the laws of
the Cayman Islands;

(c) any banking or other funding covenants by which the
Company is bound from time to time;

(d) the investment and operating requirements of the Company;
and

(e) any other factors that have material impact on the Company.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company shall be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board and shall be subject
to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
and the Articles of Association of the Company. The Dividend
Policy will continue to be reviewed from time to time and there can
be no assurance that dividends will be proposed or declared in any
particular amount for any given period.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE MATTERS

The environmental, social and governance report of the Group
prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited covering the year ended 31 December 2022 will be
published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange
in due course.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board recognises its responsibility for maintaining an adequate
internal control system to safeguard the assets of the Group
and the interests of shareholders and consider the governance
of risk. Annual review on the adequacy and the effectiveness of
the internal control and risk management systems of the Group
has been conducted by the management and reviewed by the
Board. The Audit Committee is satisfied that nothing has come
to its attention to cause the Audit Committee to believe that the
internal control system is inadequate. Review will be made at least
annually to monitor the adequacy and the effectiveness of the risk
management and the internal control system of the Group.

The finance department carries out annual risk assessment on
each audit area and derives an annual audit plan according to their
risk rankings. During the Year, the Company has outsourced its
internal audit function to an independent accounting firm, Deloitte
Advisory (Hong Kong) Limited to perform a review of the internal
control system of the Group with a focus on the property business.
During the Year, the Group has complied with code provision
D.2 of the HK CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems. Management is
responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of such
systems, while the Board oversees management in performing its
duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of the risk management
and internal control systems are described in the sections below:

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

e Identification: |dentify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

e  Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

e Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the

residual risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2022, no significant risk
was identified.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

Internal Control System

The Board is responsible to ensure that the Group maintains sound
and effective internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’
investment and the Group's assets.

The internal control system will cover all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions.

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO") 2013 framework. The framework
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The components of the framework are shown as follow:

° Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

e Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analysing risks to achieve the Group's
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should be
managed.

e Control Activities: Action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried out.

e Information and Communication: Internal and external

communication to provide the Group with the information

needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

*  Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present and
functioning.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

Internal Control System (continued)

In order to enhance the Group's system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group has adopted and
implemented an inside information procedure. Certain reasonable
measures have been taken from time to time to ensure that proper
safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement
in relation to the Group, which include the maintaining of a good
control environment with defined organisational structure, limit of
authority, reporting lines and responsibilities in accordance with
the Company’s guidelines and the regulatory requirements. An
effective information platform has been created to enable relevant
and timely information are sent to the Board for decision making.
Appropriate control measures have been taken place to facilitate a
good control environment for handling and dissemination of inside
information. The access of information is restricted to a limited
number of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are
in possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality. Confidentiality agreements
are in place when the Group enters into significant negotiations.
Where necessary, Directors to speak on behalf of the Company
when communicating with external parties such as the media,

analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in the year of 2022,
no significant control deficiency was identified.

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and ensuring review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted at least
annually. Several areas have been considered during the Board's
review, which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature
and extent of significant risks since the last annual review, and
the Group's ability to respond to changes in its business and the
external environment; (ii) the scope and quality of management's
ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control systems.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of professional
services provided by the Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, is set out as follows:

A% B4R 5 B
RER - ARTRBETED o BRI & 1724
HEBH HHEIIWT

(RMB’000)

(AR®ET)

Audit services EANZ RS 2,932
Non-audit services IEEAZRTE 1,008
Auditors’ remuneration 1% £ B 5 BN 3,940

Non-audit services include the professional services rendered in
connection with the continuing connected transactions review,
reporting accountant for major transactions and internal controls
assessment.

The Audit Committee had considered the Independent Auditors’
independence and objectivity as required under the Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accounts, reviewed the terms of their engagement,
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the findings of their review
of the engagement process, effectiveness, independence and
objectivity of the Independent Auditor.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board and the
Board has concurred with the nomination of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, for reappointment as independent auditor of the
Company at the forthcoming AGM.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, the company secretary, Mr. Ng Ho, undertook at
least 15 hours of relevant professional training, was an employee of
the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

Details of Directors’ attendance records of the general meetings
held during the Year were as follows:

BERRE
EERFABTZREAGZ HEDHABNT

WONG
XU HUANG YU WONG Wing Kuen, CHEN SHI
General Meetings Yongjun  Junlong  LIUNing SOShuFai  Zhiliang King Yuen Albert  Yanping  Xinping HE Qi
RRAE FKE Bk gz 1) RER ERR IXE (G334 £HY (k5]
26 May 2022 N Y N Y N Y Y Y Y Y
S5 10 kg =
(AGM/ R BFXE)
COUNT/ k& 0 1 0 1 0 1 1 1 1 1

N=Absent,” & H &
Y=Attended,/ B H[E

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
SHAREHOLDERS' COMMUNICATION

Significant Changes In The Issuer’s Constitutional
Documents During The Year

In response to the core shareholder protection standards as set
out in the revised Appendix 3 of the Listing Rules, the Company
passed a special resolution to adopt the Second Amended and
Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association at the Annual
General Meeting on 26 May 2022. For details of the amendments,
please refer to the circular of the Company dated 26 April 2022.
The Second Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of
Association is available on both the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange's website.

Shareholders’ Communication

The Company'’s shareholder communication policy, as updated
from time to time, is posted on the Company’s official website

http://en.cmland.hk/web/.

Review Of The Implementation And Effectiveness Of
The Shareholders” Communication Policy Conducted During
The Year

e we held our annual general meeting on 26 May 2022 to
provide an opportunity for shareholders, investors and analysts
to engage directly with the directors and senior management;

e we have published key corporate governance policies, the
respective terms of reference of the Board committees, the
Group's press releases and announcements on the Company's
website;
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
SHAREHOLDERS' COMMUNICATION

(continued)

Review Of The Implementation And Effectiveness Of
The Shareholders” Communication Policy Conducted During
The Year (continued)

the timely publication of our annual report, interim report and
announcements to the Stock Exchange and on the Company'’s
website;

the Directors and senior management communicating with
shareholders, investors and analysts through financial calls,
the Company’s website and face-to-face meetings to present
annual and interim results and to provide real-time answers
to shareholders, investors and others regarding the Group’s
financial and operational position;

the annual general meeting of the Company serves as a
regular communication platform where shareholders have
the opportunity to meet with the directors and senior
management and the notice of the annual general meeting
together with the meeting information will be sent to all
shareholders not less than 21 days and not less than 20
business days before the annual general meeting to be held;

the external auditor was also invited to attend the AGM and to
answer questions at the meeting regarding the audit work, the
preparation and contents of the auditor’s report, accounting
policies and auditor independence;

the chairman of the Board and the respective chairmen of the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Audit Committee (or in their absence, other members
of the relevant committees) will be available to respond to
questions from shareholders and stakeholders at the general
meeting;

the share registrar of the Company to handle the registration
of shares and related matters for shareholders and to monitor
the votes at general meetings;

all shareholders are welcome to provide feedback to and
communicate with the directors or management through the
investor relations team at any time; and
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
SHAREHOLDERS' COMMUNICATION

(continued)

Review Of The Implementation And Effectiveness Of
The Shareholders” Communication Policy Conducted During
The Year (continued)

e all shareholders are entitled to receive dividends in
accordance with our dividend policy. Dividend payments
should be determined based on the Group's financial
performance, future capital requirements and general

economic and business conditions.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company considers
that the above measures are in place and the shareholder
communication policy has been effectively implemented.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend general meetings or, if
unable to attend, to appoint a proxy to attend and vote on their
behalf at the meetings.

The Company’s last AGM was held on 26 May 2022. All the
resolutions proposed at these meetings were approved by
shareholders of the Company by poll. Details of the poll results are
available under the “Announcements and Notices” section of the
Company's website at http://ir.cmland.hk.

Vote of shareholders at general meeting will be taken by poll
in accordance with the Listing Rules, unless otherwise required
and permitted. Detailed procedures for conducting a poll will
be explained to the shareholders at the inception of general
meeting to ensure that shareholders are familiar with such voting
procedures. Separate resolution will be proposed by the chairman
of general meeting in respect of each substantial issue. The poll
results will be posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange on the same business day of the general meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, general
meetings can be convened on the written requisition of any two or
more members of the Company deposited at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at:

Room 2603 to 2606, 26/F, China Merchants Tower
Shun Tak Centre

Nos. 168-200 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong

specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company. General meetings may also
be convened on the written requisition of any one member of the
Company which is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s))
deposited at the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong as set out above specifying the objects of the meeting
and signed by the requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist
held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. If the
Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within
a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all
of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner,
as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened
by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of three months from the date of
deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.
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CORPORATE COMMUNICATION

The Group should announce its annual results and interim results
in a timely manner before the time limits set out in the Listing
Rules. Separate resolutions are proposed at the annual general
meetings on each separate issue, including the election of
individual Directors. In addition, procedures for demanding a poll
at the annual general meeting will also be included in the circular to
shareholders dispatched together with this report.

The Group maintains a website of http://ir.cmland.hk which enables
shareholders of the Company, investors and the general public to
access to the information of the Group on a timely basis. Financial
information and all corporate communications of the Group are
made available on the Group's website and updated regularly.

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar:
Tricor Tengis Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre 16 Harcourt
Road Hong Kong.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B A% B RS

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA MERCHANTS LAND LIMITED
BEREMARRAR

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Merchants Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 117
to 294, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B A% B R E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the

B ELEE
PREZFESRERMNERHE - RREARHE
HAMBHBRIBECRRERZTAE - ZFFENK
MERGEMBRARLABAREE - MM TE
HZEFEREHEBER

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matter
HRELER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EARBELRNMAEEER

Net realisable values of properties for sale

AR EY ¥ 2 5 FE

We identified the assessment of the net realisable values
of properties for sale as a key audit matter due to the
management judgement involved in the determination
of the net realisable values and the estimation of future
costs to completion. As at 31 December 2022, the
carrying amounts of the Group's properties for sale are
RMB63,332,410,000, representing 48% of total assets of the
Group.
BAEAIHEENRE 2 TR FESN RBREZEE
Ty EEE Al B A MG FT IR TR R R AR =SB IR
ERHE R-T-_—F+-_A=+—0 E5EHE
EMFE 2 REEAARK63,332,410,0000T - (EFESBEE
EHREZ48% °
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of the properties
for sale included:

BRAAHEEMEGENRZF ST

e  Obtaining an understanding of the rationale of the
management in estimating the net realisable values
and writing down the amounts of properties for sale;

o BGHEIRE MG A RIIE MBS TR E L
SEBEY TR

e  Evaluating the reasonableness of the management'’s
estimation on the costs to completion for properties
under development for sale by reconciling the costs to
completion to the budgets approved by management
and, on a sample basis, examining the signed
construction contracts or comparing the estimated
costs to the actual costs of similar completed
properties of the Group and to relevant market
information;

o (FRABKAEEFBIERTRAREEEH 2 EEE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
HRERER

AR AL EIE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RMRERENAEEER

As disclosed in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company conducted a
review of the Group's properties under development for
sale and completed properties for sale as at 31 December
2022. Due to a decrease in the expected selling price as
referenced to the actual contract selling price during pre-
sale of the relevant properties or the recent prices of similar
properties during the year, the directors of the Company
determined that the net realisable values of certain of
the Group's properties for sale, located in Chongging
and Nanjing, the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC"),
are lower than their carrying amounts. Accordingly, the
impairments amounted to RMB206,773,000, in aggregate,
was provided during the year.

MG E M EHRR T2 HE R E -+ H
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Comparing a selection of completed properties for
sale with the sum of selling prices estimated by the
management or actual contract selling prices and the
estimated selling expense to assess whether their net
realisable values are higher than their costs;

G053 3k Tl it H & Y % EHE B E D A5 e E B L BT
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B FEES A

Assessing the appropriateness of the selling prices
estimated by management, on a sample basis, by
comparing to the market prices achieved by the same
project or comparable properties with similar size,
usage and location; and

e AR LEER—IE B WM EIEUANN - BERA
ENAELBMEZRITMEETLER  UFHEEER
BEE: &

Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale by comparing, on a
sample basis, to the actual costs of similar completed
properties of the Group in recent years.
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RETHE  AHEETHEN L EAFRAREEAE -

—To—FF3% BEREHARAR 111
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
HRELRER

FEBEREAAEIE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EARBRENAEESER

Valuation of land appreciation tax (“LAT”) calculation

T EH ([ LB EH )it 2 E

We identified the valuation of LAT calculation as a key
audit matter due to the management estimation on the
applicable land appreciation value and the estimated
deductible expenditures involved in the LAT calculation.
B LI ERAE 2 HEIH RERERER - DHRLE
WIRETETE S MBI B S8 A L g E R A 5t AT HIBR X
BV fl&t o

The Group has property development projects in a
number of cities in the PRC and is subject to LAT in the
PRC. As disclosed in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements, the provision for LAT of RMB487,639,000 was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
for the year ended 31 December 2022.
ESERFTERZHTHREEMEREEE - WESMHTP
BlEy LB ER o MNARE M IS MKRMTOPTIRE - ARK
487,639,000t 2 TR ERABEERBE_T_—_F+=A
=T HISEEGRBRRTHER -
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Our procedures in relation to the accuracy of LAT
calculation included:

BMAEBLEENRTE C ERE 2T

e  Obtaining an understanding from the management of
the Group about the basis adopted by management of
the Group in arriving at the provision for LAT;

s [ BEXEEEEETRESHEBRLIIZEERE R
Pz B

e  Assessing the accuracy of the Group’s computation of
the provision for LAT with reference to relevant rules
and regulations with the assistance of our taxation
specialists;

o ZERBRANERTET B ERTG B TG
T IR AR A R R A

E5E

e Evaluating the judgements applied by the
management in estimating the amount of deductible
expenditures by comparing their estimates made in
previous years to actual results as well as current year's
estimates; and

s HBATFERGERKRERFEENMETLER 7
HERE LA AT R X TR AIE : &

e Checking the accuracy of financial information, such
as land costs, borrowing costs and the relevant
property development expenditures, being used in
the calculation of provision for LAT to the Group's
historical financial data.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B % BLED RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE REMREZGS M ERRARKEZE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL {F(#)

STATEMENTS (continued)

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the o
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the o
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, HMEREEEB(EP BB ITIE2raEE
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit B REAFZER - ZEBEHRPRERMREZHHE
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies P Bl 2 R BFESIE 2 (T A/ E A BREE ©

in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B A% B R E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Chen Ping Him.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

15 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
) Htt 2@ W& R

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

2022 2021
—EB-F —EF—F
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB'000
K et AR¥T T ARBFT
Revenue Wz 5 29,871,347 25,921,416
Cost of sales SHE KR (25,867,814)  (21,129,665)
Gross profit ES| 4,003,533 4,791,751
Other income H g A 7 395,564 314,198
Net foreign exchange (losses) gains BE K (B8 ) e %28 (100,322) 53,622
Selling and marketing expenses SHE LAY (796,621) (822,717)
Administrative expenses TS (296,312) (277,676)
Allowance of expected credit losses on amounts FEHSZH"* BNRIREEDE
due from associates and joint ventures B EHREEEERE (59,059) (262,073)
Fair value gain on financial asset at fair value BEAFEGFAER([ZAFE
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") STABR D EREELZRA
FEW = 10,606 10,937
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE B QR Z s 34 56,710 -
Gain on acquisition of additional interests 1 e — R B 2 8 B BRI 31
in an associate HE 75 A U 2 130,518 -
Share of results of associates DAGEE R R 2 EE 143,788 330,551
Share of results of joint ventures DIREERE T EE 120,148 83,937
Finance costs & R AN 8 (627,910) (691,661)
Profit before tax s %5 51T Vi A1) 10 2,980,643 3,530,869
Income tax expense FriS i 9 (1,250,617) (1,948,003)
Profit for the year REERA 1,730,026 1,582,866
Other comprehensive income (expense), Hih2EBA(FX)
net of income tax HBRFTIS T
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to  H#& R EF I EZ 82 718E -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation of ~ HEGINER T IEMKREE
financial statements of foreign operations ME 3 =5 46,870 (36,839)
Total comprehensive income for the year AFEEHERAERE 1,776,896 1,546,027
Profit for the year attributable to: AT ALTRIERER R
Owners of the Company PiN/NETEZ F =N 13 329,659 560,569
Non-controlling interests eI IR HE = 1,400,367 1,022,297
1,730,026 1,582,866
Total comprehensive income for the year LAFATEEAEEZERA
attributable to: HaEE
Owners of the Company iN/NCTEZ YN 376,529 523,730
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR I 2 1,400,367 1,022,297
1,776,896 1,546,027
RMB cents RMB cents
AEESD ARES
Earnings per share SR 13
Basic EAR 6.72 11.43
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mE B R R

At 31 December 2022
R-E——F+-H=+—H

At 31 December

Rt+t=A=+—H
2022 2021
—E-=f -—T-—&
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
BtaF AR®T T AR®ET T
Non-current assets FRBEE

Property, plant and equipment ME - R KRG 14 235,375 250,472
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 86,721 61,466
Investment properties wEME 16 3,243,522 3,325,468
Goodwill GHES 17 160,210 160,210
Interests in associates H/‘Hé‘f%’& Al 2w 18 10,149,691 10,473,161
Interests in joint ventures REBDE R 19 5,495,028 4,611,016
Financial asset at FVTPL BATETABRONEREE 20 128,442 117,836
Other receivables H b Y GRIE 23 13,051,869 5,465,334
Deferred tax assets IRIERIIBE B 21 936,478 890,870
33,487,336 25,355,833

Current assets RBEE
Properties for sale Al E 22 63,332,410 74,620,484
Deposits paid for acquisitions of land use rights W& + {8 F#E T2 S = 415,863
Trade and other receivables 75 R E M EIGRIA 23 18,842,556 21,402,156
Contract costs SN 5 229,025 406,749
Prepaid income tax B AT S E 2,633,426 2,103,294
Bank balances and cash RITEREIA S 24 12,343,547 14,423,276
97,380,964 113,371,822

Current liabilities REBAE
Contract liabilities SH8EE 5 25,992,261 27,367,755
Trade and other payables S R E AR 25 32,558,521 36,316,375
Lease liabilities HEBE 26 57,531 52,519
Loans from non-controlling interests Bl Hﬂ& = é\f}( 27 68,522 515,035
Loans from an intermediate holding company BEERATER 28 22,185 2,006,213
Bank and other borrowings ﬁEﬂ&EﬁM =% 29 1,919,439 5,548,802
Income tax payable AR 3,321,731 3,789,978
63,940,190 75,596,677
Net current assets RBEERE 33,440,774 37,775,145
Total assets less current liabilities EEABRABAES 66,928,110 63,130,978
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e Bk &

At 31 December 2022
R-FE-——#F+-F=+—H

At 31 December

BR+=—BR=+—H
2022 2021
—E-8F —E-—4F
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB’000
Bt AR®T T AREFIT
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Loans from non-controlling interests JEERR R I B X 27 136,570 120,472
Loans from an intermediate holding company FEER AR ER 28 15,285,356 16,159,990
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 29 17,927,195 12,186,332
Lease liabilities HEaE 26 375,062 375,967
Deferred tax liabilities EEFREAE 21 477,662 437,620
34,201,845 29,280,381
Net assets EEFE 32,726,265 33,850,597
Capital and reserves ERR B
Share capital [N 30 39,132 39,132
Reserves fHfE 9,823,683 9,699,330
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ ANAGIHEA AFEEHERS 9,862,815 9,738,462
Non-controlling interests FEPE IR HE i 43 22,863,450 24,112,135
Total equity FERAEE 32,726,265 33,850,597

The consolidated financial statements on pages 117 to 294 were

approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 15

March 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

FNTE2UAZHGAMBREABEFEN_F_=
FoATHARERRETERBUATESTARE

=

WONG KING YUEN
EHR
DIRECTOR
EF

CHEN YAN
PR
DIRECTOR
EF

ZECCFFR HBEREMARAR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GARERDE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

ADTREARL
Equity Non-
Share Share Other  transaction  Translation ~ Retained controlling Total
capital  premium  reserves reserve reserve profits Total  interests equity
BLxz

Bx  RfeR RtEs B RARE  REEA
RVBODD  RMBOOO  RMBOO  RVBODD  RMBOOD  RWBOND
ARRTL ARBTL ARBTL ARETR ARETL ARETRL

o FERER RadE
RVBODD  RMBOO  RMBOOD
ARRTR ARETL ARMTT

(Note i) (Note i) (Note )
(hi)  (Kii) (K
At 1 January 2021 R=E--#-H-A 20132 4554148 (2402195 (1,036957) 3838 8302960 9500926 21765908 31,066,834
Profit for the year KERRH = = - - - 560,569 50569 1022297 1582866
Other comprehensive expense for FEREMAERY
the year.
- Exchange differences arising on -AERNERAHRR
translation of financial statements EEZERER
of foreign operations - - - - (36,839) - (36,839) - (36,839)
Total comprehensive (loss) income for the year ~ AEF2T(EE) RALE - - - - (36839) 560569 SB70 102297 154607
Acquisition of a subsidliary (Note 37 WE-BNBAR(HEY) = = = = = = - ui o
Accquisition of subsidlries accounted for WEHBATLNEE
as assets acquisition (Note 7 WENEH233) - - - - - - - 2500000 2,500,000
Capital reduction of subsidiaries WBAAZERHE - - - - - = - A0TeE) (2401769
Capital injection by non-controlling interests FERERA - = = 450 - = 450 1194703 1,195,153
Dividend declared to non-controlling interests —~ FFEERERERRE - - - - - - - (6685 (2668%)
Dividend declared (Note 12) EERRE (1) - (26644 - - - - (20664 - (286044
At 31 December 2021 R-B--#+-A=1-H 39132 4267504 (2,402,195) (1,036507)  (33,001) 8903529 9738462 24,112,135 33,850,597
Profit for the year RERRH = = - - - 329659 329,659 1,400,367 1,730,026
Other comprehensive income for the year: REFEMBREMNA :
- Exchange differences arising on o LS
translation of financial statements EEZELER
of foreign operations - - - - 46870 - L8 - 46870
Total comprehensive income for the year AEELAWAER - - - - 46,870 329,659 376529 1,400,367 1,776,896
Acquisition of a subsidary without BEEREE
change of control WE-EHELA - - - 314 - - 314 (1,050) (736)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Vote 34) HERBAR W) - - - - - - - @)
Capital reduction of subsidiaries WEQAZEAHE - - - - - - - (1,554,000) (1,554,000)

Capitalinjection by non-controlling interests FARER A - = o - - R
Dividend declared to non-controlling interests —~— FEERERERRE - = - - - -
Dividend declared (Note 77) BERRE (HE12) - (252490) - - = =

106,368 106,368
(928,253)  (928,253)
(252,490) - (252,490)

At 31 December 2022 ACECCETCAZE-A 0 39132 4015014 (2402195 (1036193 13869 9,233,188

9,862,815 22,863,450 32,726,265
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

%
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A
[=|

Em 2B K

For the year ended 31 December 2022

EHE—

Eo—FFZA=1—HIFE

Notes:

@

(i)

Included in retained profits of RMB1,641,057,000 (2021: RMB1,370,026,000)
represents statutory reserve of the subsidiaries established in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"). According to the relevant laws in the PRC,
wholly foreign-owned enterprises in the PRC are required to transfer their net
profit after tax, as determined under the PRC accounting regulations, to a non-
distributable reserve fund before the distribution of a dividend to equity owners.
Such reserve fund can be used to offset previous years' losses of the relevant
subsidiary, if any, and is non-distributable other than upon liquidation.

The other reserves comprise:

(@)  The deemed consideration from the immediate holding company arising
from the completion of restructuring in prior years;

(b)  The consideration of the sales shares arising from the restructuring in prior
years as deemed distribution to the shareholder; and

(c) The difference between (i) the consideration of the restructuring; and (ii)
the paid-up capital of the entities involved in the restructuring contributed
by an intermediate holding company at the date of restructuring,
deducted by the share capital and share premium of China Merchants
Land Limited (the “Company”) at the date of restructuring.

The equity transaction reserve represents the difference between the proportion
interests of the subsidiaries’ net assets being acquired or disposed and the
amount of the consideration paid or received in prior years.

Kt

(i)

(iii)

FFARB & FEARE,641,057,000t( T =—4F : AR
1,370,026,0007T ) B EARKEFE ([ E DKL ZHER
AEERE - RETEARER  RPBZIMNEBELER
AESRHEADKERER - ABEERHZEFFE(ETHE
SRGIMEE) ETADRFEEES - FHRREESTRER
IR B A RBEFEZEBR(NE) - BRIPER - TRIZ
REESABTADIK

HAebf#ERE

(a) BEFESETHKAEEAREEEERARZBER
g

(b) BEFESHMAELEHERNDZBIEMRRDIKKE :
%

@ (OWEAZRE: R()Z2EHREERARIAEZEAE
BZEBRNEARPZEGBRAZEZR - HREBERE
WERRR([AAEDRERB B2 RAER D EE -

TR SRR E M B A R A EFEA S O R
REMFESNACKBARBESE 2 FOEHE -

ZECCFFR HBEREMARAR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= A
e

HEmhE&=R

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

2022 2021
=== —E-—4F
NOTES RMB’'000 RMB’000
Mzt ARET T ARBETTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES R
Profit before tax R B AT s A 2,980,643 3,530,869
Adjustments for: &G
Depreciation of investment properties REYETE 143,090 148,579
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - BB N RETE 42,521 34,576
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENTE 39,827 94,798
Fair value gain on financial asset at FVTPL BAFEFTABRZZSHE
B2 AP ER (10,606) (10,937)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries o BT B A R 2 Ham 34 (56,710) -
Gain on acquisition of additional interests W i — R Bk i R R RE SN 31
in an associate (130,518) -
Gain on early termination of lease i TG (3,966) -
Loss on disposal of property, plant RELIFAEN KR
and equipment 33 1
Write-down of properties for sale HEDMHE  BERRBZ
B8 206,773 360,538
Allowance of expected credit losses WOR AT S
on amounts
due from associates and joint ventures FEYEGE N R A EDFE
FIEZ BHREEEERE 59,059 262,073
Finance costs A& A AR 627,910 691,661
Interest income WA (359,742) (285,726)
Share of results of associates DINEE R R 2 FEE (143,788) (330,551)
Share of results of joint ventures DREERE L (120,148) (83,937)
Unrealised exchange realignment REFIRE S 73,622 (38,876)
Operating cash flows before movements EBECH IR 2 LE
in working capital Hens 3,348,000 4,373,068
Decrease (increase) in properties for sale Al HEER D (3EN) 11,378,341 (16,283,795)
Decrease in deposit paid for acquisition U B - Hb {5 PR A T 5T H B Uk >
of land use rights 415,863 28,975
Decrease in trade and other receivables 75 K E A FE ARG IE R 213,609 473,247
Decrease (increase) in contract costs B IR AR A (3E0) 177,724 (35,279)
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities BHABORD )N (1,346,711) 3,569,403
(Decrease) increase in trade and TS R E A ENRIECHD)
other payables Lyl (5,986,548) 5,100,554
Cash generated from (used in) operations KEmEFERRE 8,200,278 (2,773,827)
Income tax paid B ATSH (2,264,991) (3,432,544)
Interest received B2 FIE 216,227 93171
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEREREBER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

2022 2021
—EBC-CF —E-—F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
Kzt ARBT T ARBFT
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING RETHME (R BRELEHE
ACTIVITIES 6,151,514 (6,113,200)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REES
Advances to associates R FNCIE-FN (1,401,411) (5,020,838)
Repayment from associates Bt N RIER 1,381,536 6,151,608
Advances to joint ventures A& SRR (959,114) (922,417)
Repayment from joint ventures SEDPEED 194,571 2,161,743
Advances to non-controlling interests A FEPE AR 2 B R (4,016,291) (7,719,137)
Repayment from non-controlling interests FEIERR IR B R 1,810,492 6,011,241
Advances to fellow subsidiaries EIEES ] =PNEIE-E (911,659) (218,990)
Repayment from fellow subsidiaries B ZEMB A RER 141,585 19,355
Advances to intermediate holding companies BB EAR A R 8K (4,519,122) (917,225)
Repayment from intermediate holding companies £ %A FE K 1,365,103 20,020
Advance to an investee M—ABREHRBK (261) -
Repayment from an investee —BREBEHRENK = 20,167
Capital reduction of associates B N Al B AR 456,300 -
Capital injection to associates FEE N REE = (1,037,184)
Capital injection to joint ventures A ErFERITE (105,024) (1,798)
Cash outflow arising on acquisition of additional 2= 4 B UgEE — Rk & A &) FE 4N 31
interests in an associate Em 2 Bemd (428,406) -
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition of a A B R — R Y B R B BA 33
subsidiary accounted for as asset acquisition BEWEBARZESRLFE
2] - (71,072)
Cash inflow arising on acquisition of 2 A B WU — R B 2 maE BA 33
a subsidiary accounted for BEEWBARZBEERA
as asset acquisition - 591,529
Net cash inflow arising on disposal of EXgHE—MHBAR(E 34
a subsidiary resulting in loss of control R EEHE) ZIRER
HEE 398,854 -
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition EXalRE—HBARZH 32
of a subsidiary TIMAFEE = 7,676
Dividend received from associates ERHNEII e SN 48,208 373
Dividend received from joint ventures & A EWERR B - 36,413
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BEIXE (27,745) (12,519)
Addition of investment properties REMERE (2,316) (96,818)
Proceeds received on disposal of property, HEWE  BEMERETERK
plant and equipment T8 225 204
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETHEARESFE (6,574,475) (997,669
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MERETME R

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

2022 2021
—E-—F == —4F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
BtaE AR®T T ARBETTT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES AEEE
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings IRITREMIEE Z 1S 5KIE 12,631,241 10,561,960
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BERITREAMEE (10,928,861) (7,725,559)
Advances from associates EEANCIES TN 1,978,922 1,915,697
Repayment to associates ﬁﬁﬁfa‘%ﬂ B (864,355) (1,291,672)
Advances from joint ventures BFEETH 829,188 759,915
Repayment to joint ventures m&EREREK (357,481) (232,450)
Advances from non-controlling interests FEERR A I BV 809,536 4,835,978
Repayment to non-controlling interests A FEAE R A 2 58 X (2,455,651) (5,038,872)
Advances from intermediate holding companies & IEMR A B EAFK 16,523,692 20,264,654
Repayment to intermediate holding companies (A B AR A RIE X (18,680,312) (8,131,734)
Advances from fellow subsidiaries BEGIENGIEEA 1,429,883 2,285,083
Repayment to fellow subsidiaries AR P B A RIE R (219,680) (1,304,324)
Interest paid BRFLE (1,518,264) (1,240,356)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEAEAE (77,810) (109,796)
Dividends paid BERRE (876,832) (553,4998)
Repayment of bond payable BREENES = (1,900,000)
Capital contributed by non-controlling REBE KB R R 2 IR
interests of subsidiaries of the Group B 15,407 1,127,093
Cash outflow arising on acquisition of Wil —REI BB R Rl BB SME 2R AT
additional interest in a subsidiary EEMNRESRD (736) =
Capital reduction of subsidiaries ME A Flz EAERE = (2,401,766)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM RMEEE(FTA)MEREEHE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (1,762,113) 11,820,353
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH RERERERELER (R )HE
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS nFEEE (2,185,074) 4,709,484
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FURERERELER
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 14,423,276 9,718,815
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ExgsyE
RATE CHANGES 105,345 (5,023)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRESRERRLER -
THE END OF THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash EBIRTTESR LKA 12,343,547 14,423,276
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE
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GENERAL

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as a
limited liability company and its shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the “"Corporate Information” section to the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
43.

The Company’s immediate holding company is Success Well
Investment Limited, a limited liability company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"). One of its intermediate
holding company is China Merchants Shekou Industrial Zone
Holding Co., Ltd. (“China Merchants Shekou”), which is
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange Limited. The ultimate
holding company of the Company is China Merchants Group
Limited (“"CMG"). CMG is a PRC enterprise regulated and
directly managed by the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council and is owned
and controlled by the PRC government.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following

amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute

of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first

time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods

beginning on or after 1 January 2022 for the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June
2021

Property, Plant and Equipment —

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 16

Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37  Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2018 - 2020

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3
Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The Group has applied the amendments to business
combinations for which the acquisition date was on or after 1
January 2022. The amendments update a reference in HKFRS 3
Business Combinations so that it refers to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018
(the “Conceptual Framework”) instead of Framework for
the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements
(replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2010 issued in October 2010), add a requirement
that, for transactions and events within the scope of HKAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
or HK(IFRIC) — Int 21 Levies, an acquirer applies HKAS 37
or HK(IFRIC) = Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework
to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination and add an explicit statement that an acquirer
does not recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.

The application of the amendments in the current year has had
no impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendment to HKFRS 16
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June
2021

The Group has applied the Amendment to HKFRS 16
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021
retrospectively for the first time in the current year. The
amendment extends the availability of the practical expedient
in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 Leases ("HKFRS 16") by one
year so that the practical expedient applies to rent concessions
for which any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022, provided
the other conditions for applying the practical expedient are
met.

The application of this amendment has had no material impact
on the Group's financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

Impacts on application of the agenda decision of the
Committee — Lessor Forgiveness of Lease Payments
(IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 16 Leases)

In October 2022, the Committee published the agenda
decision related to the accounting for a rent concession where
the lessor legally releases the lessee from its obligation to
make specifically identified lease payments. Some of these
lease payments are contractually due but not paid and some of
them are not yet contractually due. The Committee concluded
that, before the rent concession is granted, the lessor applies
the impairment requirements in IFRS 9 to the operating
lease receivable, the measurement of expected credit losses
("ECL") should include the lessor’s expectations of forgiving
the related lease payments. In addition, the lessor accounts
for the rent concession on the date it is granted by applying:
(a) the derecognition requirements in IFRS 9 to forgiven lease
payments that the lessor has recognised as operating lease
receivables; and (b) the lease modification requirements in
IFRS 16 to forgiven lease payments that the lessor has not
recognised as an operating lease receivable.

The Group's accounting policy has applied the aforementioned
principles and requirements to an operating lease receivable
and account for the rent concession. Therefore, the Group's
current accounting policy is considered as consistent with the
Committee’s agenda decision.

The application of the Committee’s agenda decision has had

no material impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and

amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts'
October 2020 and
February 2022 Amendments
to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants®

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies'

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising

from a Single Transaction'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or non-current, which:

e clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do
not affect its classification as current or non-current only
if the entity recognises the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

e specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically,
the amendments clarify that the classification should not
be affected by management intentions or expectations to
settle the liability within 12 months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date which are conditional on the compliance
with covenants, the requirements introduced by the 2020
Amendments have been modified by the 2022 Amendments.
The 2022 Amendments specify that only covenants with which
an entity is required to comply with on or before the end of the
reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of
a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date.
Covenants which are required to comply with only after the
reporting period do not affect whether that right exists at the
end of the reporting period.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) (continued)

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could
become repayable within twelve months after the reporting
period, if the entity classify liabilities arising from loan
arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right to defer
settlement of those liabilities is subject to the entity complying
with covenants within twelve months after the reporting
period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of
applying the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024. The 2022 Amendments,
together with the 2020 Amendments, are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024,
with early application permitted. If an entity applies the
2020 amendments for an earlier period after the issue of the
2022 Amendments, the entity should also apply the 2022
Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 31
December 2022, the application of the 2020 and 2022
Amendments will not result in reclassification of the Group’s
liabilities.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement
2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term
“significant accounting policies” with “material accounting
policy information”. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement
2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies (continued)

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate
how an entity applies the “four-step materiality process”
to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is material to its
financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to the
Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group's
significant accounting policies.

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require
items in financial statements to be measured in a way that
involves measurement uncertainty — that is, the accounting
policy may require such items to be measured at monetary
amounts that cannot be observed directly and must instead
be estimated. In such a case, an entity develops an accounting
estimate to achieve the objective set out by the accounting
policy. Developing accounting estimates involves the use of
judgements or assumptions based on the latest available,
reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in
HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have

significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets
in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes (“HKAS
12") so that it no longer applies to transactions that, on
initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

As disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements, for leasing transactions in which the tax
deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to the relevant assets and
liabilities as a whole. Temporary differences relating to
relevant assets and liabilities are assessed on a net basis.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group
will recognise a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and a
deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable temporary
differences associated with the right-of-use assets and the
lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for the Group's annual
reporting period beginning on 1 January 2023. As at 31
December 2022, the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets, right-of-use assets reclassified to sublease and lease
liabilities which are subject to the amendments amounted
to RMB86,721,000 (2021: RMB61,466,000), RMB275,262,000
(2021: RMB293,337,000) and RMB432,593,000 (2021:
RMB428,486,000) respectively. The corresponding deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities recognised amounted
to RMB108,148,000 and RMB?90,496,000 respectively (2021:
RMB107,122,000 and RMB88,701,000 respectively).
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REMBHRRCEREERTRS
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial 3.1 FEMBRR 2 MEELE

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at
the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the
asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Lease (“"HKFRS 16"), and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets ("HKAS 36").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are
to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods,
the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial
recognition the results of the valuation technique equals
the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

e level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEVERRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 32 FEEFTHHEXR

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

© has power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee
unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group's
voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;

e  potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

e  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

e  any additional facts and circumstances that indicate
that the Group has, or does not have, the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time
that decisions need to be made, including voting
patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEVERRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 FESHBRE)

Changes in the Group's interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group's relevant components
of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves
between the Group and the non-controlling interests
according to the Group’s and the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instrument (“HKFRS 9”) or, when applicable, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate
or a joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration
test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The concentration
test is met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross
assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The gross
assets under assessment exclude bank balances and
cash, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the
effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test
is met, the set of activities and assets is determined not to
be a business and no further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies
and recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price
first to financial assets/liabilities at the respective fair
values, the remaining balance of the purchase price
is then allocated to the other identifiable assets and
liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the
date of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to
goodwill or bargain purchase gain.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R BTSRRI R

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(continued)

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets
which includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs. The acquired processes are considered
substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue
producing outputs, including an organised workforce
with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience
to perform the related processes or they significantly
contribute to the ability to continue producing outputs
and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be
replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the
ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

For business combinations in which the acquisition
date is on or after 1 January 2022, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 issued in
June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) except for
transactions and events within the scope of HKAS 37 or
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, in which the Group applies HKAS 37 or
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework
to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes ("HKAS 12") and HKAS 19
Employee Benefits respectively; and

e |ease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease payments
(as defined in HKFRS 16 Leases) as if the acquired
leases were new leases at the acquisition date,
except for leases for which (a) the lease term ends
within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the
underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets
are recognised and measured at the same amount
as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when
compared with market terms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R BTSRRI R

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquire (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
interest in the acquire (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS
9 would be accounted for on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units
(or group of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any
of the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-
generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill
is included in the determination of the amount of profit
or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an
operation within the cash-generating unit (or a cash-
generating unit within a group of cash-generating units),
the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the
basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash-
generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)
retained.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of associates and joint ventures is described below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FREUBKBRRZGEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FTHER (2)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 3.2 FESHBRE)

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and
joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. If the associate and joint venture uses
accounting policies that differ from those of the Group
for like transactions and events in similar circumstances,
appropriate adjustments have been made to conform the
associate’s and the joint venture’s accounting policies
to those of the Group. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture.
Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in
changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group's share of losses of an associate or joint
venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or
joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in
the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses
are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the date
on which the investee becomes an associate or a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group's share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective evidence
exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. FREUBKBRRZGEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FTHER (2)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 FESTBER#E)
Investments in associates and joint ventures REBEQARREEREZRE(E)
(continued)
When the Group ceases to have significant influence HAEEAEHBENF L ERTENL
over an associate or joint control over a joint venture, it RENGEREZ HFAEGE - BHEIIHE
is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in the EERZEREA 22 MBER - FIEAZ
investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised Wan s BEN B R o AR ER LA
in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest in e NmRa S hEREER  MZRE
the former associate or joint venture and the retained R REBUGHREERFEREGE N —
interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, BHemEE  BIXAEEZRZA 2 AFER
the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at ERRBER - Mz FEHRESERY
that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on FHEREZAFE BEATRAEDE
initial recognition. The difference between the carrying ZBREE - ERBE QARG EEZ(E
amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair value ARBER A TFEREEBERRIRE
of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing EhFERBEER 2 EMNMERERZEZRE
of the relevant interest in the associate or joint venture RETEHER S FHE EhE 2 Hamk
is included in the determination of the gain or loss on BERTTEENR ° N - NREB LA
disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the HEfeANaERzE@zEE A AR%E
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in EEEZIAFIARMZBE R RHA S
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate PEREERLERBEERABRIAER
or joint venture on the same basis as would be required ZRRIEEANRR o Et - fWZEE AR
if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of BEDELNEMEE RS ER 2 W
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss FERENOBREHEREBEEENBEZ
previously recognised in other comprehensive income B AIAREEREE B HEHEmE
by that associate or joint venture would be reclassified LBRAIRGELERBZSRANEER
to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or BRENMOBEER(EREMNDERAE) -
liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from
equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or
joint venture.
When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint fHEEERERNEE ZBERRHE LR
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from EETRS  BZBENRNEETER
the transactions with the associate or joint venture are SHEEZERESEREBERAREE
recognised in the consolidated financial statements only BRI RHEAEBERZERLT 7
to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture BRERE MWK ER

that are not related to the Group.

146 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVEBRRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 FESTBER#E)
Investments in associates and joint ventures REBEQARREEREZRE(E)
(continued)
Changes in the Group's interests in associates and joint KEBRIBERNFIRE SR E A
ventures
The Group continues to use the equity method when an BB NT] T IBER AR S E S E
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a B KD B S 0 m B b AR A N
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes TIAR  NEBBEEEEE - B
an investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement Ly S R L B e R B e AT
to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests. @ o
When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an SAREEH LR LN TR A LN
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to ARERERS  (BAEEBEERESER
use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or 140308 75 A 4tb 2 T g A P Bt T 041 S S
loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously EXER T WA EESSERLEHE
been recognised in other comprehensive income relating ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%iﬁn EEiEs - AEEK
to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss Sk EE RS eEH O EEIES -
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities.
Acquisition of additional interests in associates or joint W BERBE A8 N B Bt A A5 2l S o g2
ventures
When the Group increases its ownership interest in an SREERNERBEL AT RS
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues A RERE S B AN B A A PR RE 2SR RS
to use the equity method, goodwill is recognised at WE KBRS D17 B AR
acquisition date if there is excess of the consideration £ M S 2 I\ ¢ i (ST 22 BE TE(E > 3T
paid over the share of carrying amount of net assets % TEEB e RS B R o (4915 FT
attributable to the additional interests in associates or BRSNS B R R IMES SIS A
joint ventures acquired. Any excess of share of carrying gg@@@zimﬁiiaﬁﬁﬁ . BIl%B i EB
amount of net assets attributable to the additional A B SE S S HA RS TE 1B 25 TR RESR o

interests in associates or joint ventures acquired over the
consideration paid are recognised in the profit or loss in
the period in which the additional interest are acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CREE N

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE—F—

ZFFZA=F—HIFFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

e  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group; and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right
to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group's performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly
with the value of the Group's performance completed to
date for service contracts in which the Group bills a fixed
amount for each month, the Group recognises revenue in
the amount to which the Group has the right to invoice.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effects of
the time value of money if the timing of payments agreed
(either explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer
or the Group with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer. In
those circumstances, the contract contains a significant
financing component. A significant financing component
may exist regardless of whether the promise of financing
is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the
payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE—F—

ZFFZA=F—HIFFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Existence of significant financing component (continued)

For contracts where the period between payment and
transfer of the associated goods or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the transaction price for any significant
financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before
the transfer of the associated goods or services in
which the Group adjusts for the promised amount of
consideration for a significant financing component, the
Group applies a discount rate that would be reflected
in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. The relevant
interest expenses during the period between the
advance payments were received and the transfer of the
associated goods and services are accounted for on the
same basis as other borrowing costs.

Contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs
that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer
that it would not have incurred if the contract had not
been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as
an asset if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so
recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss on
a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the assets
relate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. REUBKBRRZGEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL FTHER (2)

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 FESTBER#E)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease

component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office equipment and motor
vehicles that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R BTSRRI R

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

®  an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term is depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment property or inventory
as a separate line item on the consolidated statement
of financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet
the definition of investment property and inventory
are presented within “investment properties” and
“properties for sales” respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets. The directors
of the Company considered that such adjustment has no
material impact to the consolidated financial statements
of the Group.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEVERRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 EESFERE)

Leases (continued) HE(E)
The Group as a lessee (continued) KEEEREAN (B)
Lease modifications HEEH

HIRATER - AEEERHEEERE
RIREBENHE AR

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease o  ZIABIUEBIENER—IANZIEN
by adding the right to use one or more underlying AEENEANBEAEEESEE : &
assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an e FHERMBIEM BN SFEEE RS

ElfE NS EHEBER - AR
FEAONERBAMYEBERE
TTRERDEE FHE

amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

MARER—IHEBHEEARNEEE SR

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a

separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease incentive from lessor by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use
asset.

When the modified contract contains one or more
additional lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component. The associated non-
lease components are included in the respective lease

components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVEBRRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 FESTBER#E)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess
whether the change is a lease modification if all of the
following conditions are met:

e the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

e any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022,
and

e  there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts
for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for the
changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a lease
modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments
are accounted for as variable lease payments. The related
lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts
forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment
recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which the

event occurs.

HE(#E)

AREBEERFETNA ()

e AAREESER
RAMTEHARBEESERELNESE
BME AEEDEETIMB GREEZE
REEREREE D ETTEBEREEHR
AR —REEEN

s MENFEHEHLEITHEREER
Ex2ypcHEREABER D
MERESHE 2 HERE :

o (EMBEENFRIEFER_FT_—
FRA=ZTBH 2 RERNEH 2
AR

s MEZHMERRKHLEELDE
) o

ERATREDEZFSHSEEERZHEE
TR ) 5 B 2 2GR A A R — 75 S e
REAFBRELEYNE1REEZEGHA
R(HZESWIFHEEER]) - HENKZE
RHFMPWARINEATZHEEK - 107
HEABRAERARRE AR RS
W ZEHEE 2 BARERE T ERIARE

8% -

—ToFF%K HBERBEARATE 155



OTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=
i

CREE E A

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Rental income derived from the Group's ordinary course
of business is presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers ("HKFRS 15”) to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-
alone selling prices.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVEBRRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 EESFBRE)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.
The directors of the Company considered that such
adjustment has no material impact to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts
for the head lease and the sublease as two separate
contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or
operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.

The Group uses the discount rate used for the head lease
(adjusted for any initial direct costs associated with the
sublease) to measure the net investment in the sublease if
the interest rate implicit in the sublease cannot be readily
determined.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that
were not part of the original terms and conditions are
accounted for as lease modifications, including lease
incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction of
rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease
payments for the new lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEVERRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 EESFERE)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continued)

Lease modification (continued)

For rent concession under which the Group legally
releases the lessee from its obligation to make specifically
identified lease payment, of which some of these lease
payments are contractually due but not paid and some of
them are not yet contractually due, the Group accounts
for the portions which have been recognised as operating
lease receivables (i.e. the lease payments which are
contractually due but not paid) by applying the ECL and
derecognition requirements under HKFRS 9 and applies
lease modification requirements for the forgiven lease
payments that the Group has not recognised (i.e. the
lease payments which are not yet contractually due) as at
the effective date of modification.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the
production or for administrative purposes are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented as
“right-of-use assets”. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to written off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use
of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties
which are being recognised as right-of-use assets and
subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
investment properties over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account of their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method.

An investment property is transferred to properties
for sales when there is a change in use evidenced by
commencement of development with a view to sale of the
relevant properties. The carrying value of the property at
the date of transfer is the deemed cost of the property for
its subsequent accounting in accordance with HKAS 2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE—F—

ZFFZA=F—HIFFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Properties for sale

Properties for sale under current assets are properties
(under development or completed properties) held for
future sale in the ordinary course of business. Except for
the leasehold land element which is measured at cost
model in accordance with the accounting policies of
right-of-use assets, properties for sale are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined
on a specific identification basis including allocation of
the related development expenditure incurred and where
appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable
value is determined based on the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less estimated cost to
completion and costs necessary to make the sales. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

The Group transfers a property from properties for sale
to investment property at cost when there is a change in
use to hold the property to earn rentals or land for capital
appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course of
business, which is evidenced by the commencement of
an operating lease to another party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities, other than
those classified as FVTPL, are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

e  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

e  the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is not held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk
on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset
and is included in the “fair value gain on financial
asset at FVTPL” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables and bank balances)
and financial guarantee contracts which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognise lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on trade receivables is assessed
individually for all debtors.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of
a default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instruments as at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

®  an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

® an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if the
financial instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if i) the financial
instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations. The Group considers a financial
asset to have low credit risk when it has an internal
or external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per
globally understood definition.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitments is considered to be the date of
initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the
specified debtor will default on the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria
are generally not recoverable:

e when there is a breach of financial covenants by
the counterparty; or

e when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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OTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred. Evidence of credit-impairment
includes observable data about the following
events:

significant financial difficulty of the borrower or

issuer;

a breach of contract such as a default or past
due event;

the lender of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession that the lender would
not otherwise consider; or

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

ﬁé%ﬁﬁ%iﬁ@%ﬁ&i%%
TR ()

32 FEGTHEME)
SRMTEE)
2HEEE)
BAREE BN SRS R BRI TRE T
GRS RAE R MIE B RIE(E)

(iv)

MEH IR

AEEGEEERBTIHE T IRARE
MR - BEBERWE A2
(Plans F 77 8RB Bk B #EAWE
BFEIMHESREE EEZRERE
REE)R EMHEEREED
AJARIBRAN SR B 2 Yo (B4 Fr Bt 5 1 0
17 - MEEBR —BBUEER S - &
BB B EAAT FORR B P RERR

RHEEEE T ERER

BHEEEENGERROME 2
MBRE(BNROKHIEREE) KE
HEBRE KNS - BOMERBHEBXR
RERIRB B E BB RATEIEER
Arfh o BEIE B EEN G RN ER
BT LELEEHNRER
RIESWHETE -

—TooFFR HBERBEARATE 169



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/T\

CREE N

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the ECL is the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts
that the Group expects to receive from the holder,
the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which
the effective interest rate cannot be determined,
the Group will apply a discount rate that reflects
the current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks that are specific to the cash
flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risk
are taken into account by adjusting the discount
rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVEBRRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 EESFBRE)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debts and equity instruments issued by the Group
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEVERRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 EESFERE)

Financial instruments (continued) SWMIAE)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued) BHEERER(E)

Financial liabilities LRAR

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at A & B A EARERERA AR S
amortised cost using the effective interest method. PAAETE

RBHERAGTEZERAE

TRBE(BREGREMEMNTR - FFE
BERER  FRERDFEFRARRT
&E‘rﬁz%%)ﬁfﬁ%ﬁﬁ,\[ﬁﬂmifiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁi

subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the AGTE -

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
loans from non-controlling interests and an intermediate
holding company and bank and other borrowings are

effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts AR IRE K

PHERGOVREELADTE AN
BESELER  UHEREABRETE
RAE AR BEIR AR E 7 T B (RN B B A A
RMEXZBK - WEEREDDTRA
FEAE  WHARERATRERGETE

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payments when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract
liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

s REBEMBMELENFIREBEZ
EiEE TR &

e the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o VFHERETR(HER)ERHANE

appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised B2 RS o

e the amount initially recognised less, where

over the guarantee period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss.

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, right-of-use assets and
contract costs

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, right-of-use assets and contract
costs to determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, investment properties and right-of-use assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n‘/T\

CREE N

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE—F—

ZFFZA=F—HIFFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, right-of-use assets and
contract costs (continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporates assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for
assets capitalised as contract costs under HKFRS 15,
the Group assesses and recognises any impairment
loss on other assets related to the relevant contracts in
accordance with applicable standards. Then, impairment
loss, if any, for assets capitalised as contract costs is
recognised to the extent the carrying amounts exceeds
the remaining amount of consideration that the Group
expects to receive in exchange for related goods or
services less the costs which relate directly to providing
those goods or services that have not been recognised
as expenses. The assets capitalised as contract costs
are then included in the carrying amount of the cash-
generating unit to which they belong for the purpose of
evaluating impairment of that cash-generating unit.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

174 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2022

EUBRRCERREERETES

#E&zmg)

32 EESFERE)

¥ BERRE REWE C£RAEE
ERENREBEE)

RAAREEEBMNRER -  CEXEE
RELEEN -—ENDEEREZERTE
WOBRBEABRSELEMN - BN
BEF-ENIEEEZBATERNE
A&/ ReEEBMARD - TREISER
DEERCEREEMBHRSELSEMNK
AeELEMMAR  YHRABRSELSR
frsiR & B A BRI 2 BRE(EEI T »

EARERBERBH GRS ERNE 155K
BERcEEREBEERSAKKAH -
7 6% [ 4% 5 P 2 R B4 % B AR A () £ AR
BHABBNEMEE 2 RERBIE - B
fied B THL LR 308 7S 5% [ 7 HA U LA # R A 2
EmIRBOREHRBREZRRHZ
EE MRS A B2 KA (R B R
) BIBMERAB KA ERNMLEET =
ZRERE(INE) TIAER - ERMERE
MRAZ BERREFTARMBRESES
BuslREE  AFEZASELELZ
E

AU [B] 5 B8 23 A SRR B A 2{E B (B
BEMEZREE - RAGEREER - &
AAARRBEESREBAERRE AT ISFEE
EREEMNZEE(RRSELEM)EE
b 2 TATREIR R ARIR B HIR(E - MARR
RenE8 et A REAE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, right-of-use assets and
contract costs (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or
the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated

statement of financial position include:

(a)

cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject
to regulatory restrictions that result in such balances
no longer meeting the definition of cash; and

cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value and restricted deposits arising from pre-sale of
properties that are held for meeting short-term cash
commitments. Cash equivalents are held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments
rather than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash

flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash

equivalents as defined above and form an integral part of

the Group's cash management.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. KEVEBRRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued) 32 FESTBER#E)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes/
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”)
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS require or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries) after deducting
any amount already paid.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. BEVERRZHEREERTES
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL TR (#)
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32 EESFERE)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Company (i.e. RMB) using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Government grants (continued)

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other

income”.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of (other than in a business
combination) assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, and interests in joint ventures and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable
to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 requirements to the leasing transaction as a
whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the
lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

182

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses
reported and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated write-down of properties for sale

The Group records properties for sale at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Net realisable value of properties
for sale is determined based on the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, which is estimated based on
prevailing market conditions, less applicable selling expenses
and the anticipated cost to completion, if any.

The Group writes down properties for sale to net realisable
value. If there is an increase in anticipated costs to completion
or a decrease in estimated net sales value, the net realisable
value will decrease and this might result in write-down of
properties for sale to net realisable value. Write downs are
recorded where events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the balances may not be realised. The identification of
write downs requires the use of judgements and estimates.
If the expectation is different, it will impact the carrying value
of properties for sale in the period in which such estimate is
changed.

The net realisable values of certain of the Group's properties
for sale, located in Chongging, Nanjing and Foshan (2021:
Foshan and Chongqing), the PRC, are lower than their carrying
amounts. Accordingly, the carrying amount of properties
for sale of approximately RMB63,332,410,000, net of write-
down of RMB1,213,277,000 (2021: carrying amount of
RMB74,620,484,000, net of write-down of RMB1,234,602,000)
as at 31 December 2022 are set out in note 22.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Land appreciation tax (“LAT")

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC, of which the
implementation varies amongst different tax jurisdictions in
various cities of the PRC. LAT is levied at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the land appreciation value.
The Group determines the land appreciation value as the
proceeds of sales of properties less the estimated deductible
expenditures including cost of land use right, borrowing costs
and the relevant property development expenditures.

The Group recognises LAT in its consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income when
properties are delivered to the buyers, at the time when the
final amounts of LAT payments have not been approved by
the local tax authorities in the PRC. The Group recognised the
LAT based on management's best estimates on the applicable
land appreciation value and the estimated deductible
expenditures. The final tax outcome could be different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, and these differences
will impact the income tax expense and the related income tax
provisions in the period in which such tax is finalised with local
tax authorities.

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax assets of RMB871,471,000 (2021: RMB869,309,000)
mainly in relation to tax losses and LAT have been recognised
at 31 December 2022 as set out in note 21. The utilisation of
the deferred tax assets mainly depends on whether sufficient
future profits or taxable temporary differences will be available
in the future. The directors of the Company determine the
deferred tax assets based on the enacted or substantially
enacted tax rates and the best knowledge of profit projections
of the Group for coming years during which the deferred
tax assets are expected to be utilised. The directors of the
Company will review the assumptions and profit projections
by the end of the reporting period. In cases where the actual
future profits generated are less than expected or there is a
downward revision of estimated future profits, a reversal of
deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the period in which such a reversal
takes place.
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REVENUE 5. W&
An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows: REERAFRE 2 WmHTT
2022 2021
—EC-CF T —F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBETTT
By types of goods or services HE SRR A
Asset management segment BEEEDH
Asset management services income BEEERBWA 30,457 18,934
Properties segment LE LA
Sales of properties for sale HERHHEYE 29,422,870 25,591,850
Properties operation income MEEERA 186,523 45,087
Rental income from investment properties TEMENRS WA (H£10)
(Note 10) 231,497 265,545
29,840,890 25,902,482
29,871,347 25,921,416
By timing of revenue recognition FRM 75 TE AR HY 5 [E]
At a point in time RE— R 29,422,870 25,591,850
Over time & B fiEl 216,980 64,021
Revenue from contracts with customers (Note) HEEA NS (K E) 29,639,850 25,655,871
Rental income from investment properties KLEMFEHHERYA 231,497 265,545
29,871,347 25,921,416

Note: Revenue from contracts with customers are mainly derived from the PRC
except for RMB30,457,000 (2021: RMB18,934,000) related to the operation
in Hong Kong.

The Group enters into a sale and purchase agreement at
the stage the construction of the properties is still ongoing.
Upon the signing of contracts with the customers, the Group
receives certain percentage of contract value as deposits
from customers and recognised as contract liabilities under
HKFRS 15. The Group may provide guarantee to banks in
connection with mortgage granted to the customers to finance
the advanced payment to the Group and the directors of the
Company consider the amount of consideration allocated to
this performance obligations not significant and no transaction
price is allocated to this performance obligation.
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REVENUE (continued)

For contracts entered into with the customers on sales of
properties, the Group recognises the revenue from sales of
properties for sale at a point in time when the completed
property is transferred to customers, being at the point that
the customer obtains the control of the completed property.

Uz )
R EMEMEEFITIMANTS A%H
RERTYEEETE MRS RREET
BHEEY LM RFEEDIE T2
72 S4B o

Contract costs X TN
2022 2021
—E-—F T
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREET T
Incremental costs to obtain contracts EES LM ERK A 229,025 406,749

Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2022 and 2021
relate to the incremental sales commissions paid to property
agents whose selling activities resulted in customers entering
into sale and purchase agreements for the Group’s properties
which are still under construction at the reporting date.
Contract costs are recognised as part of selling expenses
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the period in which revenue from
the related property sales is recognised. The amount of
contract costs amortised in profit or loss during the year
was RMB457,794,000 (2021: RMB319,577,000). There was no
impairment in relation to the costs capitalised during the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The Group applies the practical expedient and recognises the
incremental costs of obtaining contracts relating to the sale
of completed properties as an expense when incurred if the
amortisation period of the assets that the Group otherwise
would have recognised is one year or less.
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5. REVENUE (continued)

5. WHE®)

Contract liabilities EHBE
2022 2021
—E-—F —E=-—4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBET T
Deposits received in respect of pre-sale of BWIEEYFRe
properties 25,992,261 27,367,755
As at 1 January 2021, contract liabilities amounted to R-E-_—F—F—H AEBAEARIE
RMB23,798,352,000. 23,798,352,0007T °
Contract liabilities are classified as current as they are MAYABEEAANES — R BRPANE
expected to be settled within the Group’s normal operating & BlenfEsing o
cycle.
The following table shows how much of the revenue TEHIRAEEIRAEBEESNEEBY
recognised in the current year relates to carried-forward W44 %E o
contract liabilities.
2022 2021
—E__F —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBT T

Revenue recognised that was included in the

SLHERHEENEFAAFNENER

contract liabilities balance at the beginning of BfEsr 2 BERER Y=
the year in respect sales of properties for sale 23,572,294 17,687,170
Leases HE
2022 2021
—EB-F —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFT
For operating leases: MEEHEMS ¢
Fixed lease payments EERERNTK 231,497 265,545
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 Operating Segments, which
requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of
internal report about the components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision makers
("CODM") in order to allocate resources to segments and
to assess their performance. The CODM is the Company's
executive directors.

For the management purpose, the Group is organised into
different property projects engaged in development and sales
of properties, property leasing and assets management in
various cities within the PRC, each of which is considered as
an operating segment by the CODM. For segment reporting
purpose, these operating segments have been aggregated
into two reportable segments: (i) Development and sales of
properties and property leasing (“Properties Segment”); and
(ii) Asset management for office premises and shopping malls
("Asset Management Segment”), according to the nature and
similarity of their products and services, the customer type
or class, the method of products distribution or providing
services, and the regulatory environment, which give rise to a

more meaningful presentation.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results
by reportable and operating segments.
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TEE -

RTEEMBEN  ARERIDRETEEE
WHRENERENEE MEHREREEE
ENTRYMERE  SREBREIBEERRE
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IRZ T 0 ah Y 2 fn MR 75 B 1 B Ko 48 1L
1 BERPEIRER - N HEMIIERRBEH
TANREERE  HESGHR/UTHER]Z2
WOE - (VMEREREERMERE(TVED
1) RVRAENERBYESNEEE R
(TBEETEAHM])  UREEEEBENZ2R -

7 B R Ko KA
INTRIZA 2R EELDEHE D 2 AL B W
NEBDHT

Asset
Management Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
EEEED M L/E RE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR¥TR AR®BTR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ_-_FT_=_fF

TZA=1T—BLFE

Segment revenue Pan:i LG

— external customers —HNEE 30,457 29,840,890 29,871,347
Segment results DEEE 23,535 3,532,988 3,556,523
Unallocated net foreign exchange loss Ko BClE & Uiz 558 (105,629)
Unallocated income ROBUA 74,178
Unallocated expenses AOB S H (60,053)
Unallocated finance costs R B B & B AN (484,376)
Profit before tax R B8 A 2 A 2,980,643
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BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Segment revenue and results (continued)

Asset
Management Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
BEEEDH MEDE A
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBTT ARBTET

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ=-ZF=—4f
+TZA=+—HLEFE

Segment revenue D EBU R

— external customers — HNERE 18,934 25,902,482 25,921,416
Segment results DEPELE 10,867 3,992,979 4,003,846
Unallocated net foreign exchange gain K9 BCHE 3 IR F 58 55,171
Unallocated income ROBLUA 53,386
Unallocated expenses AOBSEH (53,123)
Unallocated finance costs RAOECRLE A (528,411)
Profit before tax R B AT s A 3,530,869

There was no inter-segment sales during both years.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group's accounting policies described in note
3. Segment results represent the profit earned by each
segment without allocation of unallocated corporate costs,
certain finance costs, certain other income and certain net
foreign exchange losses or gains. This is the measure reported
to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER (#)
MEERERE

Segment assets and liabilities

D
huj

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities INTRIZAIZEW|MREEDHE D 2 A EEBEE
by reportable and operating segments: REBEIWN
Asset
Management Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
EEEES I MED wa
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
At 31 December 2022 R-B=-—F+=-A=+—H
Segment assets DEEE 59,247 116,075,846 116,135,093
Goodwill GES 160,210
Other unallocated assets H kDB EE 14,572,997
Total assets BEBE 130,868,300
Segment liabilities DEEE 4,463 75,282,804 75,287,267
Other unallocated liabilities H koL AE 22,854,768
Total liabilities BERHE 98,142,035
Asset
Management Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
BEEEDH I Saail ma
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTFT ARBFT ARBFT
At 31 December 2021 R-B=—F+=A=+—H
Segment assets DEEE 85,277 127,788,530 127,873,807
Goodwill [EES 160,210
Other unallocated assets HthAKDBLEE 10,693,638
Total assets BEME 138,727,655
Segment liabilities DEEE 6,324 68,545,527 68,551,851
Other unallocated liabilities HEiw kDB BE 36,325,207
Total liabilities BE®sE 104,877,058
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and

allocating resources between segments:

. all assets, other than goodwill, certain assets of the

investment holding companies, are allocated to

reportable and operating segments; and

o all liabilities, other than loans from an intermediate

holding company, bank and other borrowings and other

payables of the investment holding companies, are

allocated to reportable and operating segment.

Other segment information

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or

segment assets.

IIH'

D EBE X (#)
HEERARGE)
REEDBRARRAIBHEAEERMS

s MARE(INERERE REZERARZE
DEE)ANREFZBMMEEDT &

© FERECTRETHRRAREN  RE
PR A B R1T R A B DA S FE A
HE)HAREATZHRLEHH -

H it 7 7 &+
AHED SN K ERK D FEEMT R

Asset
Management Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
EEEES M MED B e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ_—Z_——
tT-A=+—-HLFE

Addition to non-current assets (Note) IERBEENE (ME) - 935,248 935,248
Interest income B U A - 286,017 286,017

Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BENMRETTE
equipment 7 42,514 42,521
Depreciation of investment properties LEYEITE - 143,090 143,090
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRELEENE - 39,827 39,827
Write-down of properties for sale ORI E Y B - 206,773 206,773
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Other segment information (continued)

DEER (&)
Hith o ZpE (&)

Asset
Management Properties
Segment Segment Consolidated
BEEESH MEDE ma
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBTT ARETT

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZ=-ZE=—4f
+ZBA=+—RHLFE
Addition to non-current assets (Note) ETRHEBERNE (M)

Interest income AEMA

Depreciation of property, plant and YE - BEMREITE
equipment

Depreciation of investment properties REYEITE

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE

Write-down of properties for sale WOR AT S 3

— 3,909,694 3,909,694

- 232,354 232,354
7 34,569 34,576
- 148,579 148,579
= 94,798 94,798
— 360,538 360,538

Note: Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets and non-current other
receivables.

The Group's revenue from external customers is derived from
the PRC, including Hong Kong. No single customer of the
Group contributed 10% or more to the Group's revenue for
both years.

Substantially all of the Group’s non-current assets (excluding
deferred tax assets and financial instruments) are located in
the PRC.

Geographical information

The Group's Properties Segment is located in Foshan,
Guangzhou, Nanjing and Jurong, Chongging, Xi'an, the PRC
and Hong Kong.

Information about the revenue from external customers is
presented based on the location of the operations. Assets
of Properties Segment and Asset Management Segment are
presented based on the location of the operation and place of
management decision.

Htat - IEMENE E T BIFRLES 18 & E K& I 8 H b fE R
1 -

AEERBEIMBER 2B FKBRRFE(BEE
)  AEBYEE -FEPNAEEMEFEZ
W BRI10%EA £ -

AEBABARBDEE(TREREERBEE
e T R)HURPHE -

H 3R E Y
REBZYMED LRI - BN - ARRG
" BE ARKEFE-

BREKBIIREPHREZERTIEREE L
B2 - MENMREEEESHNEETIE
RREHF R EIRERFIME LT -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information (continued)

6. PEER &)
I ER (&)

Revenue from
external customers

Segment assets

RENBEF 2= DEEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-—F —E -4 —EBE__—F —E -4
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTTT AR¥T T ARBT T
Foshan Bl 1,438,595 3,866,389 6,397,686 10,122,253
Guangzhou EM 1,456,587 2,218,805 26,348,349 23,500,158
Nanjing and Jurong ERERAOR 14,151,546 8,507,651 36,656,182 47,721,601
Chongqing EE 5,007,814 8,981,974 23,981,397 23,124,732
Xi'an AL 7,742,547 2,264,952 21,621,723 22,388,256
Hong Kong BB 74,258 81,645 1,129,756 1,016,807
29,871,347 25921416 116,135,093 127,873,807
7. OTHER INCOME 7. HMA

2022 2021
—E-—& T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREF T
Bank interest income RITHBUA 174,151 98,150
Interest income on amount due from associates FEULEE & N B 2 IE 2 K B U A 101,524 165,587
Interest income on amount due from joint ventures AN 7 F B A 77,059 6,919

Interest income on amount due from FEUIEIZ AR e 3R IR 2 FI 2 A
non-controlling interests 5,381 12,729
Interest income on amount due from a third party ~ FEIR—HRE=FRBZF EUA 243 1,392
Interest income on amount due from an investee  JE—ZREURFTIBZ M EHWA 1,384 949
Government grants BT Bh 9,203 5,817
Others Hitb 26,619 22,655
395,564 314,198
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BAEMA
2022 2021
B —EFE—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBFT
Interest on: F & -
—bank and other borrowings - RITRHEMEE 736,607 698,948
— lease liabilities -MHE8E 20,848 15,350
— loans from an intermediate holding company - —REEER AR 2 &R 854,200 397,118
— loans from non-controlling interests - IR KER B 55,284 153,652
—bonds - &% - 88,129
Total borrowing costs BEB KA 1,666,939 1,353,197
Less: Amounts capitalised in the cost of B BEERNEREEBEEKRAZ
qualifying assets FRIE (1,039,029) (661,536)
627,910 691,661
Borrowing costs capitalised to properties under development SANKIE27 - 28 R29FTHER - EE AL AR
for sale were determined by the contracted interest rates of HEBRRTYECZEERAEZBEZEHF
respective borrowings as disclosed in notes 27, 28 and 29. KEETE ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

9. FrEHiRIY

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB’000

AR®BTR AR®BTE

The income tax expenses comprise of: FTiSHif 2 81

Hong Kong Profits Tax BEMER 6,667 2,567

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") RS R(EEMSH])

— Current year - REE 770,515 918,228

— (Over) under-provision in prior year - AAFE(RERE)BETR (14,097) 23,714

Withholding tax expenses EEilkiERS 16,015 239,944

LAT TR ER 487,639 800,874
1,266,739 1,985,327

Deferred taxation (Note 21) REBIE (M 7E21) (16,122) (37,324)

1,250,617 1,948,003

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
statutory EIT rate of the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC
is 25%. Further, 5% or 10% withholding income tax is generally
imposed on dividends relating to profits earned by the PRC
entities that are owned by non-PRC entities within the Group.

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from
sales of properties less estimated deductible expenditures
including cost of land use right, borrowing costs and the
relevant property development expenditures.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021. The directors of the Company considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated financial
statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE—F_—Ff+_F=+—HIFE
9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

9. FRIEFIX ()

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the REFEHXHEGEEBER AR E KR
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or RABRBANRFERAT
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:
2022 2021
—E-= T —F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREETTT
Profit before tax B 35 Al e A 2,980,643 3,530,869
Tax at the income tax rate of 25% (2021: 25%) 1225% (=T = —14F : 25%)F{s#t
(Note) MEFTHE 2 HE (M) 745,161 882,717
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax AT 2 2 2 i s 2
purposes 63,644 6,756
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes HBZERE 7 WA 7 Tl 75 57 2 (113,285) (117,028)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses previously — B)FBERER 2 TR EEE 2 75
not recognised SE (17,670) (8,985)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERR AR 2 RIS & 185,490 161,119
LAT + 3 IEE R 487,639 800,874
Tax effect of LAT THIRERN 2 B2 (121,910) (200,219)
(Over) under-provision in prior year BEFE(BRERE)BETR (14,097) 23,714
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences KRR AT T =5 2 TS 2
not recognised 181,205 203,625
Tax effect of utilisation of deductible temporary  B)FBERER 2 AT G Z5E >
differences previously not recognised sz & (118,013) (54,766)
Dividend withholding tax expense AR EFEMBL X 39,989 215,428
Effect of different tax rates in other jurisdictions ~ EAh /AR TR E 2 F £ (67,536) 34,768
Income tax expense FIiS i 1,250,617 1,948,003

Note: 25% represents the tax rate in the jurisdiction where the operation of the

Group is substantially based.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

10. BRBEL AR A

2022 2021
—E-—F& —E=-—4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFT
Profit before tax has been arrived at after charging B & A& A& & (5T &%)
(crediting): TH&HEEEE :
Employee benefits expenses (including directors’ EERMNAZ(BREESHH) :
remuneration):
Salaries and other allowances Hra LE MR 364,847 418,318
Pension scheme contributions RIS EIER 48,839 40,101
Total staff costs B I A4E5E 413,686 458,419
Less: Amounts capitalised to properties under W BEERNMERAHEHE
and for sale BRAPYEZRIE (233,734) (278,851)
179,952 179,568
Gross rental income from investment properties HEMEBAS WA (M 5E5)
(Note 5) (231,497) (265,545)
Less: Direct operating expenses incurred, W FTEEZEEKEERX
excluding depreciation (TRIEE) 195,569 144,177
Less: Depreciation of investment properties o REWETE 143,090 148,579
107,162 27,211
Cost of properties for sale recognised as expenses  MERIERY 2 Al HEWEKR A 25,295,266 20,776,436
Depreciation of investment properties WEYEITE 143,090 148,579
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRHEEERE 39,827 94,798
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment WE - BE MEREITE 42,521 34,576
Auditor’s remuneration ZE A& 3,940 5,045
Write-down of properties for sale (included in cost of #ijs Al H & 93 (5t AR i
properties for sale) HEYER ) 206,773 360,538
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  HE¥ZE - BE & REEE 33 1
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

1. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS

(a) The emoluments paid or payable to each of the ten (2021:

ten) directors were as follows:

For year ended 31 December 2022

1. EEBRIEE 2 HN

() BEffsENTR(ZE-_—F: +8)EF
ZEBEZEMET :
BE-—S-——+—-—A=+—HIEE

Mr. Yu
Dr. So Zhiliang Mr. Wong
Shu Fai Note (v) King Yuen Total
RERKE
EERE L W) — BRREE Hat
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®BTRT AR®BTR AR®TR AR®BTR
A. EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: A BTES:
Fee paid or payable in respect of  Bt{ERZARA TS E K
a person’s services as a director, BARERME
whether of the Company or its 2 R 2 B A
subsidiaries SERMHEE 34 34 34 102
Emoluments paid or payable in HEBALTEEER
respect of a person’s other ARE REME
services in connection with NEIEHPTIR G
the management of the ZEMRBZE
affairs of the Company and its EYENE A
subsidiaries
Other emoluments: HArE
Salaries and allowances e K= - 1,106 - 1,106
Performance related incentive KB AR BN I RAE
payments bonus (Note (i) L (HizEG) - 1,321 - 1,321
Retirement benefits scheme RINEFFTEIH R
contributions - - 2 2
Sub-total INET 34 2,461 36 2,531
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DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@) (continued) (a)
For year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

(%)
BE-E-_—_Ff+-A=1+—HLLEE#E)

1. EFREEZHFMN =)

Mr. Huang Mr. Xu Ms. Liu Ning
Junlong Yongjun (Note (vi)) Total
glEt
BEYEEE  HKELRE (it (vi) st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRT AR®BTR AR®TR AR®BTR
B. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: B. ¥#H{TEZE :
Fees paid or payable in respect of  Bt{EAZA T K H K
a person'’s services as a director, BRRIEEMR
whether of the Company or its 2 IR 2 B A
subsidiaries SERMES 34 34 34 102
Dr. Wong
Wing Kuen,  Ms. Chen Dr. Shi
Albert Yanping Xinping  Mr. He Qi Total
FRERLE REFxE L£LHPEL R EE 5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AR¥TRT AR¥TRT AR¥TRT AR¥TR
C. INDEPENDENT NON- C. BUFBITES:
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:
Fees paid or payable in ERADRE
respect of a person'’s EFTIRMARTS
services as a director of the Z BT SRER
Company e 116 116 116 116 464
Total emoluments ke 3,097
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@) (continued)
For year ended 31 December 2021

1. EFREEZHFMN =)

(@) (&)
BE-Z-_—F+-A=+—HLEFE

Dr. So Mr. Yu Mr. Wong
Shu Fai Zhiliang King Yuen Total
BEERET  REREE ERREL st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARETT ARBETT AREBTE
A. EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: A HITES:
Fee paid or payable in respect of  Bt{EAZA TS EHK
a person'’s services as a director, BRAIEEPTIR
whether of the Company or its 2 RS2 B
subsidiaries FEMEE 33 33 33 99
Emoluments paid or payable in HEBATERRH
respect of a person’s other AN A R E
services in connection with DR EB TR
the management of the ZEMREZE
affairs of the Company and its SEYARE
subsidiaries
Other emoluments: H b Erm -
Salaries and allowances o K2R = 1,049 = 1,049
Performance related incentive R RE AT
payments bonus (Note (i) KL(HTEEG) = 1,755 = 1,755
Retirement benefits scheme REFIET IR
contributions - - 2 2
Sub-total INat 33 2,837 35 2,905
Mr. Huang Mr. Xu
Junlong Yongjun  Ms. Liu Ning Total
BYELEE  FKELRE BEL+ st
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETT ARBTT AREBTR
B. NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: B. ¥#TE= :
Fees paid or payable in respect of  Bt{ERZARRA T K& E K
a person'’s services as a director, BRAIESMR
whether of the Company or its 2 RS2 BEAF
subsidiaries HENHEE 33 33 33 99
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1.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

1. EFREEZHFMN =)

(continued) (a) (#&)
For year ended 31 December 2021 (continued) BE-_Z_—S+_-_A=1+—HILFE#E)
Dr. Wong
Wing Kuen, Ms. Chen Dr. Shi
Albert Yanping Xinping Mr. He Qi Total

ToxERLE  BEE

Zt  RHFEL ([bpts st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARKTE ARETT ARETT ARETR
C. INDEPENDENT NON- C. BUFHTES:
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:
Fees paid or payable in respect  Bi{EAARAT]
of a person’s services as a EEIRM
director of the Company Rz B3
e 112 112 112 112 448
Total emoluments k| 3,452
Notes: Kiat -

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The discretionary bonus was determined with reference to the
individual performance.

The Company does not have any chief executive for which the
functions are carried out by all the executive directors.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration for both years.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors as
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office.

On 3 February 2023, Mr. Yu Zhiliang has been re-designated as a
non-executive Director.

On 3 February 2023, Ms. Liu Ning has resigned as a non-executive
Director.

On 3 February 2023, Ms. Chen Yan has been appointed as an
executive Director.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

11.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) The five highest paid employees of the Group during the (b)
year included one director (2021: one director) whose
emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 11(a)

1. EFREEZHFMN =)

AEEAEBRAERSHFMNATHBEIE—
B(ZE-—F: —R)BEE HFHMR L
XHFE(a)HE AFEHTOZ(ZF

above. Details of the emoluments for the year of the ——F  WE)EeFMA LT ZHMEFIED
remaining four (2021: four) highest paid employees are as ~:
follows:
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Salaries, allowances and other benefits e EALREAMEF 3,661 4,121
Contributions to retirement benefits schemes :R/K1E AR5t 2 5k 538 454
Discretionary and performance related 15 K 3% 35 40 8 1S B~ 3
incentive payments 6,971 6,574
11,170 11,149

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five
highest-paid employees as inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

AEEHBERTALAZSHMA LN
B AEREMASRIMAREEREZ
REIEREBERE

o

BEHHNTFATEE :

Number of employees

BEAH
2022 2021
—E-CF —T-—F
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") 2,000,001 to AR ([7%1)2,000,0017T Z #% 2,500,000
HK$2,500,000 (2022: approximately T(ZEZZF : HARKE1, 717,801 %
RMB1,717,801 to RMB2,147,250; AR¥2,147,2507T : ZEZ—F : HAR
2021: approximately RMB1,660,001 to 1,660,001 TE AR #2,075,0007T )
RMB2,075,000) 2 1

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 (2022:
approximately RMB2,147,251 to
RMB2,576,700; 2021: approximately
RMB2,075,001 to RMB2,490,000)

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 (2022:
approximately RMB2,576,701 to
RMB3,006,150; 2021: approximately
RMB2,490,001 to RMB2,905,000)

HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 (2022:
approximately RMB4,294,501 to
RMBA4,723,950; 2021: approximately
RMB4,150,001 to RMB4,565,000)

752,500,001 T = 3,000,000 (=&

—oF HARKE2147 251 TR AREE

2,576,7007 i —E=—F : HARE

2,075,001 2 A R #2,490,0007T) - 2
753,000,001 T E 7 #3,500,00070 (=&

—oF AR 576,701 TEAREE

3,006,1507C : —E=—F : HARE

2,490,001 L& AR #2,905,0007T) 1 =
755,000,001 T E 7 #5,500,00070 (=&

ZoF  HARKEL 294 501 TEAREE

47239507 i —E=——F : HARK

4,150,001702 AR #4,565,0007T) 1 1
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE—F—

12.

13.

ZFFZA=F—HIFFE

DIVIDENDS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, a final dividend of
HK$0.06 per ordinary share in respect of the year ended 31
December 2021 (2021: HK$0.07 per ordinary share in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2020) was declared and paid
to the shareholders of the Company. The aggregate amount
of final dividend paid from share premium of the Company
during the year amounted to approximately RMB252,490,000
(2021: RMB286,644,000).

Subseqguent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 of HK$0.03
(equivalent to approximately RMBO0.027) per share has been
proposed by the directors of the Company and is subject
to approval by the shareholders of the Company in the
forthcoming general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

12.

13. BIRE

iz B
F@ﬁfg::¢+_ﬂi+*5¢¢§'$

ANEEREE-_E-_—F+-_A=+—HItF
B2 RER B ER @B (ZFE=—
FBET-TF+_A=+—HLFES
fi& @A HE0.07 7T ) + WRIAR R REIRLS ©
RER BB L AR 252,490,000 (==
——4F : AR#286,644,0007C) IR ER B A
AR = EIRS o

RBERHEEERR  ARRESCERBRN
FRBE—_T_—_F+_A=t—HLFEZ
RER S BB 0.03T(HBE RN ARK0.027
JT) v WERFFAR BN RERE R R KNG 4t E
& TAMERE -

Al
ARAEE AN G RERBRN TR T 5B
HE

2022 2021
—E-—F = —4F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFT
Earnings BZF
Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings per  stE&REARZEF] 2 2 F| (BIAA
share, being profit for the year attributable to B A A EEFEAREF])
owners of the Company 329,659 560,569
2022 2021
—E-—F —EF-—F
Number of shares R7EE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 5+ & & E A B F 2 38 4% hniE F
the purpose of basic earnings per share HE 4,905,257,860 4,905,257,860

No diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 were presented as there were no
potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. % - BMEREZE

Owned Leasehold Motor Office
properties improvements vehicles  equipment Total
FEENE BENERE RE BAERE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBT R ARETR AR®T R
(o(0}1) KA
At 1 January 2021 N-ZE-_—F—F—H 28,453 306,753 9,111 19,636 363,953
Additions NE - 7,448 1414 3,657 12,519
Disposals HE - - (1,852) (1,585) (3,437)
Exchange realignment 0 1 = - - - (31) 31
At 31 December 2021 and A—E-—F4+-F=+—H
1 January 2022 R=E-_—F—-F—H 28,453 314,201 8,673 21,677 373,004
Additions NE - 25,343 758 1,644 27,745
Disposals HE - - (422) (1,693) (2,115)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34)  HE—FRHBEAR(A7:234) - (2,585) - - (2,585)
Exchange realignment B 1 s - - - 153 153
At 31 December 2022 RZE-_—F+-f=1—H 28,453 336,959 9,009 21,781 396,202
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION  ZitifE
At 1 January 2021 RZE-—%—H—H 9,317 62,062 6,192 13,604 91,175
Provided for the year FEREE 1,026 29,991 844 2,715 34,576
Eliminated on disposals PR - = (1,726) (1,506) (3,232)
Exchange realignment 0 1 s = = = 13 13
At 31 December 2021 and R-B-—E+-f=+-H
1 January 2022 &—F-—%—H—H 10,343 92,053 5,310 14,826 122,532
Provided for the year EW%% 1,026 36,969 1,302 3,224 42,521
Eliminated on disposals REER 4 - - (383) (1,474) (1,857)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34)  HE—FHMBAR(A7:234) - (2,438) - - (2,438)
Exchange realignment P H G - - - 69 69
At 31 December 2022 —Z--"#+-R=1-H 11,369 126,584 6,229 16,645 160,827
CARRYING VALUES ﬁ@fﬁ
At 31 December 2022 —Z-"#+-R=1-A 17,084 210,375 2,780 5,136 235,375
At 31 December 2021 RZZE-_—-F+-A=1+—H 18,110 222,148 3,363 6,851 250,472
—To—FF3% HBEREMBRAR 203
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14.

(continued)

The Group's owned properties are erected on land located in
the PRC.

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated using the straight-line basis, after taking into
account of their estimated residual values, at the following
rates per annum:

Owned properties 5% or over the lease terms of the
relevant land, if shorter

Leasehold improvements  Over the lease terms of the
relevant properties

ME  BERSRE®)

AEEMHEENYEERNTE LML

b - BB RRERBEEBEMGF R
BEREATEMNEUEROETENE

PRI 5%k (fH#RE) 1RAAE
TR
MEMERE  RAEYWFEES

Motor vehicles 15% - 20% RE 15% —20%
Office equipment 15% - 20% MAERME 15%—20%
15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. EAEEE
Land and Motor
buildings vehicles Total
TH RAEF RE Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREETTT AREETTT ARBETTT
As at 31 December 2022 R-EBE-_—_HF+=-A=+—H
Carrying amount BRTEE 74,220 12,501 86,721
As at 31 December 2021 R-E-—4%+=-H=+—H
Carrying amount BEEmEE 61,466 - 61,466
For the year ended BE—_f-—_—f+=-A=+—H
31 December 2022 I
Depreciation charge eEEH 38,578 1,249 39,827
For the year ended BE-Z-—-F+=-HA=+—H
31 December 2021 IEFE
Depreciation charge HEEH 94,557 241 94,798
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

15. FAEEE®)

2022 2021

—EB-CF —EFE—F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBFT

Expense relating to short-term leases FHARHESENZH 5,259 5,215
Total cash flow for leases (excluding leasehold FER &R EER (T B A

lands for properties for sale) HEWEZEE j:i‘@) 99,808 144,571

Additions to right-of-use assets NEFRREE 92,211 95,080

For both years, the Group leases various offices and vehicles
for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
term of 1 year to 20 years (2021: 1 year to 20 years). Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period,
the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines
the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for motor
vehicles and office equipment. As at 31 December 2022
and 2021, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the
portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease
expense disclosed above.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the right of use
assets amounting to RMB142,010,000 was transferred to
investment properties.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total cash outflow
for leases is RMB8,184,235,000 (2021: RMB19,972,061,000),
including RMB16,739,000 (2021: RMB14,210,000) paid for
leased properties under subleases and RMB8,084,427,000
(2021: RMB19,827,490,000) paid for acquiring leasehold lands.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants to the
Group.

RREFEE  A&EEHEZERAZERAE -
AEEZE - ifHEAAME - HEAHEE
BIERE0F (T = —4F  1FEE209)5]3L °
HAEGTIRERNEERER - BREZBETRIE
KRN - RETAS R E T HESHNR
B AEECREACHNEERETANT
HATHY -

AEESeFEHIYAEBRERRAETREHENE
HEE R-_TE_—_FRK_ZFT-_—F+_-A
=+t—HB SHAENHEAEEFEENREH
ESTHNEBAEaaEM -

BE-_Z-_—F+_A=+—HItFE " #H
HEEAR®142,010000 D EREZTREY
%o

%@ T —F+-_A=1+—HILEFE - %iii
Re&Emti@5E A ARES,184,2350007T (=
——% : AR¥19,972,061,0007T) %ﬁf
HIETHHEEMESIFHAR16,739,0007T
(ZZT=——4%F : AR%14,210,00070) & 5t &
FE L e AR ¥8,084,427,000 (==

——%F : AR#19,827,490,0007T) °

S 197 % N 8 () AN £R (B e AN AEART 2249
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various apartments and retail stores
under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The
leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 15 years (2021: 1
to 15 years), with unilateral rights to extend the lease beyond
initial period held by lessees only. Majority of the lease

16. IREWZ

contracts contain market review clauses in the event the lessee FEF) o

exercises the option to extend.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of
the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the

AEERBEKEHREHHAZEAAERTER
HoomASESAXN - Tﬁ‘fﬁmﬂ,ﬁﬁfﬁz%
BI5FE(ZE-_—F  1215%F) » RAEABHEAA
BFAHBLERAEVIHNER - KEHHE
AHEEMBOBER(WEBRBATFEEREE

AL B ERAEE R E RN AR - RE
RAHESAEE T E’J*E%ﬁlﬂﬁéiﬁ &t

respective functional currencies of group entities. The lease B - AEEHNITTBEFBREERERRE S

contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee'’s
option to purchase the property at the end of lease term.

HARER AR

SRRV AR o

Total
et
RMB’'000
AR¥TT
COST ey
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-_—F—HF—H 3,563,992
Addition NE 96,818
Transfer from right-of-use assets HEAFREEE 142,010
Transfer to properties for sale EHEA R EYE (7,535)
Exchange realignment BEE 3, 58 (29,580)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R-ZE-—F+-A=1+—HK
- _f—H—H 3,765,705
Addition NE 2,316
Transfer from properties for sale Ea A EYE 132,480
Transfer to properties for sale st HEYE (175,450)
Exchange realignment b o FE2E 100,162
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-_—&+—-_HA=+—H 3,825,213
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZEtiE
At 1 January 2021 N-_ZE-—F—HF—H 297,534
Provided for the year FRREE 148,579
Transfer to properties for sale EHEA R EYE (3,937)
Exchange realignment PE H AR (1,939
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 RZBZ—F+ZA=+—HK
T =_F—H—H 440,237
Provided for the year FAR 143,090
Transfer to properties for sale EEOHEHEE (9,091)
Exchange realignment L 7,455
At 31 December 2022 R-E-_—_F+-_HA=+—H 581,691
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-_—&+-_HA=+—H 3,243,522
At 31 December 2021 R-ZE-_—%+-_HA=+—H 3,325,468
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16. REYIZ (@)

The Group's investment properties are erected on land
located in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The fair value of investment properties as at 31 December
2022 of RMB3,601,500,000 (2021: RMB3,613,600,000) has
been arrived at on the basis of valuations carried out on the
respective dates by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal
and Advisory Limited, an independent qualified professional
valuer, not connected to the Group.

As at 31 December 2022, the fair values of investment
properties of RMB1,065,400,000, RMB144,400,000,
RMB1,164,700,000 and RMB1,227,000,000 (2021:
RMB1,089,000,000, RMB62,000,000, RMB1,334,600,000
and RMB1,128,000,000) corresponding to the investment
properties owned by the group with carrying amount of
RMB2,887,387,000 (2021: RMB2,936,162,000) in Nanjing,
Guangzhou, Chonggqging, the PRC and Hong Kong
respectively, are determined based on the income approach
and direct comparison approach. The fair value based on
income approach is determined by taking into account the net
rental income of a property derived from its existing leases
and/or achievable in the existing market with due allowance
for the reversionary income potential of the leases which
have then been capitalised to determine the fair value at an
appropriate capitalisation rate. The fair value based on direct
comparison approach is determined by assuming sale with
the benefit of immediate vacant possession and by making
reference to comparable sales evidence as available on the
market.

AEBREMEEZNPEARFE LM E

BEME 2 ATFER B -__F+=-_A=+—
HA AR3,601,500,000c( —ZE=—4F: AR
#3,613,600,0007T ) + Jhik BN £ (B AR B E 2
BYABRBEEGEMPEBTOETGHERE
AR ARRIER B AT EER -

R-ZE-_—F+-A=+—H FEER &
N EEREAREVMEATESAEARE
1,065,400,000 7T + A K % 144,400,0007C + A
K %1,164,700,0007T & A R ¥ 1,227,000,00070
(ZZ=—% : AR¥1,089,000,0007T * AR¥E
62,000,0007C + A FR#1,334,600,0007C &2 A R
#£1,128,000,0007T) * ANEEFTHEE HEIEIREY
E(MEAEEAARK?2,887,387,000t (=T ——
&£ ANR#2,936,162,0007T) @ ZZE RN FE IR
WAERBELBEEE - RIKAEFENA
FEDETR—BEVERGEBERAER, =X
RIBEMS LAIRRZ AR AFEEE @ I
HZEHEZERRABNEEE BE - B
EHEERERBEENLE T AEARIA
EBEATE - REAELKBEFENAFEDIR
REAARERTBERATHEL2EmE LR
WA BB HEREMETE °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_F_—Ff+_FA=+—HIFE
16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

17.

The fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 of
the investment properties of the Group are at Level 3. There
were no transfers between fair value hierarchies during both
years. There has been no change to the valuation technique on
the investment properties in Guangzhou, Nanjing, Chongqing,
the PRC and Hong Kong, used in the prior years. In estimating
the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of
the properties is their current use. The fair values of certain
investment properties have been adjusted to exclude prepaid
or accrued operating lease income to avoid double counting.

As at 31 December 2022, investment properties together
with trade receivables with carrying values of approximately
RMB1,724,601,000 (2021: RMB1,207,206,000) and RMB345,000
(2021: Nil) respectively have been pledged to secure bank
and other borrowings amounting to RMB1,085,864,000 (2021:
RMB622,600,000) granted to the Group (see note 29).

The above investment properties are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

16. BEWHE #)

AEBMGEMEZ ATFERFIR=ZZT=Z=_FK
—E=—F+-A=+—"HBAE=F - FME
FEAN G AFERHZHBEER - BREFE
REEEN R EERESREMEMRA
ZIEERMITEREE - Bt EWEZATE
B ZEWEEBAMCRAZAEES ARER
®oe BETHREVENDAFEDEAE - UMk
Bfte BT EHERA - MMl eEEtE -

RZBEZ=—F+=—A=+—8 AKECEH
IREEL AR1,724,601,0007( —F = —4F :
AR #1,207,206,0007T ) 2 & ¥ % K 8K & &
PAR®EIM5000(ZE=Z—F : T) 2 ¥
EWHIE U B FAEBZRITREABR
AR H1,085,864,000c(ZE=—F : AR
622,600,0007T) EH EAR (R HIEE29) °

PR EYRBIA TN ENRAERRAEIE

Leasehold land and Over the shorter of lease terms or 27 HETHNEFT HHEAN2/VFRE ZEE
building years =)
GOODWILL 17. B
RMB'000
AR¥T T
COST AND CARRYING VALUE BA K BREE
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 and 31 MN-EBE-_—F—H—H - —_T=_—%F
December 2022 + - A=t+—"RHAR=-ZEBE-_—_F+=-A=+—H 160,210

Goodwill was arising from the restructuring during the year
ended 31 December 2013. Goodwill has been allocated to
the group of CGUs comprising the Properties Segment, that
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition in
prior years.

The directors of the Company have performed the assessment
on impairment and determined that the recoverable amount
of CGUs was higher than the carrying amount of goodwill
based on the profitability of the CGUs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

18. REEE N B 2 &

2022 2021

—E-—F T

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T ARBET T

Costs of investments in associates KEEE N A Z A 9,480,942 10,115,242

Share of post-acquisition results, net of dividend S{h I BE& %45 - BB WRE

received 547,316 463,450
Exchange adjustment FE 5 R 121,433 (105,531)
10,149,691 10,473,161

Details of the principal associates as at 31 December 2022 and

2021 are as follows:

R-B-_—FR-_FT_—%+-A=+—-A02

B

A NRFFERIIMAT

Proportion
Place of of effective Proportion
establishment/ Registered ownership interests of voting Principal
Name of companies operation share capital held by the Group power held activities
AEEREYL
AER R/ EEHH iR ERERRERLY FERERLE  TEXH
2022 221 2022 2021
ZE-CE -F--F CECCE O CZ--F
% % % %
Guangzhou Liansen Real Estate Company Limited®  The PRC RMB200,000,000 34 3 34 34 Property development
ENBREHERRAR hE ARH200000,0007 S
Guangzhou Lianzhou Real Estate Company Limited*  The PRC RMB200,000,000 34 U 34 34 Property development
BHBREERRAR R ARH200000,0007C NELR
Nanjing Shizhaoguansheng Property Company ~ The PRC RMB250,000,000 49 49 49 49" Property development
Limited* i AR 250,000,007 VELHE:
HRERERERARAT
Gezhouba Nanjing Property Company Limited* ~ The PRC RMBS50,000,000 30 Rl 30 30 Property development
ENARRERARAA G AFRH50,000,0007 NEER
Nanjing Merchants Xingsheng The PRC RMBS0,000,000 3 3 31 31 Property development
Property Development Co,, Ltd* G AR H50,000,00070 ELES
ERARAREHERRAA
Xian Wocheng Property Development Co,, Ltd* ~ The PRC RMB10,860,000 3 3 3 33 Property development
ERREFHERSERAR hE ARH10,860,0007 NEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

A__\
AL

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. MEFE DA 2w ()
Proportion
Place of of effective Proportion
establishment/ Registered ownership interests of voting Principal
Name of companies operation share capital held by the Group power held activities
AEEREL
ARER R/ %% R BRERRRRILA FERERLE  TEXE
2022 201 2022 2021
ZEIZE CBC-F ZRICE CEC-F
% % % %
Plenty Thrive Investment Limited The BV United States dollars 25 2 25 25 Investment holding
REREARAR ABRNEE (*US$) 86,900,000 and property
86,900,000 72 development
RERRRIZER
Joy Origin Holdings Limited ("Joy Origin”) Hong Kong HK$10 30 k. 30 30 Investment holding
HREERRAR(HS]) B BEI0T and property
development
RERRRNZER

Nanjing Shansheng Property Development Limited*  The PRC RMBA00,000,000 2 2 20 20 Property development

BREREHEREARAT HE AE900,000,0007C VELHE

Xixian New District Wenmao Properties Limited* ~ The PRC RMB10,000,000 50 5 50 50 Property development
(*Xixian Wenmao") (Note i ARH10000,0007T NELR

BRREERRAR ([ RAUK ) (W)

Guangzhou Eslite Real Estate Co. Ltd * The PRC RMB840,000,000 25 5 25 25 Property development

BMFREXARAA H AR %840,000,0007C VELHE:

Guangzhou Kuangrong Real Estate The PRC RIMBA90,000,000 49 49 49 49 Property development
Development Co. Ltd * kY K %490,000,0007C NEER
ENEREHEREBRAA

Nanjing Zhaoying Real Estate Development Co. Ltd* The PRC RIMBS530,000,000 27 2] 2 21 Property development
ARRERHEREARAT H ARH530,000,0007C NEER

Foshan Qinghao Real Estate Co. Ltd* The PRC RMB3,250,000,000 50 50 50 50 Property development
("Foshan Qinghao”) (Note i el ARH3,250,000,00070 NEER

BlmERERARAR (B (i)

Nanjing Shixin Real Estate Co. Ltd* The PRC RMB800,000,000 49 49 49 49 Property development

BRTOEHEERAR i AR 800,000,007 NEER

Guangzhou Kuangyu Investment Co. Ltd * The PRC RMB2,500,000,000 49 49 49 49 Property development
("Guangzhou Kuangyu") B K %2,500,000,0007 ELE

BHPREREBRAA(ENEE])

210 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

18. REEE N R 2= ()

Proportion
Place of of effective Proportion
establishment/ Registered ownership interests of voting Principal
Name of companies operation share capital held by the Group power held activities
AEEREL
ARER R/ E¥H% iR ERERRER L FERERLE  TEXK
2022 201 2022 2021
ZEIDE CEC-F ZRICE CEC-F
% % % %

Nanjing Huayao Real Estate Co. Ltd * The PRC RMB4,000,000,000 45 45 45 45 Property development

(“Nanjing Huayao") i AR E4,000000,00072 VELHE
EREREHEREARAR(HRER))
CITIC Jinghi - China Merchants Shekou The PRC RMB134,500,000 49 4 49 49 Property development

Shopping Center Private il NR134,500,0007C NEER

Equity Investment Fund?*
BESR-RERO-BAE REEE
Cheer Smart Investment Limited* Hong Kong HK$4 25 5 25 25 Property development
BRRERRAT hE BT VELHE
Nanjing Hejing Longyue Decoration Co,, Ltd* The PRC RMB2,000,000 2 20 20 20 Property management
ARNERNEHARAR el AEE2,0000007 nEER
Nanjing Zhaoyu Decoration Co., Ltd * The PRC RMB2,000,000 b 2] 2 21 Property development
BRRRRHARAT el AEE2,0000007C nEER
Nanjing Jusheng Real Estate Development The PRC RMB100,000,000 51 5 51 51 Property development

Co,, Ltd * (“Nanjing Jusheng") (Note i) i AK#100,000,0007 WEER
ERRERREREARAR(ERER]) Watii)
Nanjing Zhaojin Hongxin Real Estate Development ~ The PRC RMB1,080,000,000 25 25 25 25 Property development

Co, Ltd* hE AF1,080,000,0007 VESE
ARRRLEHEREERAR
Nanjing Qiuzhen Decoration Engineering Co,, Ltd.*  The PRC RIMB2,000,000 49 4 49 49 Property development
ERKERHTRARAT el ARE2,0000007 nEER
Foshan Nanhai District Fengshang Real Estate The PRC RMB407,000,000 33 3 33 33 Property development

Co, Ltd* i AR 407,000,007 nEER
BlmEEREERERRART
Yoying Co., Ltd* ("Yoying") Hong Kong HK$400 245 245 245 245 Property development
RERRA(RE]) B A0 NEER
Shaanxi Ruixun Real Estate Co., Ltd* The PRC RMB1,600,000,000 26 - 26 - Property development
REGIEXBRAT thEl ARE1,600,000,0007 nEER
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

. P < ==
18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REt&E N Al 2R ()

* Unofficial English translation denotes for identification purpose only. w EBHEXEE  EHReE -

Note i: The Group is able to appoint one out of three directors in the board Hiati: AEBEETERXXEETS=LEFPHF —
of Xixian Wenmao and relevant activities of Xixian Wenmao require % MBERXEXNEREDARGAMXXESS
consent with more than half of the directors in the board of Xixian BRYHEEFNRE  MAKEEAEARKE
Wenmao, thus the Group is able to exercise significant influence in MERTE - At - EARAAREEBENA o
Xixian Wenmao. Accordingly, it is accounted for an associate of the
Group.

Note ii: The Group is able to appoint two out of five directors in the board Miatii: AEBEEEEBRLBEEEFTARETFHETIN
of Foshan Qinghao and relevant activities of Foshan Qinghao F o MEEILEENBEREDRESHILZEESS
require consent with more than half of the directors in the board BAFHEFNRE  WAKREEHEHLBEE
of Foshan Qinghao, thus the Group is able to exercise significant BEATE - Bt - EARAARKEBE AT -

influence in Foshan Qinghao. Accordingly, it is accounted for an
associate of the Group.

Note iii: ~ The Group is able to appoint one out of nine directors in the board Hidtiii 0 AREBEETERBREEGNEESTPHP —
of Nanjing Jusheng and relevant activities of Nanjing Jusheng F o MERRENEREDARSERRRESS
require consent with more than half of the directors in the board BEFBEFNAE  HAEERAHERREEE
of Nanjing Jusheng, thus the Group is able to exercise significant MBERTE - Bt - EARRASEBE AT -

influence in Nanjing Jusheng. Accordingly, it is accounted for an
associate of the Group.

The associates are accounted for using the equity method ZEBMERNARNZE RV B RERERAERE
in these consolidated financial statements. In the opinion AR - RARIESRR  MBEZZTZ_FK
of the directors of the Company, Guangzhou Kuangrong, ZEZ—FF+ZA=+—HLEFE  EBEME
Yoying, Nanjing Huayao, Foshan Qinghao and Joy Origin B RE - BRER - FILERENRERA
are material associates of the Group for the years ended 31 SEERBERR - AEBEERBERFZ
December 2022 and 2021. Summarised financial information AR ESHI N T (BIRERNEE SR
of the Group’s material associates are set out below, which B EHENRMBERERAZER) o

represented amounts shown in the respective associates’
financial statements prepared in accordance with the
accounting policies of the Group.
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BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

18. REEE N R 2= ()

Guangzhou Kuangyu BMNER
2022 2021
—EB-—fF T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBFT
Current assets MENEE 2,507,067 2,610,605
Current liabilities mEEE 110,354 198,671
Revenue &
Losses and other comprehensive expense FABEREM2EA
for the year (15,221) (14,416)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in
Guaugzhou Kuangrong was set out below:

SR 312 B 5 R B SR BN TR 2
REELERTIIT :

2022 2021

—E-—F —E-—F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARBFT

Net assets of Guangzhou Kuangyu BMEE 2 EEFE 2,396,713 2,411,934
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in 7N [ A7 435 & )1 T B E A RERE 25 LL 07

Guangzhou Kuangyu 49% 49%

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in RNEE AT EMNEEE R 2 REE
Guaugzhou Kuangyu 1,174,389 1,181,848
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BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REtE DT 2B ()
Yoying RHE
2022 2021
—EB_—F — T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Current assets mENEE 1,682,392 4,165,632
Non-current assets ERBEE 89 7,344
Current liabilities mEafE 344,428 3,535,823
Non-current liabilities EmBEE 31,289 18,558
Revenue g 3,184,374 1,880
Profit (loss) and other comprehensive income FREA(EE) REMmEm|
(expense) for the year WA (FZ) 688,169 (44,844)
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information EXZ2HzHBEMBIE BN R A= 2 BRE
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in BEHERHFHIT -
Yoying was set out below:
2022 2021
—=E-— —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBT T
Net assets of Yoying REZEEFE 1,306,764 618,595
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest  ZN%= [ B35 /2 55 5 i A2 2k L 171
in Yoying 24.5% 24.5%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest REB PR R s 2 REE
in Yoying 320,157 151,556
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BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Nanjing Huayao

18. REEE N R 2= ()
) AR S

2022 2021

—E-—F T

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBT T

Current assets RENEE 11,512,298 10,296,718

Non-current assets ERBEE 158,792 93,025

Current liabilities mEAE 6,981,121 3,990,824

Non-current liabilities EmBEE 740,765 2,432,102

Revenue g 1,814 852
Loss and other comprehensive expense FANEE R E M2 ERHR X

for the year (17,613) (29,610)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in

Nanjing Huayao was set out below:

EXENZHBENBEENERERER

FREEHREHIIOT

2022 2021

—Z—-= —T=—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETE

Net assets of Nanjing Huayao R EHR 2 B ERE 3,949,204 3,966,817
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest NG B P A A SRR A R R A L 1)

in Nanjing Huayao 45% 45%

Carrying amount of the Group's interest REBE s mEER s < REE
in Nanjing Huayao 1,777,142 1,785,068
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18. REtE N Rl 2 (@)
Joy Origin =
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBET T
Current assets mENEE 13,577,636 11,447,751
Non-current assets IEREEE 120 -
Current liabilities mEAE 3,980,165 5,990,620
Non-current liabilities ERSEFE 6,243,646 2,052,135
Revenue e - 1,092
Loss and other comprehensive expense for FABEEREMEEAS
the year (51,051) (4,657)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in Joy

Origin was set out below:

EXENZHBERBBEN T SR ZRE
ELEREIIAT

2022 2021

—=E-= —T=—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTET ARETT

Net assets of Joy Origin Rz BERE 3,353,945 3,404,996
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in N5 & A4 S A #EfE 25 L6 51

Joy Origin 30% 30%

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in Joy — ZN£2 B B 13 S 2 2 BREI(E
Origin 1,006,184 1,021,499

216 China Merchants Land Limited Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

18. REEE N R 2= ()

Foshan Qinghao #8115 A
2022 2021
—E-—F —TE -4
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREET T
Current assets MENEE 4,991,172 5,751,535
Non-current assets EmEEE 976 -
Current liabilities mEAE 1,745,295 2,504,736
Revenue g - =

Profit (loss) and other comprehensive FRRA(EE) X

income (expense) for the year HizmiwA(FR) 54 (1,687)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in

Foshan Qinghao was set out below:

EX 252 BB AR E R A
EEEERTIMT -

2022 2021

B —EF—F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥TT AR¥EFTTT

Net assets of Foshan Qinghao BRILEE 2 BEFE 3,246,853 3,246,799
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest NS B P R LB A A A A e L 1B

in Foshan Qinghao 50% 50%

Carrying amount of the Group's interest AEBATHE AL EEEZ ZREE
in Foshan Qinghao 1,623,427 1,623,400
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The financial information and carrying amount, in aggregate,
of the Group's interests in associates, that are not individually
material and are accounted for using the equity method are
set out below:

18. REFE NR 2 xR (®)
AEBMPNERITE L FEARIZEREAEY
B NRIER Z ERRBER NRAEAES
TR -

7

2022 2021
—E=-C= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBET T
The Group's share of total comprehensive REEDHEEWABEE
income 5,859 342,194
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REERIEERBE QA R)ER L
interests in immaterial associates BRE(E42%E 4,248,392 4,709,790
19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19. REERFRZER
2022 2021
—E-—F = —4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFT
Costs of investments in joint ventures WEESEE KA 5,375,908 4,493,472
Share of post-acquisition results, FERUER R 248 - KR EWEE
net of dividend received 123,417 117,544
Exchange adjustment PE 5 (4,297) -
5,495,028 4,611,016

Details of the principal joint ventures as at 31 December 2022
and 2021 are as follows:

m:g;;¢&777—¢+ A=+—Hz

Place of Proportion of effective Proportion
establishment/  Registered ownership interests of voting Principal
Name of companies operation share capital held by the Group power held activities
rEEEEL
NEER HY/E$8%  ERA BREARERLA fitsz ey i/l IEXH
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-_"EF -F--F& C"B-_f C—T--%
% % % %
Nanjing Acjian Property The PRC RMB2,000,000,000 6 6 6 6 Property development
Company Limited*
ARRRERARAA Gk ABR2,000,000,0007 VESTS
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. RE & bE 2w (#)

Place of Proportion of effective Proportion
establishment/  Registered ownership interests of voting Principal
Name of companies operation share capital held by the Group power held activities
FEERAL
NAER RY/E%4% AR EREAERSLA FrisR R LBl IERH
2022 2021 2022 2021
“E--f ZEC--F ZBIZE CE--f
% % % %
Nanjing Zhaoyang Property ~ The PRC RMB20,000,000 46 44 46 46 Property development
Development Company
Limited*
ERRBELERRERAT  TE AEH20,000,0007 VEST
Nanjing Huilong Real Estate ~ The PRC RMB1,500,000,000 33 3 33 33 Property development
Company Limited*
("Nanjing Huilong")
AREERMERRAT hE ABRH1,500,000,0007 ES G
(rEe )
Foshan Dingtu Property The PRC RMB1,100,000,000 50 50 50 50 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
BURERMERRAT TE AB#1,100,000,0007% ES G
Guangzhou Xinhe Property ~ The PRC RMB100,000,000 34 34 34 34 Property development
Development Company
Limited*
BNFaRHEEREAAR 4B ARH100,000,0007C DEER
Nanjing Hongweisheng The PRC RMB765,000,000 34 34 34 34 Property development
Property Development
Co., Ltd.*
ARLRERHERSERAR & ABR#765,000,0007 ES
Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan The PRC RMB4,227,500,000 34 3 34 34 Property development
Property Development
Limited* ("Nanjing
Shengxiang Yuan”)
RRBEERMERSERAR & AEH54,227,500,0007 ES

([AREER))
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. REEE 2R &)

Place of Proportion of effective Proportion
establishment/  Registered ownership interests of voting Principal
Name of companies operation share capital held by the Group power held activities
FEEREL
NAER RY/&%%%  fiRs EREAERERLY igstiet didil E
2022 2021 2022 2021
-“§--f -Z--%# CZB-ZfE -T--F
% % % %
Chongging Hanzhi The PRC RMB440,000,000 50 50 50 50  Property development
Merchants Property
Development Co., Ltd.*
("Chongging Hanzhi")
ERHERARMERLARAR * AR HE440,000,0007 VEE
Nanjing Huihe Zhiye Co., Ltd*  The PRC RMB10,000,000 14 14 14 14 Property development
BRERERARAA 2 ABR#10,000,0007% VESS
Nanjing Tiesheng Business ~ The PRC RMB10,000,000 55 5 55 55 Property development
Management Co., Ltd.*
AREERRERARAT HE AR#10,000,00070 NEER
Nanjing Ximao Zhiye Co., Ltd.* The PRC RMB36,000,000 13 13 13 13 Property development
BERERERARAA f ABR#36,000,0007 VES
Nanjing Zhaohui Place The PRC RMB10,000,000 51 51 51 51 Property development
Management Co., Ltd.*
ARREABERARAT Gilei AK#10,000,00072 NEER
Guangzhou Runjia Real The PRC RMB50,000,000 30 30 50 5 Property development
Estate Co., Ltd.*
BMEREXARAR i ARRH50,000,0007 VEE
Guangzhou City Suiyun The PRC RMBA40,000,000 25 25 25 25 Property development
Property Limited*
BNTREERARAT f ABRH40,000,0007 VES
Guangzhou Zhaoying The PRC RMB100,000,000 50 33 50 30 Property development
Real Estate Co., Ltd.*
("Guangzhou Zhaoying")
(Note)
BMNARFREARAMALR  +E ABR#100,000,0007T VES

(TRM R D) ()
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. RE & bE 2w (#)

Place of Proportion of effective Proportion
establishment/  Registered ownership interests of voting Principal
Name of companies operation share capital held by the Group power held activities
FEEREL
PGEL HY/E$4%  EfRA ERgAEERLY igstied 1idil IERH
2022 2021 2022 201
—g--f -E--% CZB-ZF -E--F
% % % %
Foshan Baohua China The PRC RMB20,000,000 51 51 51 51 Property development
Merchants Real Estate
Company Limited*
BURREERHERRAR AB20,000,0007 YESEES
Nanjing Yuening Property The PRC RMB50,000,000 B8 3 33 33 Property development
Development Limited*
ARHERMEREERAR B ABR#50,000,0007 NxER
Nanjing Jinhua Real Estate ~ The PRC RMB79,800,000 19 19 19 19 Property development
Development Limited*
ERBEERERAA i ABRH79,800,0007C VES G
Nanjing Yuelin Property The PRC RMB12,000,000 20 20 20 20 Property development
Development Company
Limited*
ARiiREHERERRAR @ AR12,000,0007C IS
Chongging Wanzhao Real The PRC RMB4,900,000 49 49 49 49 Property development
Estate Co. Ltd.*
ERERERARLA HE AERH4,900,0007C YESS
Foshan Merchants Shangxian ~ The PRC RMB30,000,000 40 40 40 40 Property development
Real Estate Co., Ltd.*
BUREHERLEARAR & AR&%30,000,0007T VESE
Foshan Merchants Xiangshun ~ The PRC RMB101,000,000 51 51 51 51 Property development
Real Estate Co., Ltd ¥
BURBHERRERRAR & ARH101,000,0007T IS
Foshan Zhaorui Real The PRC RMB50,000,000 34 34 34 34 Property development
Estate Co., Ltd ¥
BlRREYEERAR el ARH50,000,00070 mEER
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

19. REELEZET @)

Place of Proportion of effective Proportion
establishment/  Registered ownership interests of voting Principal
Name of companies operation share capital held by the Group power held activities
rEEREL
AGEL: RY/E%%%  afiRs EREAERELA igstiet: 1idil IEEH
2022 2021 2022 2021
“8--F  ZZ-f CZE-CE ZEC-F
% % % %
Foshan Merchants Puhai Real ~ The PRC RMB3,300,000 36 36 36 36 Property development
Estate Co., Ltd.*
BUREEERMERRAT  HE AR%3,3000007 NEER
Foshan Nanhai District The PRC RMBA407,000,000 33 3 33 33 Property development
Fengshang Rea
Estate Co., Ltd.*
flmEERZARMERRLR S AEH407,000,0007T NEER
Nanjing Yueyi Decoration The PRC RMB2,000,000 20 20 20 20 Property development
Co., Ltd*
BARRRESHER AR Gilei AK#2,000,0007C NEER
Nanjing Jinda Decoration The PRC RMB2,000,000 25 25 25 25 Property development
Co., Ltd*
ARSERAARAR Gilei AK#2,000,0007C NEER
Guangzhou Zhaoying The PRC RMB10,000,000 50 50 50 50  Property development
Urban Renewal
Investment Co., Ltd *
BNREHDEHRERRAR  HE A5%10,000,0007T NEER
Foshan Nanhai District The PRC RMB2,000,000,000 25 25 25 25 Property development
Meijing Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd.*
BUTEEEXERMERE  AH AK#2,000,000,0007 NEER
BRAT
Foshan Merchants Yinyue Real  The PRC RMB50,000,000 40 40 40 40 Property development
Estate Co., Ltd.*
BURERARMERRAT AR%50,000,0007T NEER

Unofficial English translation denotes for identification purpose only.

Note: As disclosed in note 31, Guangzhou Zhaoying was accounted for as
associate for the year ended 31 December 2021. During the year,
the Group have acquired additional interests 17% equity interests in
Guangzhou Zhaoying. Upon completion, the Group holds 50% equity
interests in Guangzhou Zhaoying and Guangzhou Zhaoying became a
joint venture of the Group.
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B %% ¥Rk MY RE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

EHE—

19.

Eo—FFZA=1—HIFE

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method
in these consolidated financial statements. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, Guangzhou Zhaoying, Nanjing
Shengxiang Yuan, Nanjing Huilong and Chongging Hanzhi are
the material joint ventures of the Group for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021. Summarised financial information
of the Group's material joint ventures are set out below,
which represented amounts shown in the respective joint
ventures' financial statements prepared in accordance with the
accounting policy of the Group.

REeEhEER®)
ABOERNZELAOMBMEEAEREA
% K@Eé%a% REE-—B-—ER=

F+-_A=+—HLEFE  ENB&m -
ﬁﬂmﬁl HAREEREEHEH AL EE
LEREERE AEBEAEELEZHG
BERBZEEINNT (BBREASESTBRREER
BEEELENBMRAZESEE)

Guangzhou Zhaoying M8 &
2022 2021
—E-—F T —fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T AREETTT
Current assets RENVEE 4,118,202 3,975,228
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,650 948
Current liabilities mEI A& 1,801,920 1,678,778
Non-current liabilities EmBEE 532,800 500,000
The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the i EERBEZEBERIENTIER ¢
followings:
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T AR®ET T
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRBE S 42,152 102,748
Non-current financial liabilities EnseRmaEreEREEBR
(excluding trade and other payables) H i pERTERIE) 532,800 500,000
Revenue % _ _
Loss and other comprehensive expense for FREBEREMERSH
the year (12,266) (2,602)
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)
Guangzhou Zhaoying (continued)

The above loss for the year included the followings:

19. REELEZET @)
BEMNBE (&)
FREREBEENTES

2022 2021

—E-—F —E-—F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T AREFIT

Interest income F B A 177 101
Income tax credit FTiSif X 702 867

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in
Guangzhou Zhaoying was set out below:

EX2HNZHBERMBERBEMNBRER Z

FREESREINT

2022 2021

—E-—& — T4

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBFT

Net assets of Guangzhou Zhaoying BB m 2 BEFE 1,785,132 1,797,398

Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in 785 B B4 & )1 45 5 e A 1 RE 25 L 51

Guangzhou Zhaoying 50% 33%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in AEBAFEMNBEERZ 2 RAE

Guangzhou Zhaoying 892,566 593,141
Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan MAREEE

2022 2021

—EB-CfF T —F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBFIT

Current assets MENEE 12,658,031 12,310,499

Non-current assets ERBEE 214,068 63,733

Current liabilities mEAaE 8,014,921 7,996,666

Non-current liabilities ERBNBE 1,304 1,304
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Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan (continued)

The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the

19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. RE& X RS (2)
ERBREEE)
rREERAEY SEAENTIES -

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

followings:
2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTTT
Bank balances and cash RITEBREIBS 1,726,807 726,919
Non-current financial liabilities FERHERAE
(excluding trade and other payables) (T 45 276 I At <2008 1,304 1,304
Revenue W5 1,882,624 1,135,826
Profit and other comprehensive income 5% R & E A 2 E U A
for the year 479,612 234,918
The above profit for the year included the followings: FRFERENBIEATIES ¢
2022 2021
—EB-=F - —F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBETTT
Interest income FISV PN 16,461 5,374
Depreciation and amortisation e LY 93 156
Income tax expense P53t i 2 160,960 -

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in
Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan was set out below:

EX2IZ HBEN SRR R RS B
2 SR EE SRR T

2022 2021

B —E-—F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBFT

Net assets of Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan ERERAERAEFE 4,855,874 4,376,262
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in 7 £ @ Ff i Ef 6% & B 1 A hE

Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan K25 E 15 34% 34%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in NEBFEERERERER

Nanjing Shengxiang Yuan BEEE 1,650,997 1,487,929
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)
Nanjing Huilong

19. REELEZET @)
7 R [

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARBET T
Current assets RENVEE 1,818,958 1,884,322
Non-current assets IEREEE = 813
Current liabilities mEAE 238,709 262,834
The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the i EERBEZEBEBENATIER ¢
followings:
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T AR®ET T
Bank balances and cash IRITER KR 48,266 63,631
Revenue W zs 12,349 20,613
Loss and other comprehensive expense FABEREMEEST H
for the year (42,052) (1,785)
The above loss for the year included the followings: P FERNEBEIEATIER ¢
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFIT
Interest income F B WA 323 746
Income tax credit IRy % 12,099 =
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. RE & bE 2w (#)

Nanjing Huilong (continued)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in

Nanjing Huilong was set out below:

R ERE (&)

FREESRSEINWT

EX2NZHBERNRERARNEREEES 2

2022 2021
s T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBETTT
Net assets of Nanjing Huilong 1,580,249 1,622,301
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in
Nanjing Huilong 33% 33%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in
Nanjing Huilong 521,482 535,359
Chongging Hanzhi EEME
2022 2021
—E=-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFT
Current assets MENEE 1,069,765 1,070,890
Non-current assets ERBEE 18 74
Current liabilities RBAE 534,154 549,274
Non-current liabilities FEREFERE 718 11,034
The above amounts of assets and liabilities included the HAEREBEAEAEINTES
followings:
2022 2021
—E-F 2%
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥EFTTT
Bank balances and cash IRITHEMR KRR S 50,445 38,547
Revenue U %5 458,683 1,290,804
Profit (loss) and other comprehensive FRmA(EE) REMmEERA(E
income (expense) for the year £ 24,255 (21,243)
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19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued) 19. REEEZ#ERR &)

Chongging Hanzhi (continued) BEEMEE)
The above profit (loss) for the year included the followings: il FE AR F (EE)BIEATIER ¢
2022 2021
—E-—F —EF—F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBETTT
Interest income F B A 479 846
Income tax expense (credit) A BRI < (%) 8,053 (6,921)
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information YR M EE R E A EE YT
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in R ARSI
Chongging Hanzhi was set out below:
2022 2021
—ZE_—F == —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥®T T ARETT
Net assets of Chongging Hanzhi EERBEZEEFE 534,911 510,656
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest in  REB AT EEE A EEZL G
Chongging Hanzhi 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in AEBFEEYEET 2 RAE
Chongging Hanzhi 267,456 255,328
The aggregate information of the Group's interests in joint REBPE RS WD ERRIREREARZ
ventures that are not individually material that are accounted SRDERES ZEMABRENMT
for using the equity method are set out below:
2022 2021
—E-—F —EF—F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREFT
The Group's share of total comprehensive AEBSHEE(FX)WARE
(expense) income (35,038) 15,276
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REBMRIEERBE R AR
interests in immaterial joint ventures BRME{E4E%E 2,162,527 2,332,400
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20.FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVTPL

21.

The amounts represented the Group's investment in 15%
equity interest in the registered capital of an unlisted company
incorporated in the PRC, which is engaged in property
development.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, a fair value gain of
RMB10,606,000 (2021: RMB10,937,000) has been recognised.

DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred
tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

20. B FEFABRZNEHEE
AW ERAEERN —RETEEMA 0
EHATEMBRANISRRENRE - KA
HEMEBE -

BE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILtFE B
BAR10,606,000CH A FEKRZS(ZZ——
& : AR¥10,937,0007T) °

21. IEFERIIE
REAMBRARNLIIME @ & TEEHA

BEMBBELEE - ATRIELEHIAEGHRZ
DT AEA IS B2 A

2022 2021

== T

RMB'000 RMB’000

AR¥T Tt AREETTT

Deferred tax assets EEFIBEE 936,478 890,870
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIB A E (477,662) (437,620)
458,816 453,250

The followings are the deferred tax assets (liabilities)
recognised and movements thereon during the years:

Fair value

Temporary adjustment

differences on property

onLAT Tax under

provision losses ~ development
THBER

(. EGEUE Y

ERZR  HBEE  OVEER
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR

AT BRENERZIEEHBEE(BE) R
CELR

Temporary ~ Temporary
differences ~ differences  Temporary

ondeposits relatedto  differences

receivedin  rightofuse  related to

Dividend  respectof  assetsand allowance
withholding  pre-sale of lease  for expected

tax  properties liabilities creditlosses  Others* Total
HERE
BYRE BERER HREGE
hxikez SFEE. ERAREE

RERMR  ERER  ERER  CERER i it
RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'O00  RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR

At 1 January 2021 N-2--F-f-A 878,504 AT (115,360) (250.2%3) B8 15,531 62040 112 41592
(Charge credit to profitor loss (Note 9) RNER(RETARRY) (123.154) 19226 - 214516 (28428) 2890 4896 3308 3734
At 31 December 2021 N-E--F+-A=1-H 755,350 113,959 (115,360)  (225,70) - 18,421 111,006 (204.419) 453,250
Disposalof asubsiciary (Note 34 HE— MR HZY) (10,536) = = g = - ) (16)  (10,55)
(Charge) creditto proftorloss (Note )~ IEE (IR it A1z (68.231) 80929 - (23,974 - (769) 16,171 11,39 16,122
At 31 Decernber 2022 NE-—F+-A=1-H 676,583 194,888 (115,360)  (249,681) - 17,652 121713 (193,039) 458,816

Others mainly included tax effect of temporary differences arising from
contract costs and deduction of construction costs of certain property
development projects.

* HTEaEE TRMERBIER 2 A HORAEREK
FHRELECEREZRIHRBETE
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EHE=

21.

22.

Fo—FF A= —HAILFE

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

At 31 December 2022, the Group had unused tax losses of
approximately RMB3,909,871,000 (2021: RMB2,978,427,000),
available to offset against future profits. Deferred tax
assets have been recognised in respect of such losses of
RMB779,552,000 (2021: RMB455,836,000) at 31 December
2022. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of the remaining RMB3,130,319,000 (2021: RMB2,522,591,000)
as at 31 December 2022 due to the unpredictability of future
profits streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are
losses of RMB2,335,913,000 (2021: RMB1,753,864,000) as at
31 December 2022 that will expire in five years from the dates
they were incurred. Other losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had unrecognised
deductible temporary differences of RMB1,116,454,000 (2021:
RMB842,362,000) attributable to the capitalised interest
expenses arising from the intra-group borrowings and
RMB1,213,277,000 (2021: RMB1,234,604,000) attributable to
the write-down of properties for sale. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams.

PROPERTIES FOR SALE

21.

IRIERLIE ()
R-ZTE-_—FE+-_A=+—8 XA&EE%EH
KB FR A B 1B 4 A R #53,909,871,0007T (=
T —F: AR#2978,427,0007T) + A
IR EET - BREEEARKT779,552,000
T(ZZT=——%F : AR#¥455836,0007T) ' E
R—_ZBE-_—F+-_A=+—BHEREELEH
BEE o BT A TR R ROE R SRR - F
R-TE-—FE+-_A=+—BIEHRGBHRTA
R #3,130,319000 (=T = —F : AR¥
2,522,591,0007T ) RIBELEHEEE - R
——Ft A=t HABERBMEEBES
Ei8 AR#2,335913,000t(— T =——4%F : AR
#:1,753,864,0007T ) i R EE A H HA B AT R SF 18 8
o EL 58 ] AR PR HRA EE o

R-TE-_—F+-_A=+—H AEEEXRE
] TR R = EE AR %6 1,116,454,00070 (=
T——4F : AR¥842,362,00070) & T35 A
REEARIMEEELEZEACAERST - M
AR#1,213,277,000c(ZF=—F : AR¥
1,234,604,0007T ) 8l &5 A 72 7] # H & 11 2 2 Ml
4 o PRI TR AR AR FI SR - MO TR
EERIBEE -

22. I HEY

2022 2021

—E-—F —E-—4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ T AREETTT

Completed properties for sale BER T Al HEYE 12,019,116 12,363,278
Properties under development for sale At EERPYE 51,313,294 62,257,206
63,332,410 74,620,484
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22. PROPERTIES FOR SALE (continued)

22. A HEYE #)

RMB’000

AR¥TT
Analysis of leasehold lands: HET 2D :
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZB-Z=f+=-A=t+—H
Carrying amount FREIE 39,212,735
As at 31 December 2021 R=B=—-f+=H=+—H
Carrying amount ARHEE 47,843,892
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_Z_—F+-A=+—HLEE
Total cash outflow for leasehold lands HETHIR & 42 8,084,427
Additions RE 4,445,379
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-_ZE-—H+-A=+—RHLEE
Total cash outflow for leasehold lands HE IR & 42 19,827,490
Additions NE 24,210,917

The carrying amount of leasehold lands is measured under
HKFRS 16 at cost less any accumulated depreciation, after
taking into account of residual values, and any impairment
losses. The residual values are determined as the estimated
disposal value of the leasehold land component. No
depreciation charge is made on the leasehold lands taking
into account the estimated residual values as at 31 December
2022 and 2021.

Included in the properties under development for sale as
at 31 December 2022 is carrying value of approximately
RMB16,196,654,000 (2021: RMB37,423,223,000), which
represents the carrying value of the properties expected to be
completed and available for sale after twelve months from the
end of the reporting period.

HELHWREERBEEBVHERSLERIE16
SRS E BRI EERRKARENZRFITER
ERERBIERE - MREEREAS LIS
MEHHEBEETE - KA ERNR_F_—_FR
TR+ A=+ -BHEFFRREE
% HEREELHIIRTESRR -

N_BE-—F+-A=+—HAftEEEREH
YR BREEHAR16,196,654,0007t (=
T —4 . A\R#37,423,223,0007T) * #EFEH
BEREHREE AR T @A %% T RATf#
HEWEZ REE °
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BE_F_—Ff+_FA=+—HIFE
22. PROPERTIES FOR SALE (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, land with carrying values of
approximately RMB3,777,371,000 (2021: RMB2,043,820,000)
have been pledged to secure bank and other borrowings
amounting to RMB1,508,248,000 (2021: RMB1,179,851,000)
granted to the Group (see note 29).

As at 31 December 2022, the directors of the Company
conducted a review on the net realised value of the Group's
properties under development for sale and completed
properties for sale. Due to a decrease in the expected selling
price as referenced to the actual selling price during pre-
sale of the relevant properties or the recent prices of similar
properties during the year, the directors of the Company
determined that the net realisable values of certain of the
Group's completed properties for sale and properties under
development for sale, located in Nanjing and Chongging
(2021: Foshan and Chonggqing), the PRC, are lower than their
carrying amounts by RMB206,773,000 (2021: RMB360,538,000),
in aggregate. Certain properties under development impaired
in prior year was sold during current year, the respective
impairment of RMB228,098,000 (2021: RMB297,696,000)
was written off. As at 31 December 2022, the carrying
amounts of properties for sale amounted to approximately
RMB63,332,410,000, net of write-down of RMB1,213,277,000
(2021: carrying amounts of approximately RMB74,620,484,000,
net of write-down of RMB1,234,602,000) in the PRC.
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22. A HEYE (#)

MR-BE-—F+=-A=+—8 A£EHZEMR
BREE 4 A AR¥3,777,371,000( —F = —
40 AR#2043,820,0007T) 2 4 » AFIR T
AEEZBITHEE AR,508,248,000T(=F
——%F: AR¥1,179,851,0007T) fEH R (R
Hi3E29) o

R-TE-_—_F#+-_HA=+—H8  XQARES
RAEENATHLERRPYERATHLE
ERTITYEMNAERFEETEN - ARS
ZEENEEREDNENERESERBUNE
R HEE MG SE TE - $“ﬂ%$#
EAREEVAFTHERLAEER(ZT = —F
%m&i%)m%$71ﬁﬁaﬁ1%¥&7
HEEZRRPYWEZAZERFEEHBRAR
B R A R #206,773,0007C ( =& = — 4 ¢
AR #360,538,0007T) - AF HBRENE T
BRERPVECRAFEELE - BEBEKR
AE%mw%mwﬂ_?_fﬁ AR
297,696,0007T) e RZTE=_=—_F+=_/F=+—
H fEMNAIEHEEDENEEEOARE
63,332,410,000 7T ( #1 B A R #1,213,277,000
THHMR(ZZE=Z—F: REEHARE
74,620,484,000 7T * 1k A R #1,234,602,000
TCHIMOR)
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

23 EX R HEMERFIE

2022 2021
— g —=F=—
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTTT
Trade receivable (Note i) F T FEWGRIE (M aLi)
— contract with customers —HEEHNE4 22,165 24,317
— operating lease receivables — ST E R IE 4,760 1,102
26,925 25,419
Other receivables At fE R IE
Other prepaid non-income tax HiFaIEFTER 1,818,341 1,774,708
Other receivables and prepayments (Note vi) H A WK IE [ TR AN SR (A atvi) 1,573,020 1,398,876
Amounts due from intermediate holding FEUR PR 12 AR X BRI (M 2t )

companies (Note ii) 3,478,723 324,704
Amounts due from non-controlling interests FEUR IR 12 R i 2 IR (M 5 v)

(Note v) 15,685,141 15,262,146
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries (Note i)  FEU[F Z [T B A 7218 (H1:2ii) 1,409,456 639,382
Amounts due from associates (Note iii) JFE Uk Bt e 1 R FRIE (K i) 3,268,023 3,685,360
Amounts due from joint ventures (Note iv) FEU & & 1 FEFRIE (Hf ativ) 4,623,089 3,746,653
Amount due from an investee FE U AR & R FR0E 11,707 10,242

31,867,500 26,842,071
Less: Amounts expected to be received after B TR — F R WA IR
one year:
Amounts due from associates (Note iii) JE B 8 X B SR IB (KT aEiii) 2,489,761 2,896,454
Amounts due from joint ventures (Note iv) FEN & & IR (M aFiv) 3,472,931 2,568,880
Amounts due from non-controlling FEUSEYE MR A 2 TR IE (B 5 v )
interests (Note v) 7,089,177 -
13,051,869 5,465,334
18,815,631 21,376,737
18,842,556 21,402,156

Notes:

0]

As at 1 January 2021, trade receivables from contract with customers (i)

amounted to RMB92,552,000.

Trade receivables mainly arise from properties operation income and
rental income from the Properties Segment.

The Group's credit terms with its trade customers are generally within
30 days. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables in order to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management.

Considerations in respect of properties leasing are paid in accordance
with the terms of the rental agreements and invoices, normally within 30

days from the date of invoices.

Bt

18 5 AR #92,552,0007T °

SN °

WA E 2 K ERIRAERE S 51
& B HIE T30 A AT ©

RZF-_—F—A—H ' RARFFPANMNEBEEK

EBRBHAEEEELEBYED BOYEEBRARE

AEBEEEBHEFPZEEH—RAB0AA - ALE S
SREAR R G E R D 2 R IE - UREEERRE - &
REBABTEHEMBIESRS -

RBE R
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BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i) (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, trade receivables together with investment
properties with carrying values of approximately RMB345,000 and
RMB584,273,000 respectively have been pledged to secure bank and
other borrowings amounting to RMB514,000,000 (2021: Nil) granted to the

Group (see note 29).

The ageing analysis of trade receivables at the end of the reporting

period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

23. ZB R H U R IR ()

BeE : (&)

i)

(%)

R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—0 A£EEEFEEED
AR #345,00078 & A R #584,273,0007T 2 5 75 & 3K
BREEME  URBETFAEEZRTIREMEEAR
#514,000,00070 (=T = — 4 : &) EER(RHE29) ©

W& RSEE BRER B HE 2 2R NTORRR
DT :

2022 2021

—E-—F —E-—F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBFIT

0 - 180 days 0%180H 19,813 18,097
181 - 365 days 181HZE365H 2,036 3,672
Over 1 year iR —F 5,076 3,650
26,925 25,419

Included in the Group's trade receivables balance are customers with
aggregate carrying amount of RMB2,667,000 (2021: RMB155,000) which
are aged over 30 days and past due at the end of the reporting period
for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss. The Group
assessed the credit quality of trade and other receivables based on
historical default rates and the repayment records to consider adequacy
of allowance has been made at the end of the reporting period.

(i) The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(i) Included in the current receivables as at 31 December 2022, amounts of
approximately RMB401,606,000 (2021: RMB615,748,000) are unsecured,
interest bearing at fixed rates ranging from 4.75% to 8% (2021: fixed rate
ranging from 4.75% to 8%) per annum and repayable on demand or within
one year. The remaining amounts of current receivables are unsecured,

interest-free and repayable on demand for both years.

Included in the non-current receivables as at 31 December 2022
and 2021, the amounts of approximately RMB1,303,844,000 (2021:
RMB1,996,051,000) are unsecured, interest bearing at fixed rates ranging
from 6% to 7% (2021: 6% to 8%) per annum and repayable over one
year. The remaining amounts of non-current receivables are unsecured,

interest-free and repayable over one year for both years.

(iv)  Included in the current receivables as at 31 December 2022, amounts
of approximately RMB1,944,000 (2021: RMB5,482,000) are unsecured,
interest bearing at fixed rate of 6% (2021: 5.7% to 6% per annum and
repayable on demand or within one year. The remaining amounts of
current receivables are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand

for both years.

The non-current receivables as at 31 December 2022, amounts of
approximately RMB1,520,442,000 (2021: RMB616,391,000) are unsecured,
interest bearing at fixed rates ranging from 7% to 8% (2021: 5% to 7%)
per annum and repayable over one year. The remaining amounts of non-
current receivables are unsecured, interest-free and repayable over one

year for both years.
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AEBEEBREFBRLEHRAECEEEAREARYE
2,667,0007T (=2 =—4 : AR¥1550007T) * BRic 8
BI0R - RNMEPREERCTAY - MAKBIARES
WEBEERE - REBEFGBE 2R RERLET
EEBRAMEEFRAZEEER  TRRERRSH
REHAEHFDBEE -

ZEEAEEN B WARERER

RIBE-_—_F+-_A=1+—HARBEKZIERN AR
¥ 49401,606, OOOE(7?:*¢ /\EM615748000
TL) BERE - DA4.75%ZE8% (= :
475%i8%>ﬁ’3@m¢7‘wﬂ+5&fﬁfz{fm
FRERE - RREFERN @ REEKGRIEN &R K
- RERIRENREE -

R —FR-F_—F+_A=+—HAERDE
WHRIAR - ARBH491,303,844,000L(ZF=—4F : A
R#1,996,051,0007T ) B « LA6BETH( =T =—
F : 6%ZE8%)MEEFFIEF R RAEREREREIN—
FREE - RMEFER - FERDERFIENER R E
IR - BB RIREREE -

RET-——F+-A=+—BHRSEEFIERN - AR
& 491,944,0007T ( ——4 : AR%5,482,0007T) &
IR - LA6% (= fi 1 5.7%%6%) 8 &l TE F | &
TERERERK R —EREE - RREFER -
TN R IEE’J#@%J%%}RW EERIRERERE -

RZZEZ—F+-ZR=+—BWFkRDEKHE
A AR##1,520,442,000t (ZF = —F : AR¥
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BE—F_—Ff+_F=+—HIFE
23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

24,

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(v) As at 31 December 2022, amounts of RMB771,569,000 (2021:
RMB997,052,000) are denominated in HK$.

Included in current receivables as at 31 December 2021, amounts of
approximately RMB279,642,000 (2022: Nil) are unsecured, interest bearing
at fixed rates at 1.8% per annum and repayable on demand or within
one year. The remaining amounts of current receivables are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand for both years.

The non-current receivables are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
over one year (2021: Nil).

(vij  As at 31 December 2022, amounts of RMB1,001,000 (2021: Nil) are
denominated in HK$.

(vii)

Details of the impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are
set out in note 37.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash include demand deposits and short-
term bank deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group's
short term cash commitments, which carry interest at market
rates range from 0.1% to 4.0% (2021: 0.1% to 1.9%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2022, bank balances that are placed in
designated bank accounts in accordance with the applicable
government regulations amounting RMB7,835,025,000 (2021:
5,165,630,000) such balances are restricted to be applied in the
designated property development projects.

Analysis of bank balances and cash denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the entities of the Group
to which they relate:

23.

24,

FI5 R H AR WCRRIE ()

Htat - (%)

v R=ZT=—=F+=-A=+—8  AR¥771,569,0007C
(ZZ=—% : AR¥997,052,0007T)#) & 58 A B
& -

R —F+_A=+—HBRRBEKKERN - A

R##279,642,0007T (ZF =5 : &) REEA - A
1.8%METFN X B REREREEIN —FAE
B RMEFER - RBEKFANERRBER - 2
BRRENRERE -

EMBERHAREEN  2ERAR—FREE(Z
T—F:E)

(vi) RZZTZ—F+=-A=+—H  AR#¥1,001,0007T(=
T —F E)NSEABEE -

(vii)  FBREMEUGRIE 2R E R G RSB RE37 -

RITHEBREE

RITHEKBERCBEEARNRREAEBEHRS
AAEAEHTRREEITER RS
FEMENT01%E40%(ZFE=—F : 0.1% =
.9%)5*5"

RZZE-_—_F+-_A=+—8 BEBEAK
FEBRERRIBERITIREMNRITELR A A
[R#7,835,025000 (= —F : AR
5,165,630,0007T) * #ZF4EERBR HI AR IEE WS
HEEIEE o

LAKEIHW‘EEE REE MK LASN
BERRIRE AT -

E¥FEZR

2022 2021

—=E==-= = —4F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARBTIT

Denominated in HK$ LA EHE 614,942 98,701
Denominated in US$ LAZETTEHE 153,911 1,338,069
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25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

25. EB R EMMEA KA

2022 2021

=== —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBFT

Trade payables (Note i) R RE N RRIA (M) 7,427,932 12,106,363

Other payables H At T FRIE

Other non-income tax payables H A IEFTSFL R 5B 2,856,773 2,885,110

Other payables and accrued charges (Note iv)  E b B 778 & B+ 53 52 (Hativ) 1,342,118 2,955,210
Amounts due to intermediate holding JE A B P2 AR A RIFRIR (B aFii)

companies (Note ii) 6,360,679 5,658,637
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FEAT I N e 2 SR TE (B i)

(Note iii) 2,723,458 3,868,582
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (Note ii) FEASS R 2 B BB A R IB (K aFii) 4,453,836 3,243,633
Amounts due to joint ventures (Note ii) JET & &1 FRIB (Y 7tii) 2,359,380 2,096,973
Amounts due to associates (Note i) JRE =T Bt & X R RRIR (M aii) 4,070,399 2,539,832
Dividend payable FERTAR & 963,946 962,035

25,130,589 24,210,012
32,558,521 36,316,375

Notes:

@i
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Trade payables arise from Properties Segment comprise construction i)
costs and other project-related expenses which are payable based on

project progress and the average credit period of these trade payables

is 60 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to

ensure that all payables are within the credit timeframe.

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice

Kt -

WD B2 BN R R IEREK A R E (L IE E 1HE
Fx - DIRBRBEEXN - ARFEBERNFRZF
BEEHR60R - AREEHENBRBREZHRE « KA
RITAENFIREEEERRA -

AT ARBERRAE B IRER A B E 2 RBE AR

date, at the end of the reporting period: TEEREA AT ¢
2022 2021
—Eg-C—F —T-——%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
0 to 60 days 0%£60H 4,907,557 5,145,845
61 to 180 days 612180H 696,807 5,141,906
181 to 365 days 181%365H 1,052,998 950,704
Over 365 days HBiA365H 770,570 867,908
7,427,932 12,106,363
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25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)
(ii) The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(i) The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. As
at 31 December 2022, amounts of RMB60,633,000 and RMB1,021,208,000
(2021: RMB244,347,000 and RMB642,492,000) are denominated in US$
and HK$ respectively.

(iv)  Included in the other payables and accrued charges of approximately
RMB702,214,000 (2021: RMB681,350,000) are amounts due to financial
institutions under supplier factoring arrangement entered into by the
Group, construction materials suppliers and the financial institutions
offering the supplier factoring arrangement. As at 31 December 2022,
amounts of RMB5,898,000 and RMB13,608,000 (2021: RMB5,392,000 and
RMB181,000) are denominated in US$ and HK$ respectively.

26.LEASE LIABILITIES

25. X R H A FOR )

wi -

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(48)
ZEBREIER - RRWRRERKER -

ZERAEBR  REWEREREE RN_T=_—F
+ZA=+—H 28R ARK60,633,0007T kAR
1,021,208,0007t (=T =— 4 : AR¥244,347,0007T &
AR#642,492,0007T) 5 BIAETT KB HE -

HoAth B A R K B ET R 32 AR 49 A R #6702,214,0007T (=
T —4F : AR¥681,350,0007T) BB - BEME
HEMERHENERRERFNSRBBEIT L2 &
BREZHFETENSREENTR - R_F_—_F
TZA=+—H 28R AKRKS5,898,000TTRARKE
13,608,0007T (= = — 4 : AR#5,392,0007T & A R
#181,0007T ) 73 B AR T KB #FHE -

26.HERE

2022 2021
—=E==-= —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETET

Lease liabilities payable: ERNHEEEE
Within one year —F R 57,531 52,519
Within a period of more than one year 8B — S B TR A I A AR A
but not more than two years 54,981 55,217
Within a period of more than two years 78 38 P £ {81 iR 38 1 4F 2R A
but not more than five years 41,455 47,992
Within a period of more than five years BBAFHEA 278,626 272,758
432,593 428,486
Less: Amount due for settlement with R A28 A A BB E A F0E
12 months shown under current liabilities (NnEhaEynr) (57,531) (52,519)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months 1218 A & 2| HiE B 93018
shown under non-current liabilities (RIERBEETIR) 375,062 375,967

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to
lease liabilities at 4.70% (2021: 4.70%).

REEABERERBNMEFHREERIRA
4.70%( =B =—%F : 4.70%) °
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27.LOANS FROM NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS

Amounts represent loans from non-controlling equity holder

of subsidiaries of the Company.

27 FEREZERK

FRSBEEARAMBARMNIEE
AERK -

A

The maturity of the loans from non-controlling interests are E HX%J/ST& & ﬁﬂ’]?‘l,ﬁﬂ‘%ﬁ%ﬁ@%%?ﬁﬁmﬁﬁ
based on respective loan agreements and are analysed as E M
follows:
2022 2021
ot - 3 —EF—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR¥EFTT
Within 1 year —FE R 68,522 515,035
Between 1 and 2 years —EMRE 22,400 51,390
Over 2 years R 38 114,170 69,082
205,092 635,507
Less: Amounts due within 1 year shown B RE A FEEJETFW?_'J—EFW
under current liabilities FEARI X (68,522) (515,035)
Amounts due after 1 year shown —F R EBIIEIERE B E
as non-current liabilities (Note) KIE(HfaT) 136,570 120,472

Analysis of loans from a non-controlling interests denominated

in currencies other than the functional currency of the

respective entities of the Group to which they relate:

2022 2021

—E__F —E-—4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREETTT

Denominated in US$ LAZETTEHE - 100,472
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27. LOANS FROM NON-CONTROLLING 27 . FEZEREZER (&)
INTERESTS (continued)

Details of the terms of the loans are set out as below: ERIEHOFBOT

Effective
interest rate
per annum 2022 2021
BREFRE —EZCF —E-—
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT

Fixed-rate loans ARS8 ETER
denominated in: EREN
RMB AR#E 4.75% to 6% 90,922 535,035
(2021: 4.75% to 6%)
4.75% 2 6%
(ZB=—5 1 4.75%%6%)
us$ x5 2021: 4% - 100,472
B —F 4%
Non-interest bearing loan A T3l & ¥EEHER
denominated in: TETEEN
RMB AR - 114,170 -
205,092 635,507
Note: For the year ended 31 December 2022, the non-current portion of Hfat %(I_?::$+:ﬁ =T —HIEFE  FERERE
loan from a non-controlling interest amounted of RMB114,170,000 was REYFERNEAEE D A R #114,170,0007T A EIE M « Ta+
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable in 2025 (2021: Nil). ,%‘&25%13155?1%3%(122*@ D) o
ﬂi\
28.LOANS FROM AN INTERMEDIATE 28. MEER D RAIEN

HOLDING COMPANY

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the current
portion of loans from an intermediate holding company are

HE-_Z-_—_FR-_ZF=-_—F+=-A=+—8
IHFE - BAEERARERZREBID AEIR
BRI ARRTREZ ARBEES A
Kot BWERERKIERE -

unsecured, interest bearing at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates
offered by the People’s Bank of China and repayable on
demand.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the non- ai—giig&— F=——%t-A=1—H
IEFE  BEERARERZERD B AE

- TEEP/\EfEfﬂE{ ZARBEELEER

Rates offered by the People’s Bank of China and repayable in il}%f-l—,@i WHER =T —MEX_—F_AEH
2024 or 2025 (2021: repayable in 2024) B(-F——F  AR-F-NFHRE) -

current portion of loan from an intermediate holding company
was unsecured, interest bearing at RMB Benchmark Loan
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29.BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 29. RITRHEMEE
2022 2021
—E__F —E-—4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T AREET T
Bank borrowings RITEE 18,632,634 17,735,134
Other loans EMER 1,214,000
Unsecured (Notes i and ii) AR (i R ii) 17,252,522 15,932,683
Secured (Note iii) B i) 2,594,112 1,802,451
19,846,634 17,735,134
Less: Amounts classified as current liabilities B o BAREBEZEE (1,919,439) (5,548,802)
Amounts classified as non-current liabilities DEAEIERBABZEE 17,927,195 12,186,332
Carrying amount repayable:* JEEERmEE :
Within one year —FE R 1,919,439 5,548,802
More than one year but not more than two years BB — 418 T8 1E W F 10,972,082 2,271,186
More than two years but not more than five years 38/ &2 BB A F 5,990,569 9,624,646
More than five years AR E 964,544 290,500
19,846,634 17,735,134
* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the * BIHFRBE AR E R BHEA R EERBHAELE -

loan agreements.

The Group's bank borrowings were subject to variable-rate REB ZHRTEEERNSBZEEHEBEHT
interest at RMB Benchmark Loan Rates offered by the People’s ARRITREZARBEEERMINERE
Bank of China and Hong Kong Inter-Bank Offered Rate PR 1T B ZE 77 pUR & ([ 5 4 R 17 B 23 47 iR
("HIBOR") at the respective date of borrowings’ agreements ) RERZIHEERNBEERHEMAZEFE
or fixed-rate interest stated in borrowings’ agreements. BEFE - ﬁﬁ.fﬁﬁ&ﬁfﬂﬂﬁgz BEFRFH
The effective interest rates on the Group’s bank and other KN F2.12%%5.30% (= F1.48% %
borrowings ranged from 2.12% to 5.30% (2021: 1.48% to 4.99%) 4.99%) - XK HE ﬁﬁwﬁg E’J ERFERENT
per annum. The effective interest rates on the Group's other 3.80%Z%4.60%(=F=—%F : f&) °

borrowings ranged from 3.80% to 4.60% (2021: Nil) per annum.
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29.BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)

Notes:

2. BITREMEE )

Kt

0]

(i)

(iii)

Amounts of RMB3,024,694,000 (2021: RMB3,040,482,000) are bank
borrowings from China Merchants Bank (“CMB") which is an associate
of CMG. Also, included in the balance was borrowings of approximately
RMB189,504,000 (2021: RMB126,992,000) that are guaranteed by the non-
controlling interests and by the Company.

As at 31 December 2022, amounts of approximately RMB3,049,050,000
(2021: RMB2,101,710,000) were guaranteed by China Merchants Shekou.

As at 31 December 2022, land with carrying values of approximately
RMB3,777,371,000, investment properties with carrying values of
approximately RMB1,724,601,000 and trade receivables with carrying
values of approximately RMB345,000 have been pledged to secure bank
and other borrowings amounting to RMB2,594,112,000 granted to the
Group.

As at 31 December 2021, land with carrying values of approximately
RMB2,043,820,000 and investment properties with carrying values of
approximately RMB1,207,206,000 have been pledged to secure bank
and other borrowings amounting to RMB1,802,451,000 granted to the
Group. Besides, shareholding of a subsidiary with carrying values of
approximately RMB185,702,000 had been pledged to secure bank and
other borrowings amounting to RMB 145,735,000 granted to the Group.

As at 31 December 2022, amounts of RMB5,448,947,000 (2021:
RMB3,837,550,000) are denominated in HK$.

30.SHARE CAPITAL

(i) S ARKE3024,69400T(Z T =—F : ARK
3,040,482,0007T ) 4 B 1B /B & B 2 B & A R B RAT
([HBERIT ) ZRITIEE - 1IN - BABRANOARSE
189,504,0007C (=T =—4& : AR#126,992,0007T)
MIFEREERARARERZEE -

(i) MR-ZTZ=—F+-A=+—A ' HARKHE3,049,050,000
FT(ZZT=—%F : AR¥2,101,710,0007T) K9 & 58 il B 7
P AR o

iy RZB=-—=F+-A=+—0 A£EECEAEEE
#Ha AR¥3,777,371,000L 2 L1 - REBEAAAR
#1,724,601,000c 2 REMEREEEN /AR
345,0007C 2 EF R KIE - UREFAEE 2 RITR
H b sk A R #62,594,112,0007T fEH 4R o

RZZE-_—F+-_A=+—8 A&EECEAEEE
#) N R #2,043,820,000 7T 2 £+ it R EREE L A RE
1,207,206,0007T Z R E W + R FAEE 2 8R1T
R H A 2 & A R #1,802,451,000 7T fE HHE R = t5h -
NEEE IR EE 4 A A R % 185,702,0007T 2 Fi &8
AR - LR TFAEE 2 fTREMERHARE
145,735,0007CEH FEAR

vy R=ZZT—=—F+=-A=+—8  AR¥S5,448947,0007C
T ——4 : A\R#3,837,550,0007T) K& RBIABE

Ordinary share capital of the Company RRaE] 2 ERRAR AR
Number
of shares Amount
B EE k|
HK$'000
BT T
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each BREES0.01 T2 Tidk
Authorised: ERE
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, and N-_ZE-—F—H—H - —_FT=-—%F
31 December 2022 +-_A=+—BR=-ZF—_—
+—A=+—H 30,000,000,000 300,000
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30.SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

31.

Ordinary share capital of the Company (continued)

30. A ()

RRRZE BB (E)

Number
of shares Equivalent to
R4 E B HER
HK$'000  RMB'000
BT T AR¥T T
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHRE :
At 1 January 2021 and RZEBEZ_—F—H—H
31 December 2021 and —E-—F+-A=t—8K
31 December 2022 T —F+-RA=+—H 4,905,257,860 49,053 39,132

ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL
INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE

On 15 August 2022, Guangzhou Merchants Property
Development Ltd. (“Guangzhou Merchants”), an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into an
equity interest transfer agreement with Guangzhou Hongyu
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ("Guangzhou Hongyu”), an
associate partner of Guangzhou Zhaoying Real Estate Co., Ltd.
("Guangzhou Zhaoying”) to acquired additional 17% equity
interests in Guangzhou Zhaoying and shareholder’s loan
owed by Guangzhou Zhaoying to Guangzhou Hongyu (the
“Shareholders’ loan”) at a consideration of RMB171,000,000
and approximately RMB257,406,000 respectively. The fair
value of the additional interests in Guangzhou Zhaoying
acquired and the Shareholders’ loan are amounted to
approximately RMB301,518,000 and RMB257,406,000
respectively. The excess of fair value of the additional share
of net assets acquired and over the consideration paid,
approximately amounted to RMB130,518,000, is recognised in
the profit or loss. The equity is purchased at a discounted price
mainly due to Guangzhou Hongyu would like to strengthen its
cash flow by the realisation of Shareholders’ loan.

The acquisition was completed on 17 August 2022. Upon
completion, the Group holds 50% equity interests in
Guangzhou Zhaoying and became a joint venture of the
Group.
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31.

Wis — BB E QX RV IMER

R-ZE-_—FNA+HB ARAEEE2E
MWEBAREMNEBEEMEAR AR ([EMB
i) EEIMNT A B EREGR AR ([EM
i ) (BMNBEEEBRETAT ([ EM
) M S AR IRE ) AT IR EEE R
B N 4B B B 17% % i K R N 48 & A48 R B
AR ERER(TREER]) RESFIA
A B # 171,000,000 7T & 49 A R # 257,406,000
TL e TR EMNBREMES RIRRE KD
AFED B AL AR301,518,000T & AR
¥ 257,406,0007TC ° FEINE(L BT IS 2 B EOF
ENATFTEBHENRENIS BHARE
130,518,0007T * MiIBm P HER - s IRAEE
WIBE  DEZEREMNLBRBAZIFERE
BRIMEHBSRE °

WEEEER -_ZE-_—_FN \A+tHZKX - R
TRk NEEEEREMBmS0% 2K - M
BEMNBHEEEAEEB A EDE -
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HE_F—

32.

ZHFE+ZA=+—AULFE

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

As at 31 December 2020, Nanjing Jinsheng Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing Jinsheng”) was 19%
indirectly held by the Group, and remaining were held by
Changzhou Road King Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
and Nanjing Midea Real Estate Development Co., Ltd., the
independent third parties to the Group. Nanjing Jinsheng
was accounted for as a joint venture as the decision-making
process about the operating, investing and financing activities
of Nanjing Jinsheng requires unanimous consent pursuant to
the signed agreements.

Pursuant to the revised memorandum and articles of
association dated 8 March 2021, the Group further
acquired 21% equity interest of Nanjing Jinsheng at a cash
consideration of RMB208,200,000, the aggregate indirect
equity interest in Nanjing Jinsheng was increased from 19%
to 40% after the capital injection by the Group and non-
controlling interests. Upon the completion on 16 March 2021,
the Group has the power to cast the majority of votes at the
shareholders’ meetings of Nanjing Jinsheng, which was able
to exercise control over Nanjing Jinsheng and accordingly
Nanjing Jinsheng became a subsidiary of the Group.

2. WEBE-—RENEAF

R-E_ZEF+_A=+—H ERIR
EPHERZBEERAR(ERYE])BAE
EREFF1%ER  ESBAEEB L
% = 75 Changzhou Road King Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. R REM F HiE R
BRAFFE - ARERIBRNLE  REK
Hﬂﬁ/ﬁ@ﬁmﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂfmﬁﬁﬁ%a 5=k
F—HAEE  AERSBEARIAEERE -

BREBPA-Z-_—F=A/\BNKBEIHE
ERARMNMAE - AEBEE - FPKWERERY
BRM21%[% 1 - e E R AR 208,200,000

T EAEERIFERERITER NERD

RO EEREATER19%EE40% c R=ZT=—

FZATRBAERE > AEBEERRDENK

RRELBHBYEBRERE  EHHRRIDRE

{71@ HIHE - FU B R REKRAE BB
NG
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32. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

33.

32.WEE—EME AR )

RMB’'000
ARBTF T
Assets acquired and liabilities recognised RURE B EAPTINEE 2 BE M PR Z BIE ¢
at the date of acquisition:
Other receivables H b fE R IE 61,179
Properties for sale ARt HEYHE 829,331
Bank balances and cash IRTTREB RS 7,676
Bank and other borrowings HRIT R H A FE R (502,933)
Other payables H At FE T FRIE (17,631)
377,622
Carrying amount of interest in a joint venture RZEZ—F=ZANBREEE R
as at 8 March 2021 AREE 79,775
Add: Non-controlling interest N SERERRiERS 297,847
Less: Net assets acquired o T 2 BEFE (377,622)
Analysis of inflow of bank balances and cash in WE—ERE AR RITEBR RIS
respect of acquisition of a subsidiary: RADHT
Bank balances and cash acquired BEWERITER LTS 7,676

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
ACCOUNTED FOR AS ASSETS
ACQUISITION

()

Acquisition of Guangzhou Baosu Real Estate Co.,
Ltd. (“Guangzhou Baosu”)

On 16 December 2020, Guangzhou Merchants entered
into a cooperation agreement with Guangdong Poly
Urban Development Co., Ltd., an independent third
party, to acquire the 50% equity interest of Guangzhou
Baosu, at a total consideration of RMB2,000,000,000.
Upon completion on 25 August 2021, Guangzhou Baosu
became a subsidiary of the Company as the Company
had the power to cast the majority of votes at the board
of directors meetings and the power to affect the returns.
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33 WEBHE A RLARIIEEEWE

WEEMNRBEZEEGR AR (TEMER
1)

RZZ_ZTF+=—A+8  EMNBrH
BYUFE=FERRFPRTEERERADA
I A EWRR AR - DAUCEE BN (R T8 2 50% A%
¥ - #RE A AR 2,000,000,0007T ° B
—T-—FNAZ-+REBEKE ARAE
RRAERRESEEE LRAZHERE
EEERR  WEMNREERK ARG
BT °
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33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
ACCOUNTED FOR AS ASSETS
ACQUISITION (continued)

() Acquisition of Guangzhou Baosu Real Estate Co.,
Ltd. (“Guangzhou Baosu”) (continued)

Guangzhou Baosu was principally engaged in property
development business in the PRC and up to the date of
acquisition, Guangzhou Baosu had not carried out any
significant business transaction except for holding a piece
of undeveloped land. The Group elected to apply the
optional concentration test in accordance with HKFRS 3
and concluded that the property under development for
sale held by Guangzhou Baosu was considered a single
identifiable asset. The acquisition had been accounted

(1)

3WENRBARLARIIMEEEWE
(#)

WEEMRBEXER QA ([EIMNEF
B
BEMRBEERTEREMERMBER
MEZERBER  BisH —EARFELLR
o BMRBEBETENEREBR
2 o REBERIBFEW B RELEREINR
BERETHENETRAR  AF/HESR
RREMRBHEA 2AHEEERPYE
R—AAHRREE - WBCHAKENE
EWEAR

for by the Group as acquisition of assets.

RMB’000
AR¥T T
Bank balances and cash RITEBR RS 591,529
Other receivables H b fE R IE 3,167
Deferred tax assets RIERIIE S B 471
Right-of-use assets EREEE 284
Property under development for sale AHEEERTYE 4,925,020
Bank and other borrowing RITREMEE (888,000)
Other payables H b JE T FIE (632,188)
Lease liabilities HEEE (283)
4,000,000
Consideration — deposits paid in 2020 RE—CZEZFIANES 2,000,000
Non-controlling interests ey e 2,000,000
4,000,000
Cash inflow arising on acquisition WHEE AR S MA
Bank balances and cash acquired BWERITEMSRRIRE 591,529
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33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 33 WBME A RLARIEEERE

ACCOUNTED FOR AS ASSETS (%)

ACQUISITION (continued)

() Acquisition of Guangzhou Yueshang Real Estate () WEEMTIREEERZEARAA
Development Co., Ltd. (“Guangzhou Yueshang”) (TEMEE L)
On 3 September 2021, Guangzhou Merchants Property RZZEZ—FNA=H  ARAHEEEZE
Development Ltd., an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary MEB AR EMBEEERR AR EEZ
of the Company, entered into a cooperation agreement BE=HEMEXEEBR(RE)ARAAFZL
with Excellent Real Estate Group (Dongguan) Co., Ltd., G 1EE - ANEE BN 7 2 50% AR #E -
an independent third party, to acquire the 50% equity @R E R/ ARM500,0000007T c AZE
interest of Guangzhou Yueshang, at a total consideration “—FNAZHEKE  ARARREHE
of RMB500,000,000. Upon completion on 3 September RESeeR tHEEBFENREERE
2021, Guangzhou Yueshang became a subsidiary of the Fé%’g“@tﬁ HMEMIE B BARRA AR
Company as the Company had the power to cast the B A

majority of votes at the board of directors meetings and
the power to affect the returns.

Guangzhou Yueshang was principally engaged in BN EERNR B SR EER
property development business in the PRC and up to MEZWEEH  KiFE —BARMEMIR
the date of acquisition, Guangzhou Yueshang had not Sh - BN EETERNEREBHR
carried out any significant business transaction except for 2 o REEERBEB MR ELERFE35R
holding a piece of undeveloped land. The Group elected BEETREENETEAIR  TSHER
to apply the optional concentration test in accordance RRBEMNEERFE 2 HEERRPYE
with HKFRS 3 and concluded that the property under R—IAAHREE - WEEHAEEINE
development for sale held by Guangzhou Yueshang was EWIE AL

considered a single identifiable asset. The acquisition had
been accounted for by the Group as acquisition of assets.
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33. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
ACCOUNTED FOR AS ASSETS
ACQUISITION (continued)

(I Acquisition of Guangzhou Yueshang Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (“Guangzhou Yueshang”)
(continued)

3WENRBARLARIIMEEEWE
(#)

() WEERMMREEHERZBRAA
(TEMEE ) ()

RMB'000
AR¥TT
Bank balances and cash WITHBR RS 428,928
Other receivables H i e 5 IE 8,663
Property under development for sale FEERPYE 2,109,673
Bank and other borrowing RITREMEE (400,000)
Other payables H A fE T RIR (1,147,264)
1,000,000
Cash paid BEfNRE 500,000
Non-controlling interests FEFER R 500,000
1,000,000

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition of BEEBRENBARCEEWEBESL Y

assets through acquisition of subsidiary: &M FEE

Cash consideration paid in current year REELNZEERE (500,000)
Less: Bank balances and cash acquired W BEBIRITAER LIRS 428,928
Net cash outflow WL F5E (71,072)
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34.DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 24 November 2022, Guangzhou Merchants entered into
an equity interest transfer agreement with Guangdong New
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Nanda Cable Industry Co., Ltd. and Foshan Jincheng Frozen
Food Co., Ltd., the non-controlling shareholders of Foshan
Kai Da Cheng Investment Development Co., Ltd. (“Foshan
Kai Da Cheng”), to dispose the remaining 51% equity
interest and a shareholder loan of Foshan Kai Da Cheng, at
a cash consideration of RMB408,032,000. The disposal was

34 HE—EMBAFR
RZZBE-_—F+—A=+WBE - BEMNBEEEGH
IWTslERRERREAR AR ([FLER])
R RERT A EEEEEERAAR
BHBLTEHRRREBERAAGVLERERSE
B+ DA &5 0 1L S 3 30 8 T 519 HO AR A I AR 3R
B ReREAHARKAL08,032,0007T - HE
EEHR-_ZE_—FF+ AKX - REHEZRK K
2% BILUSEBTBARNARZHB AR -

completed in December 2022. Foshan Kai Da Cheng ceased to

be a subsidiary of the Company upon and after the disposal.

RMB’000
AR¥T T
Assets and liabilities derecognised at the date RS LEERE AR IEERANEER
of disposal of Foshan Kai Da Cheng were as follow: BEWMT :
Bank balances and cash RITAERRIR 9,178
Trade and other receivables ZET5 e HoAh pE W R IA 5,095
Properties for sale A S 775,868
Right-of-use assets EREEE 790
Property, plant and equipment M - BE K& 147
Deferred tax assets RIEN TR B 10,556
Trade and other payables TS M H A FE S FRIA (201,480)
Contract liabilities BREE (28,783)
Tax payables FERTBEIE (127)
Lease liabilities HEARE (837)
570,407
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—RB ARz W :
Consideration received BAKE 408,032
Net assets disposed of EHEEEFRE (570,407)
Shareholder loan disposed of B ERRER (53,032)
Non-controlling interests SRR A 272,117
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE — T B A Rz Was 56,710
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEE 2 RERAFRE
Consideration received by cash AZR & WEREY (B 408,032
Less: Bank balances and cash disposed of B BEHERITERKA S (9,.178)
Net cash inflow BERNFRE 398,854
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35.RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN

(i) Plans for Hong Kong employees

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all its
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in funds under the control of an independent trustee.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF
Scheme is to make the required contributions under the
schemes. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce
the contribution payable in the future years.

(i) Plans for PRC employees

The employees employed in the PRC are members of the
state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by
the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute certain percentage of their payroll to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit schemes is to make the specified contributions.

36.CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of loans from non-
controlling interests and an intermediate holding company
and bank and other borrowings net of bank balances and cash
and equity, comprising share capital, share premium, various
reserves and non-controlling interests.

35 R IRERIETE
() BEEEE
AEBERBEBMARERREZRRES
itEl - BESA B CEERBR —RBEIRE
FREAEN 2 ESBAKBMTEED AR
B AREHBBEEFEZE-—RERR
BRZETEEL R E MR - WERUW AR
AT (AR R 2R 6 2 A 13 o

) PEESF 2
TEEE2EBTEBRFMEEZBERER

RARENEE - BB A RARZRK
BN EESFME TES L ZH#
R BRERVEHRES - AEBHERK
BRI E 2 ME—BERIEHREHK -

6. EcEMmER
REFBEBHEES - L‘ME(%ZKE@ZE%%’@E
AR BRELE T AEE  RBTEBRERTE
Fiﬁéﬁiﬂle&ZE—&ﬂkﬁﬁﬁi%Hx%aéHxﬁj:@
iR o NEBEERIKEEFRIFAE -

7«!&%@25@521& AE B s R MR TR

RIERURBITREMEE - EHRRTE
ﬁ%&iﬁ(ﬁb{&%é(ﬁﬁﬁﬂi CBRE -~ B
R IR MR
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36.

FEo—FF A=+ —HIFFE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital, cost of debts, gearing
ratios and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through new
share issues, the payment of dividends as well as the issue of
new debts or the repayment of existing debts.

Group entities which were established in the PRC maintained
RMB denominated bank balances, the remittance of these
funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions
imposed by the PRC government.

The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the reporting
period was as follows:

6. E¢RMREE®)

ARAREZEHRNERNER o R A
ERBELXREBENEBZRER - REAR
REZEZHEBER  AEERERTHR K
NERBARETHEXEERFEY  FEHE
BREXRLGRE -

RPBRIZAREERFEAARKFEZ
RITEH  BFEELZERRAETHEK
TR E 2 FE LR

REERHENEEER 2ERBBLRAT ¢

2022 2021

—E=-C= —E-—F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARET ARBET T

Debt (Note i) B (M ati) 35,359,267 36,536,844
Bank balances and cash RITEHRNIE S (12,343,547) (14,423,276)
Net debt RIETS 23,015,720 22,113,568
Equity (Note ii) WS (W) 32,726,265 33,850,597
Net debt to equity ratio SRETS S L 0.70 0.65

Notes:

(i) Debt is defined as loans from non-controlling interests and an
intermediate holding company and bank and other borrowings.

(i) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group and non-controlling
interests.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

Categories of financial instruments

37.€mIT A
(@) SERITADE

2022 2021
—EC-_4F = —F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR T AREET T
Financial assets ETMEE
Financial asset at FVTPL BEAFEFABENESHEE 128,442 117,836
Financial assets at amortised cost BHEN AT ECEREE
(including bank balances and cash) (BRERITHEBKLE D) 42,309,882 39,210,299
Financial liabilities SEBeE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost HHERATEZEREE 64,947,533 69,859,341

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, bank balances and cash, financial
asset at FVTPL, loans from non-controlling interests
and an intermediate holding company, trade and other
payables, bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities.
Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

(b) BATSE R EIE B R MR

AEETIZeRMTABREEBREMER
HIE - RITEHRERE - BRAFEFAR
BNEREE  FERERRBEERA
AER  EBREMBEMNKEA - RITRE
EEAREEAE BT AZHEBER
MR RAPM R BFE -

ZEemTARERREET SRR (B
RgkMXER) FERRETBDE SR
b - BRAMMREZZER R 2 BREN T
X BEEEELERZEAR - UHER
MW ERERA BEE
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk
Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency denominated other
receivables, bank balances and cash, bank and other
borrowings, loans from non-controlling interests and
other payables, which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. The management has closely monitored
foreign exchange exposure and will undertake necessary
procedures to mitigate the currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at
the end of the reporting period are as follows:

37.€mIE®)
(b) HIEREBEIEEIERBEE)

miS R
BEE R

AEEz B EKFIR - RITHEBKRR
& RITREMEBE - FERESE TN
NEAC MRS EHE - BHAKHE
mHINERR EEERIERINER
% WHREGEE RFEMEERR

AEBENINEHEZEBEERER AR
RREREAER B 2 BREENT

Assets Liabilities
BE afE

2022 2021 2022 2021

—E__F - T B —ET—-——&

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBTRT AR¥KTT AR%®TR AR%TT

HK$ ok 1,280,818 1,095,753 6,483,763 4,480,223

US$ ETT 153,867 1,338,069 66,531 350,211
Inter-group balances SE N AIRER

HK$ ok 3,209,283 1,991,809 227,804 200,909

US$ ETT 576,336 526,088 - 60
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 37. eI )
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) AR SR E IR B2 MR (&)

(continued)
Market risk (continued) SRk (&)
Sensitivity analysis BUREE ST
The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk from REEFEARNEE RETENEE
assets and liabilities denominated in HK$ and US$. kaBEEERR -
The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5% TRAMAEERARE(EHEETRE 2
(2021: 5%) increase and decrease in RMB, the functional REEH) KT M B EFAE R EES% (=
currency of respective group entities, against US$ and T 5%)IHBRE - ZEREDE
HK$ which represents management'’s assessment of the BEHINEEXRTREHRCSBES 2T
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rate. e BBRESTEFBUETRABBHEL
The sensitivity analysis includes outstanding US$ and REBEEHKIER  WARREHRAZE AR
HK$ denominated monetary items and adjusts their HNESRE SR 2 5% ( Z T = —4F :5%) #FHFE
translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5% HEME - U TEHEREARBHEEZTR
(2021: 5%) change in foreign currency rate. A positive B EAS%(ZZ = —F 5% RTE R
number below indicates an increase in post-tax profit MzEMEE  R2TA -

where RMB strengthens 5% (2021: 5%) against US$ and
HK$ and vice versa.

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBT T

Profit for the year FNH (66,280) (3,327)
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

37. ﬁﬁmlﬂ(@)
) B ER S B IE REGE ()

(continued)
Market risk (continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is primarily exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate interest bearing bank
balances, bank and other borrowings and loans from
an intermediate holding company. The directors of
the Company considers that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank balances
is limited due to their short maturities.

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to
its fixed-rate loans from lease liabilities, non-controlling
interests, amounts due from associates, amounts due
from joint ventures and bank and other borrowings.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate
hedging policy in relation to fair value interest rate risk
and cash flow interest rate risk. However, management
of the Group monitors interest rate exposure on an on-
going basis and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of RMB Benchmark Loan
Rates offered by the People’s Bank of China and HIBOR.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been prepared
assuming these financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were outstanding for
the whole year. A 50 basis points (2021: 50 basis points)
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel and
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2021: 50 basis
points) higher/lower for variable-rate interest bearing
liabilities and all other variables were held constant, the
Group's post-tax profit for the year would decrease/
increase by RMB23,178,000 (2021: decrease/increase by
RMB52,928,000) (excluding the effect for borrowing costs
capitalised).
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BIRITHEBHIMKEE - EfMEA 2R
EmENERRHROGR o

AREE 2 DA = E R = B 8 E IR
BE ERER HEAFE BURBEZER

AR - BIRE B EKIBINARIRITRE
fEEam -

AEBERETEGHAFENERRRKE
© e F KRR 2 FRERER - A
ﬁ%@ EREREERNERR R

EEREZEEAPEATERR

AEERERENEXAREIEEPRFE
ARBRITREZ ARBEEEFRNXEE
BERTITRI RSN X ZRB AR

AN TEEREDMIDBRENBERNELEER
ZHEREBREHMIANBFERERNR
B o NEAEBEIEA B HE T X E R
BRA EA S T RES0ERB (=2 = —4 - 50
EER) - BIHFIR 2z AR REE

HLLZB AR B2 AEFIR EF T
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from:

e  the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the end of each
reporting period; and

e  the amount of financial guarantees provided by the
Group as disclosed in note 41.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect of
bank balances. At 31 December 2022, approximately 39%
(2021: 33%) of the bank balances were deposited at CMB.
Except for approximately 13% (2021: 11%) of the bank
balances deposited at Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
and approximately 11% (2021: 9%) of the bank balances
deposited at Agricultural Bank of China, deposits in other
banks are individually less than 10% of total bank deposits
and bank balances. The credit risk of these liquid funds
is limited because the counterparties are either state-
owned banks located in the PRC or banks with high credit
ratings.

37. €T R
) BSERER B R REE ()

FERR

AEERARZHFREBTHEEMSIHK
AEBELMBERZEAEERRA

e ZREHHAERESUBHARKRA
o SERE RS REEZRA
B: R

o MEMMEERAEERHEHBE
REHER -

AEEZRITESRBEERBREFRIER
R_EBE-_—_F+=-A=+—8 R{T7&%
#939%( —ZF = —4F : 33%) F RN B ER
17 o BRERITASBAI13% (T =—F 111%)
RANB(ZT=—F : 9% ) F R R EIR
TROBRAR RFEBERITI - @5
BT RO RIBITERRIBITASE
BE210% - BRRZEF ABLANHEZH
BIRITKASEEFTR BT BUHER
PEL 2 EERBER -
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect
of amounts due from intermediate holding companies,
non-controlling interests, fellow subsidiaries, associates,
joint ventures and an investee. In order to minimise
the credit risk on these amounts, the management of
the Group continuously monitors the credit quality and
financial conditions of intermediate holding companies,
non-controlling interests, fellow subsidiaries, associates,
joint ventures and an investee of the Group and the level
of exposure to ensure that follow up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. Based on the assessment on
the market condition and current budget of property
development projects held by the relevant joint
ventures, associates and an investee of the Group, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group's
credit risk in respect of these balances is insignificant
except for an amount due from a joint venture located
in Guangzhou. Due to a decrease in the actual and
expected selling price of that joint venture's property
development project, the directors of the Company have
recognised an impairment loss of RMB59,059,000 (2021:
RMB262,073,000 recognised for another Guangzhou
joint venture’s property development project) in profit
or loss during the year ended 31 December 2022 on the
gross carrying amount of certain amounts due from the
joint ventures amounting to RMB1,187,398,000 (2021:
RMB1,082,310,000) according to its internal credit rating
assessment.

Trade receivables

Trade receivable consists of properties operation income
receivables from customers. The Group monitors the
outstanding balances on an ongoing basis. Credit
evaluations are performed by the management before
properties operation agreements are entered into
with counterparties. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model on trade
receivables individually. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group's credit risk on trade
receivables is significantly reduced.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

37.€mIT B
(b) SRR EIEBERIEE (&)

(continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Other receivables

In determining the credit risk on other receivables,
the directors of the Company have taken into account
the historical default experience and forward-looking
information, as appropriate. There had been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
The Group has considered the consistently low historical
default rate in connection with payments, and concluded
that credit risk inherent in the Group's outstanding other
receivables is insignificant.

The Group provides guarantees to banks in connection
with certain customers’ borrowing of mortgage loans
to finance their purchase of the Group's properties. If
a purchaser defaults on the payment of its mortgage
during the period of guarantee, the bank holding
the mortgage may demand the Group to repay the
outstanding loan and any interest accrued thereon.
Under such circumstances, the Group is able to repossess
the properties for resale. Therefore, the management
of the Group considers it would likely recover any loss
incurred arising from the guarantee provided by the
Group. No such repossession of properties occurred
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The Group also provides guarantees to banks in
connection with borrowings of certain joint ventures
and associates. The maximum amount that the Group
has guaranteed under the respective contracts was
RMB3,929,439,000 (2021: RMB2,452,174,000) as at 31
December 2022. At the end of the reporting period, the
directors of the Company have performed impairment
assessment, and concluded that these has been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
of the financial guarantee contracts.

FERRE)

E g TR
RETEHMEEFBENEERRE - A2
RAEZCERELZOLR LATEEER
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Other receivables (continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment

comprises the following categories:

37.€mIE®)

(b) MBEREREBERBRE)

FERRE)

E At EWHR (E)
AEBENHABEERRFRAFEEEAT

Rl

Other financial assets/

Internal credit rating Description Trade receivables other items
HittemEE

ABEE TR it ESY A ERE] HiER

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
default and does not have any credit-impaired
past-due amounts

(E9ENC HFEFTMWEHRREE - B EEM 2HRRAEEEE - 1218 BEBAE EEE
EHFIE AMEERE

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
dates but usually settles in full credit-impaired

BReE BEALBTREBERER - BT EHIRHEERE - 128 A EAE E 18
EHIFE AMEERE

Doubtful There have been significant increases  Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL - not
in credit risk since initial recognition credit-impaired credit-impaired
through information developed
internally

TriE AEBHIRTEYE R BN EE R R B 1R E2HIRHEERE - EHBEHEERE —KE
FERRAE R IR0 AMEERE ERE

Loss There is evidence indicating that the Lifetime ECL — credit-  Lifetime ECL — credit-
asset is credit-impaired impaired impaired

B8R BRBERPEECDFEERE HIRHEERE - EHBEHEEEE-FE

EERE E

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery

s BREXRPEBARNREVTRE - M MEEEHE s IR

&= B W B SR ER 0 AT SO S
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
the Group's financial assets which are subject to ECL

assessment:

37.€mIT B

FERRE)
TRHALAEEN S REE(DRRIAS
FEERBRFH)NEERRKO

(b) BAFSREMRE IR B AR RBR (&)

Internal credit  External 12-month or Gross
rating credit rating  lifetime ECL carrying amount
128525
ABEEFR  HBEEFR HHCEER REEE
2022 2021
—E-CF —T-—F
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
iz NS ARETT
Amounts due from related parties 23 Note N/A 12m ECL 27,810,142 23,046,213
Uk B 7 3K0E FazE NEA NEAEHEE
BB
Amounts due from related parties 23 Loss N/A Lifetime ECL - credit- 1,187,398 1,082,310
impaired
e e Ba R 77 SR8 B TEA 2HEBEESE-
EERE
Bank balances 24 N/A Prime 1 - Prime 12m ECL 12,343,547 14,423,276
2
RITEEER NEA F-EBRZEFE- 2ERBHEE
Bk |
Other receivables 23 Note N/A 12m ECL 1,463,271 1,093,117
H i YRR Bt zE TEA NEAEHEE
B#E
Trade receivables 23 Lowrisk N/A Lifetime ECL 26,925 25,419
EBREKFA R R @A 2HRBEERE
Note: For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group uses B NS EERRERENS @ ASEFEHARER

past due information to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, there is no significant increase in credit risk of the
amounts as the amounts are not past due.

AR EERE B IR EREEAAE LA - &
RAIBFERR  AHEFENEERRILEAE L
Tt TR AE BFCRIL R -
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for amount due from joint

37.€mIE®)
(b) HIEREBEIEEIERBEE)

BRER(E)
TRIIRRBE— A B ERBRRS
2MEHEEEROED -

ventures.
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
RHEMEE
BRUGERE)
RMB'000
ARET T
As at 1 January 2021 MN-E-_—F—H—H 187,294
Changes due to financial instruments recognised R-ZE_—_F-—HA—HEINEHITA
as at 1 January 2022: Y
— Impairment losses recognised - EHERBEEE 262,073
As at 31 December 2021 R-EBE-_—F+-_H=1+—H 449,367
Changes due to financial instruments recognised R-ZE_—_F—-—HA—ABIRNEMIT A
as at 1 January 2022: RS
— Impairment losses recognised - BEERRERSE 59,059
As at 31 December 2022 R-E-_—_F+-_H=+—H 508,426

Liquidity risk

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding generated from operating activities
and the flexibility through the use of borrowings and
issue of new debts. The directors of the Company
closely monitor the liquidity position and expect to have
adequate sources of funding to finance the Group's
projects and operations.

The following table details the Group’s expected
remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived
from interest rate curve at the end of the reporting
period.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 37. €I A
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) M ERRE IR B R RBER (&)
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESER(E)
Weighted ~ On demand Total
average  or within 61to 181to Over undiscounted  Carrying
interestrate ~ 60days  180days  365days  1-2years 2-3years 3years cashflows  amount
nE  EEXY AERAE

THHE  M0BA  61Z1808  181%365H 1825 223 BB E4E e
RMB0O0  RMBI0O0  RMB'000  RMBI000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

ARBFR  ARWTR  ARRTR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARRTR  ARBTR  AREBTR

At 31 December 2022 i St

t=B=1-H
Trade and other payables  ERREMEMFA - 29,588,266 - = = - - 29,588,266 29,588,266
Lease liabilities fgeE 4,70% 9,902 19,803 30,530 57,566 43,403 291,721 452,925 432,593

Loans fromnon-controllng ~ FEERERER
interests

- interest bearing -H8 - 1,013 1,421 68,922 22,425 - - 93,787 90,922

- non-nterest bearing -G8 4.79% - - - - 114170 - 14170 114170
Loans from anintermediate ~ FEARATER

holding company 4.74% 22,185 119,351 238,703 368,000 11,705,148 4,198,026 16,651,413 15,307,541
Bankand otherborrowings  SF{TREMEE

—fixed rate -8 3.81% 54949 1,033,302 400,262 4,480,914 3,055,908 202142 9227477 8,660,159

- variable rate -58 4.43% 129,067 162,920 945513 7123050 2,737,380 1,532,669 12,630,599 11,186,475

29,805,382 1,336,803 1,683,930 12,051,955 17,656,009 6,224,558 68,758,637 65,380,126

Financial quarantee contracts BB ERAA) 7,908,240 - - - - - 7,908,240 -
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

37.€mIE®)
RETE B2 R ()

(b) EAF5IE

(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESER(E)
Weighted ~ On demand Total
average  orwithin 6110 181to 1-2 2-3 Over undiscounted ~ Carmying
interest rate 00days  180days  365days years years 3years  cashflows amount
g BE RERAS
TEAE  He0BR GIEIR0R  181Z365R EF R BBE RBEE BEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMBI000 RMBI000
ARETT  ARBTT  ARMTR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR
At 31 December 2021 H=%=-%128
=t-A
Tradeand other payables SR REMERZIE - B3 - - - - - B3LT 330497
Lease liabllties BERE 4.70% 9039 18078 780 57,812 50,248 285571 44865 428486
Loans fromnon-controllng ~ FFEREZER
interests 497% 5,189 24013 510418 5,179 10782 - 666,581 635,507
Loans from an intermediate ~ BEIERAAEH
holding company 472% 194,414 480303 2184141 167600 16621274 - 023732 18166203
Bankandotherborrowings ~ RITREMEE
- fixed rate -E8 4.62% 5853 9,140 54,090 265940 13335 mun 619,723 601,263
- varigble rate - %8 1% 108285 2921757 2041066 2400603 9189646 O74489 18260426 17133851
569657 3453291 417586 3548134 26071308 171408 73631584 70287827
Financial quarantee contracts ST ERA#] 7908240 - - - - - 7908240 -
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37.€mIT B
(b) SRR EIEBERIEE (&)

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could
be required to settle under the arrangement for the
full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by
the counterparty to the guarantors. Based on the
expectations at the end of the reporting period, the
Group considers that it is more likely than not that no
amount will be payable under the arrangement. However,
this estimate is subject to change depending on the
probability of the counterparty claiming under the
guarantee, which is a function of the likelihood that the
financial receivables held by the counterparties that are
guaranteed by the Group suffer any credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates
differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at
the end of the reporting period.

RBE SRR (E)

RV BRERENZEERMISHY
FAERARLHRR - AIRBEEZHERS
BRI RERLAERFEZRREH
EREREHHEER 2R - AEER
RRFEEBARBZ RN E[FIE -
A - B EEWE  REANEEIE
TR3X 5 %4 F PR B W B 75 SR RE AR AR
EERMRBRERER PR ZATEEME

HEBNEEHENFERNEEERETE
ZHEGEFER - A BRI E SR A
BZFBHNETAMGFAZERNEEE
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Fair value

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 recorded at amortised costs in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values.

The below tables summarised the financial instruments
measured at fair value:

Fair value

37.€mIE®)
() AFEE

ARREERE R-ZE_—_Fr=-F
——F+=ZA=+—H8 REEVBHRE
NEHEKAARZCREERSRMBEZ
BREEHEEAFEES -

TREBR A EFENSRTE

Fair value Valuation techniques and

Financial instrument as at 31 December hierarchy significant key or unobservable inputs
AFE
e®IR R+=A=+—H AFEER HEFEREREZEZERFUEHREAHE
2022 2021
— B _F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREKTT
Financial asset at FVTPL 128,442 117,836 Level 3 Assets based approach. The key
unobservable input is market price per
square meter, taking into account the
recent transaction prices for similar
properties adjusted for nature, location
and conditions of the property. (Note)
RAFE AERE E=/R BEEWE - FETAEERBABIBERE T

ERMEE

Note: A slight increase/decrease in the market prices used in valuation
would not result in a significant change in the fair value of the
financial asset at FVTPL.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c)

Fair value

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of
financial asset

37.€mIT B
() ATEE)

BAFEF=FENSREELK

RMB$'000

ARBFT

Balance at 1 January 2021 m:@:—i )E] ElE’J 106,899
Unrealised fair value change recognised R ?Tﬁx

in profit or loss 10,937

Balance at 31 December 2021 pi = :—i—?—*ﬁi-i——EIE’\j,% 117,836
Unrealised fair value change recognised = b NF(EE

in profit or loss 10,606

Balance at 31 December 2022 RZBZZF+_HA=+—HBH4 128,442

Valuation processes

Financial asset at FVTPL is measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes. The appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs for fair value measurement are
determined by the directors of the Company.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group
engages independent qualified valuers to perform the
valuation when considered necessary. The directors of
the Company work closely with the independent qualified
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques
and inputs to the model. The directors of the Company
review the cause of fluctuations in fair value of the assets
and liabilities semi-annually.

fHEBRE

BRAFEFABRENEREERAFER
B MEMBHRERE AFEAEBZE
REETERBABBIIBAARESE

.
E °

At BEZ AFER - AREBFZAREEA
AERMSEE - X EE —RBARE
ZIBRT $%@B§ﬁ%§%ﬂéﬁ%§ﬂ%ﬁjé
BRMEEMETHE ARARNEFTSES
ﬁéﬁ’fﬁéﬁfﬁﬁfﬁ%rzjé\fﬁxiﬁii_)ﬂz
[BETERBABE - ARREFEFF
EHEERABRAFERBZRA -

—TooFF%R HBERBABRATE 265



OTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N |

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F-_—F1+-A=+—HALFE

A__\
AL

38.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 38. MEREB 2 REYHK
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group'’s liabilities THRANAEEREEH 2 EEZS  BER
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- SNREED  c MEEDELECBBENER
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are Bensd R RkBEeRENGARERERT
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, SEAREFDREREZEE -
classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.
Non-cash changes
FRe29
Non-cash
1 January Financing Exchange Finance New lease Dividend ~transactions 31 December
2022 cashflow  adjustment  costsincurred entered declared (Note 45) 2022
b3 HE FrE£N 3k it
-A-H RERE EjBE HEHA  TUINNEE  BERRE (Wit45) +=R=t-H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARNTn  ARBTR  ARMTR
Amounts due to intermediate  ERREERAA
holding companies Er) 5,658,637 702,042 - - = = = 6,360,679
Amounts due to non-controlling i R B2 20U
interests 3,868,582 (1,036,948) 100,592 55,285 - - (264,053) 2,723,458
Amounts due to fellow ERRZNELA
subsidlaries 0 3,243,633 1,210,203 - - - - - 4,453,836
Amounts due to joint ventures ERfAERE5E 2,096,973 471,707 - - - - (209,300 2,359,380
Amounts due to associates  EfEE AFZE 2,539,832 1,114,567 - - - - 416000 4070399
Loans from non-controling ~ FEEAMRERE
interests 635,507 (609,167) 5,660 - - - 173,092 205,092
Loans from an intermediate ~ BRERATER
holding company 18,166,203 (2,858,662) - - - - - 15,307,541
Bank and other borrowings 7R M E 17735134 1,702,380 409,120 - - - - 19,846,634
Lease liabilities HERRE 428,486 (77,810) - 20,848 92,211 - (31,142) 432,593
Interest payables (included in -~ EERTF| & (5t A 5%
trade and other payables) R MERFIE) 145625 (1,518,264) - 1,590,806 - - - 218,167
Dividend payable (includedin - R & (5t A %5
trade and other payables)  REMEFIE) 962,035 (876,832) - - 1,180,743 (302,000 963,946
55,480,647 (1,776,784) 515,372 1,666,939 92,211 1,180,743 (217,403) 56,941,725
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38.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES I RETH2AGHKR®)
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

(continued)

Non-cash changes

FALEY
Non-cash
1 January Financing Exchange Finance New lease Dividend ~transactions 31 December
2021 cash flow adjustment  costs incurred entered declared (Note 45) 201
B-F B e Rexs  FF

—A-H RERE B A% HERA TUMHEE  EERRE (Wt45) +=R=1-H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000
AEETR  ARBTRT  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

Amounts due to intermediate  [EFTEEIER AR

holding companies Er] 11,034,540 (4,036,460) - - - - (1,339443) 5,658,637
Amounts due to non-controlling JEff SRR ERZUE

interests 2,325,799 (1,095,300) (36432 - - - 2674515 3,868,582
Amounts due to fellow ERRZNBAR

subsidlaries E] 2,466,999 980,759 - - - - (204,125) 3243633
Amounts due to oint ventures B A ECEFUR 1454728 527,465 = = = = 114,780 2096973
Amounts due to associates EBENTZE 2,237,281 624,025 - - - - (321,480) 2539832
Loans from non-controlling FRRESER

interests 2,488,151 892406 (2475) - - - (2.742579) 635,507
Loans from an intermediate  FEERATEH

holding company 1,996,823 16,169,380 - - - - - 18,166,203
Bank and other borrowings RIRAMEE 13,107,800 2,836,401 - - - - 1,790933 17,735,134
Bond payable EffEH 1,900,000 (1,900,000) - - - - - -
Lease liabilities fERE 442919 (125,146) - 15,350 95,080 - 283 428486
Interest payables (included in ~ FERTFI & (GHAZH

trade and other payables)  RE{FERFIE) 30784 (1,225,008 - 1337847 - - - 145,625
Dividend payable (includedin ~ FERRS. (T A %5

trade and other payables) REfERZE) 962,035 (553498 - - - 553498 - 962,035

40,449,865 13,095,026 (38907) 1,353,197 95,080 553,498 [271.112) 55,480,647
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39.O0PERATING LEASES

The Group as a lessor

A number of the investment properties held have committed

tenants for the next one to twelve years.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

39.8EME
AEBEEREHAA

A2 ZHRENEZLHPARRN T —F&E

T FHMER -

KA ENREREFENT

2022 2021

—E-C T —%F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T AREET T

Minimum lease payments receivable FEWEE RN REREFIBNT :

on leases are as follows:

Within one year —E R 148,389 155,510

In the second year F-FERN 115,360 132,754

In the third year F=FNA 92,125 94,401

In the fourth year FINFR 66,445 70,659

In the fifth year EFRFNRN 45,397 49,368

After five years AF& 193,724 219,604

661,440 722,296

40.COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the

following commitments contracted for but not provided in the

consolidated financial statements in respect of:

40 7K

REEMmaEn  AEEEBULTEED T
HELFNGA IBREABZAEMT -

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARBEFTT

Construction of properties under BEAHEEEERTYE
development for sale 9,739,350 8,006,036
Leasehold improvements HEWEEE 4,450 13,003
Capital injection to joint ventures AAENETE 15,100 3,300
Property, plant and equipment acquisition M BELREZEEE - 275
9,758,900 8,022,614
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41. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

4. BIEEREN

2022 2021
—=E==-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT
Guarantee given to banks in connection with MR TR ZEMEMEA TRIT ZER
facilities granted to customers (Note i) (Kiati) 3,978,801 4,109,483
Guarantee given to banks in connection with METEELERBE AT ZHMEM
facilities granted to joint ventures and ie T IRIT 2 AR (B 7Eii)
associates (Note ii) 3,929,439 2,452,174

Notes: BiaE -

(i) The Group acted as the guarantor to the mortgage loans granted to (i) AEERBETETAEEYEBR 2 IRBERMIELE
certain purchasers of the Group's properties and agreed to repay the BRA - WRABEMERRENBELMEZEZNEEER
outstanding loan and interest accrual thereon, if the purchasers default AEESEENFEESERREFESFE - ANFIES
the repayment of loan before the issue of the property certificate. The 2 ANATERAN I ISR AN AFELTREK o
directors of the Company consider that the fair value of the financial
guarantee contracts at initial recognition is not significant.

(if) The directors of the Company consider that the fair value of the financial (ii) AATEERAMBHEERNEEZEREE 2 AFEN
guarantee at the initial date of providing this guarantee is insignificant. TREK o
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42.RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a)

Related party transactions

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following

transactions with related parties:

42 BBEANTIKE
@) BEALXZS

BRREM B RREMEAEEEIN -
AEBHEEEALHEATRS ¢

2022 2021
—E-CF —T-—fF
Related party BEAL Nature of transaction REME RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BT T ARETT
An associate of an HEERARZ Asset management service & E &2 % 30,457 18,934
intermediate holding Bt & A A
company
Fellow subsidiaries A ZHB AR Sales of properties for sale  SHE R EYE - 501,905
Property management fee  #)¥EEES ) 100,029 110,009
expenses
Construction service fee TIREREER 37,884 41,412
Operational support BEFRBKA 3,825 3,557
service income
Rental income HE WA 1,558 1,972
Other expenses HibBA 18,583 20,896
Carpark space underwriting #3585 A 9,647 =
expense
Repayment of lease EEHERE 7,496 5,498
liabilities
Interest expenses arising ~ HEBBELZ 5,556 5,629
from lease liabilities FMERY
An associate of SERERATZ Finance costs A 59,386 52,549
ultimate holding i NE] Bank interest income RITFIBUA 84,361 36,577
company Rental income GEEALON - 1,555
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42 . RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)
(b) Related party balances

Details of the Group's balances with related parties are
disclosed in notes 23, 25, 27, 28 and 29.

As at 31 December 2022, bank balances of approximately
RMB4,861,681,000 (2021: RMB4,757,002,000) were
deposited at CMB, an associate of the ultimate holding
company.

As at 31 December 2022, right of use assets and
lease liabilities of approximately RMB110,114,000
and RMB121,757,000 (2021: RMB116,259,000 and
RMB123,697,000) was arisen from the lease agreement
with a fellow subsidiary of the Group.

(c) As at 31 December 2022, bank and other borrowings of
approximately RMB3,049,050,000 (2021: RMB2,101,710,000)
were guaranteed by China Merchants Shekou.

(d) Compensation of key management personnel

42 F3E

(b)

EATIREE)

BB A LTER

AN B R AL Z AR IB R BRI E
232527~ 28829

R-ZTBE-_—F+-RA=+—8 - R17&%
4 NR4,861,681,0007T (= F = —4 -
AR #4,757,002,0007C ) 17 BUA B R R 17
(BREIER AR 2B ERTR]) °

RZTE_—_F+_A=+—H HARK
110,114,0007T & A R % 121,757,000 (=
T A\R#116,259,0007T & A R ¥
123,697,000 MFEREEERBEAE
TELXHEAEE MR RXWERQ RN

B -

RZE-_—_F+-_A=+—8 AR
#3,049,050,000C(— 2= —4 : AR
2,101,710,0007T ) Ky $R17 K B A & B Th A
TR IE O AR o

(d) TEEBABZHE

2022 2021
— = T
RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARETT

Short-term employee benefits S H R B g F| 13,727 14,145
Post-employment benefits ERIEF 540 456
14,267 14,601
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42. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

(e) Transactions with other government-related entities

in the PRC

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies
under CMG which is controlled by the PRC government.
Thus, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group is ultimately controlled by the PRC government.
In addition, the Group operates in an economic
environment currently pre-denominated by entities
controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced
by the PRC government (“PRC government-related
entities”). Apart from the transactions with the related
parties as set out in (a) and (b) above, the Group also
conducts businesses with other PRC government-
related entities in the ordinary course of business. The
Group's bank deposits and bank and other borrowings
are entered into with certain banks which are PRC
government-related entities in its ordinary course of
business. In addition, the Group entered into various
transactions, including purchases of land use rights,
construction of properties and other operating expenses
with other PRC government-related entities in the
ordinary course of business. In view of the nature of
those transactions, the directors of the Company are
of the opinion that separate disclosures would not be
meaningful.

Management services

The Group's activities were planned, directed and
controlled by the management of China Merchants
Shekou, which did not charge any fee for services
rendered during both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REWB®RRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

43.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF A3. RN BB AR Z5E1E

THE COMPANY

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 RZBE-_—_FR-_T-_—F+=-_A=+—8"
December 2022 and 2021 are as follows: AR EZMBARZFFELT
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective

incorporation/

paid share capital/

ownership interest

Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
iRt BERTRESRE ERRMEERAAE
WEARARE B 3t 3 EES Rl TEXK
2022 2021
k- e -3 2%
% %
Directly owned
ERER
Champion Apex Limited Hong Kong HKD10,000 100 100 Investment holding
EEERAR 0 710,000 REAZR
Cosmos Boom Investment Limited ~ The BVI Us$100 100 100 Investment holding
AEREBRAF EBEREE  100ET REER
Harvest Allied Investments Limited  Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 100 Investment holding
ERREBRAR 90 7#%#10,0007T REAZR
Indirectly owned
BEER
China Merchants Land (Shenzhen)* The PRC RMB1,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
(Note i)
RARER(RINBRAR (Hati) TE AR #1,000,0007C RERR
China West Premier Housing The PRC US$533,960,015 50 50  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
(Notes i and iv)
EERAENFAEARAR(Mtikiv) T E 533,960,015% 7 VB
China Merchants Land Asset Hong Kong HK$11,500,000 100 100 Real Estate Investment
Management Co., Ltd. Trust management
REREREEBRAF BB 75%11,500,0007T FHEREETER
Cheuk Tat Development Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Property investment
(Note i)
SEERBRARN ) BB BT MERE
R 5% BERBEMARAR 273
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43 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

A3. R NEIMB AR ZFEE &)

Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
i BERTRESRE ERRMEERAEE
WEARARE Jovkick AR A G Endedtl] TEXK
2022 2021
—E-C-F —T_—F
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEREE(E)
Chongaing China Merchants The PRC RMB20,000,000 100 100 Property development
Yi Yun Property Co., Ltd.*
(Note iii)
EERARERMERRAR (M Zii) T & AR #20,000,00070 NERER
Chongging Merchants Yi Cheng The PRC RMB759,000,000 100 100 Property development
Property Development Co.,
Ltd.* (Note iii)
EERAGBEHEREERAR  TE AR#759,000,0007C VES
(Hiitiii)
Chongging Yizhi Business The PRC US$200,000 50 50  Property development
Management Co., Ltd.*
(Notes i and iv)
ERRERXERARAR(MLiRiv) P E 200,000 7 VES
Coming Wealth Limited (Note i) Hong Kong HKD2 100 100 Property investment

EREZERDA(A L) BB BT
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43 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of
incorporation/

Issued and fully
paid share capital/

A3. R NBIMB R B Z5F1E #)

Proportion effective
ownership interest

Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
ML BRARBHRE ERRFEERAEE
WEARAR B L 3t B TR A T g L i FEEH
2022 2021
otk - —ZCF
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
MEREE(E)
Chongqing Merchants Jinshan The PRC RMB10,000,000 40 40 Property development
Yi Ku Business Management Co.,
Ltd.* (Note ii and iv)
EEMBESILEEREERERAR HE AR 10,000,0007¢ NEER
(Kratiikiv)
Chongging Merchants Yi Gang The PRC RMB1,050,000,000 100 100 Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd.*
(Note iii)
EERBAKERHEREERAR BB AR 1,050,000,0007 NEER
(Hiatiii)
Converge Holdings Limited The BVI Us$10 100 100 Investment holding
ERZRAR AR RERUHE  10%T REER
Cosmo City Limited (Note iv) Hong Kong HK$4,640,010,000 50 50 Investment holding
BUEARAR (K2 B 7 %:4,640,010,00070 REER
Cyber Light Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$100 51 51 Investment holding
KBRREBRAA 0 1007 REER
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43.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF A3 AR RFIMB AR Z2FH R @)
THE COMPANY (continued)
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
MR BERTREHARE ARRFEERAERE
WEAREH R L B R G Ededtl] TEEK
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEEE(£)
Foshan Yi Yun Property DevelopmentThe PRC RMB3,640,000,000 50 50  Property development
Co., Ltd.* (“Foshan Yi Yun")
(Notes iii and iv)
EEERERRAR ([FLEE]) P E AEH3,640,000,0007 MEER
(Ktaiii%iv)
Foshan Merchants Property The PRC RMB948,030,000 100 100 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note iii)
EILBEERERRAR (Hati)  RE AR 948,030,000 MEER
Foshan Kai Da Cheng Investment ~ The PRC RMB507,100,000 N/A 51 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
(Note iii) (Note 34)
BT ERREERERAR HE AER#507,100,0007T TER MEER
(Hifatiii) (Hizt34)
Foshan Yi Yun Zhen Yuan Property  The PRC RMB10,000,000 55 55  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note iii)
BLUEKERERERRA R &l AE#10,000,0007C NFEER
(Hiatiii)
Foshan Yi Yun Shang Yuan Property The PRC RMB10,500,000 50 50  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
(Notes iii and iv)
BLKELREEERAA HE AER#10,500,0007C MEER

(Biaiii Riv)
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43.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF A3 A AFIMB AR 2B ®)
THE COMPANY (continued)
Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/ paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
ML BRARBHERE ARRFEERAERE
WEAR R B L 3t B R A Tz Lk fil TEER
2022 2021
—B-—fF —E-—F
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEER(£)
Foshan Merchants Luhu Property ~ The PRC RMB948,030,000 90 90  Property development
Development Co., Ltd.*
(Notes iii and iv)
HILAEEAEEERAR HE AE#948,030,0007 NEER
(Hiztii%iv)
Foshan Merchants Hanlin Property  The PRC RMB 192,000,000 100 100  Property development
Development Co., Limited*
(Note iii)
BILRERREERR D R (Hizti) & AR #192,000,0007 NEER
Foshan Merchants Zhonghuan The PRC RMB1,614,000,000 50 50  Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd.*
(Notes iii and iv)
BILEETREHEERAR M AE#1,614,000,0007 MEER
(Krsiii%iv)
Foshan Merchants Guolin The PRC RMB50,000,000 60 60  Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd.*
(Note iii)
BILREREEERR D A (M) & AR #50,000,0007 NEER
Foshan Merchants Brilliant The PRC RMB2,016,000,000 50 50  Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd.*
(Notes iii and iv)
BILRBEERHEERAA FE AR #2,016,000,0007T VES

(Biatiii Riv)
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43 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of

A3. R NEIMB AR ZFEE &)

incorporation/

Issued and fully
paid share capital/

Proportion effective

ownership interest

Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
MR BERTRESRE AREFEERAEE
WEARARE B L i B EUES i Ededtl] TEXK
2022 2021
—E-CF —T=-F
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEREE(£)
Foshan Yi Yuan Guan Yuan Co., Ltd.* The PRC RMB100,000,000 50 50  Property development
(Notes iii and iv)
ELKEER R ETR AR HE AE#100,000,0007 MEER
(KraiiiRiv)
Guangzhou Junyao (Notes iii) The PRC RMB650,000,000 50.1 50.1  Property development
BEMNEREHEBRARD(Mai)  +E AR #650,000,0007C B
Guangzhou Yi Yun Property The PRC RMB 100,000,000 51 51 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note iii)
BMNKEFMEBRARMti)  TE AR #100,000,0007T VB
Happy City Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100 100 Investment holding
SERERRAF BE BH1007T REER
Harpen Company Limited (Note iv) Hong Kong HK$10,000 50 50  Investment holding
EBEEHERRBRARA(MZ)  FA 78%10,0007 AR
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43 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of Issued and fully
incorporation/ paid share capital/

A3. R NBIMB R B Z5F1E #)

Proportion effective

ownership interest

Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
FMARL BERTRESRE FRRFRERAERE
WEAR AR BB AR A sl TEXK
2022 2021
k- et -3 2%
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEREE(£)
Merchants Nanjing Real Estate Co., The PRC RMB148,380,817 51 51 Property development
Ltd.* (“Merchants Nanjing”)
(Note ii)
AERMEFR)ERAA FE AR#148,380,8177C NERER
(TRmE =) (i)
Merchants Property Development ~ The PRC RMB200,000,000 100 100 Property development
(Guangzhou) Limited* (Note ii)
ENBEEHEERAR(MZi)  FE AR #200,000,0007 NEER
Nanjing Shengtong Property The PRC RMB1,500,000,000 51 51 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note ii)
AREARMERRBRAR (HEi) TE AR #1,500,000,0007 B
Nanjing Chuangma (Note iii) The PRC RMB 100,000,000 60 60  Property development
ARAISRERRERAR (Mti) TE AR #100,000,0007C NERER
Nanjing Zhaochuang Technology ~ The PRC RMB53,000,000 60 60  Property development
Innovation Service Co., Ltd.
(Note iii)
BRI A RE AR AR HE AR #53,000,0007 MEER
(Hiétiii)
Nanjing DJZ Trading* The PRC RMB891,000,000 51 31 Property development
(Notes iii and iv)
AR T REEBER AR (HzFikiv) & AR #891,000,0007 NEER
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43 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of Issued and fully
incorporation/ paid share capital/

Proportion effective

ownership interest

A3. R NEIMB AR ZFEE &)

Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
MR BERTREHARE ARRFEERAERE
WEAREH R L B R G Ededtl] FEXH
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEEE(£)
Nanjing Zhaorong Property The PRC RMB1,200,000,000 51 51 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note iii)
HRBREHERERRAR I AK#1,200,000,0007T NEER
(H&tiii)
Nanjing Merchants Qisheng Property The PRC US$205,000,000 51 51 Property development
Development Limited* (Note i)
AR REREESEERAR il 205,000,000 7T MERE
(Hrzti)
Nanjing Zhao Ping Li Sheng The PRC RMB100,000,000 51 51 Investment holding
Investment Limited* (Note iii)
AR RFNERERRARMFi) TE AR 100,000,007 BERR
Nanjing Merchants Zhaosheng The PRC RMB400,000,000 51 51 Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd.*
(Note iii)
AR REREESERRAR FE AR #400,000,0007T B
(Hiitiii)
Pride Oasis Limited The BVI US$599,095,420 50 50 Investment holding
(“Pride Oasis") (Note iv)
ARARDA(RR]) (Hativ) EBBUHES  599,095420% 7T RERR
Poly Field International Hong Kong RMB500,500,400 60 60 Investment holding
Investments Limited
EEERRERRAH BB AR 500,500,400 REER
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43 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

A3. R NBIMB R B Z5F1E #)

Place of Issued and fully Proportion effective
incorporation/  paid share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
MR BRTRESRE ARRFEERAERE
WEAR R B L 3t B MR TE R L fl TEER
2022 2021
ot Sk - —T=-F%
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEEE(Z)
Runray Holdings Limited The BVI US$100 100 100 Investment holding
FRERBR AR EBEREE  100ET REER
Sino Action Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$500 100 100 Investment holding
EHREBRAA BE B H5007T REZR
Tian Jiao (Guangzhou) Property The PRC RMB500,000,000 60 60  Property development
Development Co., Limited*
(Note i)
R (BM)EHERZEARAR H AERH500,000,0007T MEER
(Hieti)
Xi"an Mao On Property DevelopmentThe PRC US$172,000,000 100 100 Property development
Company Limited* (Note i)
BRXZEHERRAR (M) H 172,000,000% 7 NEER
Zhenjiang Torch Zhidi Property The PRC US$29,900,000 100 100 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note i)
BTNEBNRRARDANE) + 29,900,000% 7T MEER
Torch Investment Company Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 100 Investment holding
NERBEFRAR BB 751%10,0007T REER
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43 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of Issued and fully

incorporation/ paid share capital/

Proportion effective

ownership interest

A3. R NEIMB AR ZFEE &)

Name of subsidiaries establishment  registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
MR BERTRESRE ARRFEERAERE
WE AR B L4 B R Rl FEXH
2022 2021
—E--F T
% %
Indirectly owned (continued)
BEEE(£)
Xi'an Zhao Ping Property The PRC RMB1,860,800,000 51 51 Property development
Development Co., Ltd.* (Note iii)
BERFEREBRARDMti)  TE AR¥1,860,800,0007 NREE
Xi'an China Merchants Jiashi The PRC RMB980,392,157 51 51 Property development
Property Development Co., Ltd.*
(Note iii)
AR EBREREHERRAR hE AER#980,392,1577C NEER
(Hiatiii)
Chongaing Zhaoke Zhiye Co., Ltd.* The PRC RMB10,000,000 51 51 Property development
(Note iii)
EERMERARDA(H i) FE AR#10,000,0007 VS
Shanghai Bangxin Enterprise The PRC US$100,000 51 51 Property management
Management Consulting Co., Ltd.*
(Note iii)
EERMEXERAAERAR ] 100,000 7 NEER
(Hiatiii)
Guangzhou Baosu (Note iv) The PRC RMB4,000,000 50 50  Property management
BEMRE(Wtiv) HhE AE#4,000,0007 NEER
Guangzhou Yueshang (Note iv) The PRC RMB1,000,000 50 50  Property management
BMNGE(Hativ) FE AR#1,000,0007C MEER
Nanjing Jinsheng (Note iv) The PRC RMB720,000,000 40 40 Property management
RS (Htiv) FE AR¥720,000,0007C NEER
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43.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

* The English name is for identification only. The official name of the entity
is in Chinese.

Note i: The entity is a wholly-foreign owned enterprise.
Note ii: ~ The entity is a sino-foreign joint venture.
Note iii: ~ The entity is a wholly-domestic owned enterprise.

Note iv:  The entity is considered to be a subsidiary of the Company despite
the Company holds directly and indirectly not more than half of the
equity interest therein as the Company has the power to cast the
majority of votes at meetings of the board of directors of this entity,
which has power to affect the returns of this entity.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority of
these subsidiaries operate in the PRC. The principal activities
of these subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

A3. R NBIMB R B Z5F1E #)

* RN BREHRER - BRIEABERFX

Hrati : ERRINEBERE -
Hatii : ERRTIGERE -
Hiatiii 0 BERRENERE -

Hitiv:  ZEBEREAARAZHBAR  #ALAFTE
ERREREARERTZRN —+RE  EARQH
RZEBZEFRRIRARSHERRE - w1
ZERZOBEXES -

RBERK - ARABEMEAEEN S TE
ERNMBAR - Z5WBRARARIHBORHEH
28 - REMBATMEREZBHMANT

Principal activities Principal place of business Number of subsidiaries
EREK FTEEEME MEXRHE
2022 2021
=== —E-—F
Property development The PRC 32 30
MEER H
Property management The PRC 1 1
MEERE h
Hong Kong 3 3
BB
Cruise The PRC 1 1
#eA R
Investment holding Hong Kong 2 2
BB BB
The BVI = 2
HRBRAEE
39 39

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding
as at the end of the year or at any time during the year which is
held by the Group.

RERKFREMER - SENBRARFAE
AR ARERFA 2 RITEERHES
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44.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED AL EEEREEREZT2AREBIES
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT BB A RFS

HAVE MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned TREHNEEEANFIERER 2 AEEHIIEEE
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling (i PNEIEES
interests:

Place of

incorporation/
establishment

and principal Voting rights held by  Profit (loss) allocated to Accumulated
Name of entity place of business  non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
EMAL R B R BT FERER 2RA
BEAH TEEXNH FERESFTGREE (B#8) Rt ERER
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
“E--f ~"T--F ZB--F -T-—% ZB--F ~—T-—F
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT AR®TR AREKTT
Guangzhou Baosu The PRC 50% 50% 3,045 (1,463) 2,001,582 1,998,537
B RIE H
Pride Oasis The BVI 50% 50% 151,485 543,193 5,459,761 5,604,169
PN RBRAHS
Merchants Nanjing The PRC 49% 49% 963,331 131,510 7,056,985 7,843,286
REER I
Individually immaterial subsidiaries 282,506 349,057 8,345,122 8,666,143
with non-controlling interests
BERFERER 2 ERNTBEX
AR
1,400,367 1,022,297 22,863,450 24,112,135
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44 DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT

HAVE MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS (continued)

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of
each of the Group's entities that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised consolidated

financial information below represents amounts before intra-

group eliminations.

AAFERERFERER ZAEBHE
EMBARFB @

REREEEAFERERE AREER 24K
EUBERBMBHEN T - TX
BRIEREANIE HAI 2 S8

AR

Notes: Hifat
2022 2021
—E-—F —T-—fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBF T ARBFT
Guangzhou Baosu B R
Non-current assets IERBEE 2,066 2,138
Current assets TENEE 10,575,845 6,542,647
Current liabilities mEBE 5,969,983 1,705,382
Non-current liabilities SERBARE 604,764 842,329
Equity attributable to owners of the Company NRAER AR 2,001,582 1,998,537
Non-controlling interests JEEARAE 25 2,001,582 1,998,537
Revenue & = -
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive income (expense) ARQREE AEMSEF (EE) &
attributable to owners of the Company 2EBA(FRX) 4858 3,045 (1,463)
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive income (expense) FEHEE AR A 25 A B (518 ) &
attributable to non-controlling interests 2EBA(FRX) 4858 3,045 (1,463)
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive income (expense) RERDN(ER) R2mEB A (FxX) @58
for the year 6,090 (2,926)
Net cash inflow from operating activities R 7 B RAEE 3,761,439 1,151,617
Net cash (outflow) inflow from financing activities BMEEXE RS ORE)RAFERE (241,800) 265,936
Net cash inflow HERAEE 3,519,639 1,417,553
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44 DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT
HAVE MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

44. %ﬁikélﬂ*ﬂﬁff§¥27—1§%3|5%
EMBARFB®

Mz ()

2022 2021
—EB-C—F T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T AREFT
Pride Oasis RE
Non-current assets IERBEE 1,204,246 1,295,744
Current assets MEEE 16,518,572 16,707,000
Current liabilities REBAE 5,572,560 5,847,798
Non-current liabilities FERBARG 1,230,736 946,608
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RABEE AR 5,459,761 5,604,169
Non-controlling interests FEIERR RS 5,459,761 5,604,169
Revenue Wz 2,252,748 5,927,236
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to AREHE AELETRE2EBALBTE
owners of the Company 151,485 543,193
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to SEE AR 2 P s A R 2 AR AR 58
non-controlling interests 151,485 543,193
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year REE R R 2EBALLTE 302,970 1,086,386
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B IEERERSAR S 295,893 190,565
Net cash inflow from operating activities R 7 RS RARER 870,768 1,383,613
Net cash inflow from investing activities BEEBZBERNFE 284,651 1,770,670
Net cash outflow from financing activities AR RS R ®E (508,637) (3,158,099)
Net cash inflow (outflow) BER/ACTL ) EHE 646,782 (3.816)
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44 DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP THAT
HAVE MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

AAFERERFERER ZAEBHE
EMBARFB @

Htet - (%)

2022 2021
—EB-CfF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AR¥EFIT
Merchants Nanjing BEER
Non-current assets IERBBE 8,561,236 7,620,456
Current assets TRENVEE 25,907,391 36,814,639
Current liabilities mEBE 15,396,918 24,879,618
Non-current liabilities FERBARG 6,181,642 6,219,957
Equity attributable to owners of the Company NRAER AR 5,833,082 5,492,234
Non-controlling interests e 25 7,056,985 7,843,286
Revenue W sk 12,650,883 2,159,820
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to AREHE AELZEFRE2EBABE
owners of the Company 850,446 95,241
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to SRR S A R A R 2 E IR AR
non-controlling interests 963,331 131,510
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year RELE R R 2 EWRALERE 1,813,777 226,751
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B IR EER R 302,000 -
Net cash inflow from operating activities LR S RANFE 2,614,048 2,981,811
Net cash inflow from investing activities BEEBZBERNFE 1,828,746 1,647,563
Net cash outflow from financing activities MEEBKZREREER (4,294,631) (3,994,041)
Net cash inflow RER/NERE 148,163 635,333
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45.MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group entered
into several new lease agreements for the use of office
ranged from 2 to 5 years (2021: 1 to 20 years). On the lease
commencement, the Group recognised RMB92,211,000 (2021:
RMB95,080,000) of right-of-use assets and RMB92,211,000
(2021: RMB95,080,000) of lease liabilities.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, right-of-use assets
amounted to RMB26,339,000 was derecognised due to early
termination of lease during the year. Besides, lease liabilities
of RMB837,000 and RMB30,305,000 were disposed from the
disposal of a subsidiary (details as disclosed in note 34) and
early termination of lease during the year. Accordingly, there
was no contractual cash outflow to the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, right-of-use assets
amounted to RMB142,010,000 was transferred to investment
properties.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, dividend declared
from joint ventures and capital reduction of joint ventures
amounted to RMB100,760,000 and RMB 108,540,000 have been
settled through amounts due to joint ventures. Also, capital
injection in associates of RMB416,000,000 have settled through
amount due to associates. Besides, due to the additional
equity interest acquired, the interest in associates amounted
to RMB584,434,000 and the amounts due from associates
amounted to RMB537,604,668 have been transferred to
interest in joint ventures and the amounts due from joint
ventures respectively (details as disclosed in note 31).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, dividend declared
from associates amounted to RMB323,000,000 had been
settled through amounts due to associates. Also, capital
injection in associates and joint ventures of RMB1,520,000 and
RMB114,780,000 had been settled through amount due to
associates and joint ventures respectively. Besides, amounts
due from associates and joint ventures of RMB1,406,573,000
and RMB977,770,000 had been capitalised as registered
capital in the associates and joint ventures respectively.
Accordingly, there was no contractual cash outflow to the
Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

45.MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, bank and other
borrowings of RMB1,790,933,000 and lease liabilities of
RMB283,000 were arose from the acquisition of subsidiaries
during the year (details as disclosed in notes 32 and 33).
Accordingly, there was no contractual cash inflow to the
Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, dividend
declared to non-controlling interests and capital reduction
of subsidiaries by non-controlling shareholders amounted
to amounted to RMB302,000,000 and RMB1,554,000,000
have been settled through amount due from non-controlling
interests respectively. Accordingly, there was no contractual
cash outflow to the Group. Besides, amount due to non-
controlling interests amounted to RMB90,961,000 had been
capitalised as the registered share capital in the Group's non-
wholly owned subsidiaries. Accordingly, the capital injection
resulted in no contractual cash inflow to the Group. Also,
amount due to non-controlling interests of RMB 173,092,000
have been transferred to loans from non-controlling interests.
Accordingly, there was no contractual cash inflow to the
Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, loans from
non-controlling interests of RMB2,674,515,000 had been
transferred to amount due to non-controlling interests.
Accordingly, there was no contractual cash outflow to the
Group. Besides, loans from non-controlling interests of
RMB68,060,000 had been capitalised as the registered
share capital in the Group’s non-wholly owned subsidiaries.
Accordingly, the capital injection resulted in no contractual
cash inflow to the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, amount due to
intermediate holding companies and fellow subsidiaries
amounted to RMB1,339,443,000 and RMB204,125,000 had
been settled through amounts due from intermediate holding
companies and fellow subsidiaries, respectively. Accordingly,
there was no contractual cash outflow to the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

EHE=

Fo—FF A= —HAILFE

46.INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT 46.EBA QA Bk nEz &R

OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY
2022 2021
—E-8F —E-—4F
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREET T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment e N 27 43
Investments in subsidiaries RETB AR ZIEE 10,017 10,017
Amounts due from subsidiaries NI B R 17,626,560 17,582,949
17,636,604 17,593,009
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables B FRIE RS KR E Y R IE 1,425 14,464
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR BT B A B3 I8 527,137 426
Amount due from intermediate holding company  FE K 22 A% A RIFIE 459,313 =
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries A EES G =NG Ee 584,502 548,937
Bank balances and cash RITEREIRS 314,524 1,722,719
1,886,901 2,286,546
Current liabilities FEBEE
Other payables and accruals H A BRI K et & A 46,412 30,807
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTBT B A R FIE 3,586,068 4,428,601
Amount due to intermediate holding company FE B A B3R - 573,315
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries L ANIEE =G 1,032,912 1,680,299
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 925,000 3,350,000
5,590,392 10,063,022
Net current liabilities REBAEEFEE (3,703,491) (7,776,476)
Total assets less current liabilities EEZAERABERS 13,933,113 9,816,533
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 12,065,380 8,462,550
Net assets EEEE 1,867,733 1,353,983
Capital and reserves EXRR B
Share capital &N 39,132 39,132
Reserves (Note) () 1,467,653 1,314,851
Total equity WERS a5 1,506,785 1,353,983
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-—F_—F1+-A=+—HAULFE

46.INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT 46. BBZA QAR BR AT 2ER 2)
OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (continued)

Note: Reserves

i . s
Share Translation  Contributed Accumulated Total
premium reserve reserve losses reserves
BR4GEE E S s F-ON -1 RitEE REHARE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBFIT AREFT ARBFIT ARBFIT
At 1 January 2021 RZZT=_—%—HA—H 4,554,148 8,076 46,004 (2,194,119) 2,414,109
Loss and total comprehensive & RAEE N 2 S 458
expense for the year - - - (812,614) (812,614)
Dividend declared BEEIRRE (286,644) - - = (286,644)
At 31 December 2021 R=T=_—F+=A=+—8 4,267,504 8,076 46,004 (3,006,733) 1,314,851
Profit and total comprehensive 4 A3 £l & & EIUR A 4858
income for the year = = = 405,292 405,292
Dividend declared EEIREE (252,490) - - = (252,490)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE—_—#+-A=+—H 4,015,014 8,076 46,004 (2,601,441) 1,467,653
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

TFHHBERBE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements for the year ended 31

December 2018, 2019, 2020, 2021 and 2022 as below.

NTHIASERBEARAETRFEEZEEUAREER
BEHRE  HRESEAEHE-_T-N\F  —ZT—-NEF -
ZECTF R FRIFCF+ A=+
BIEFE 2 BB KBS ERE

RESULTS E3 Year ended 31 December
BZE+-A=t—-HLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—EC-CF 2o —F 2T F —E-NE —E-N\F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T ARET T ARETTT ARETT
REVENUE WS 29,871,347 25,921,416 18,956,418 19,453,295 11,955,899
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBATE A 2,980,643 3,530,869 3,605,146 5,752,671 3,796,321
Income tax Fii5%t (1,250,617) (1,948,003) (2,091,701) (3,052,935) (1,590,809)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERA 1,730,026 1,582,866 1,513,445 2,699,736 2,205,512
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE As at 31 December
W+=BA=t+-—H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—EBCCF —T-—fF b Sl 25 —FNF —T-N\F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETTT ARETT ARETTT ARET T
TOTAL ASSETS EELE 130,868,300 138,727,655 111,025,883 88,421,911 71,270,665
TOTAL LIABILITIES BELE 98,142,035 104,877,058 79,759,049 59,592,344 47,473,637
Net assets BESE 32,726,265 33,850,597 31,266,834 28,829,567 23,797,028
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